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PARISH OF QUEENSFERRY.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. THOMAS DIMMA, A. M., MINISTER.

L—ToroGraPHY AND NaTUurAL HisTORY.

Boundaries.—THis parish, which comprehends the royal burgh,
is bounded on the north by the Frith of Forth, and everywhere
else by the parish of Dalmeny. In the town, but beyond the
royalty, there are 422 inhabitants, and at New-Halls 90, by the
census 1841.

Climate, §c.—In winter the thermometer ranges from 46° to
15° In November 1830 it was 82° at the lowest, and .in the fol-
lowing January at 28°. The barometer is not suhject to more
than the usual variations.

The -Frith opposite the town is about a mile and a half in
breadth. The tide rises 18 feet at the harbour mouth. The water
is shallow on the southern shore; but the depth is greatest on the
Fife side, where in the fair-way between the island Inch Garvie,
and the Battery Point, the bottom has been found with a line of 60
fathoms. At certain seasons, after floods occasioned by melting
snow or falls of rain, the saltness of the water is much diminished
by the volume of fresh water carried down by the Forth and its
tributary streams.

The town is supplied with water collected in an artificial reser-
voir, very liberally formed, at the expense of the Earl of Rosebery,
in the year 1819. This has proved an unspeakable advantage to
the town.  During the great drought of last summer, when the
reservoir was nearly emptied, the burgh laid out upwards of L.100
in heightening the embankment, and thereby greatly increasing
the supply of water. At the original formation of the reservoir,
‘the town expended L. 200.

The houses in the centre of the town are founded on sea sand,
which extends to the foot of the rising ground or brae, at the bot-
tom of which the town is built. In the west and east, a bed of
sandstone appears, which dips to the north with a considerable

LINLITHGOW, A
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angle of depression. In digging the foundation of houses or graves

in the churchyard, sea-shells are found, affording evidence that the

whole site of the town has been reclaimed from the sea.
IL.—CiviL HisTonry.

There is no complete account of the parish deserving of particu-
lar notice, though there is an anonymous publication, bearing date
1726, arising out of some disputes between the magistrates and
the clergyman of the time, which contains various particulars
of interest connected with the erection of the church, provision for
the minister, &c. Some documents also, in the hands of the
representative of the ancient family of Stewart of Craigiehall,
show, in 1689, the state of the water passage, as divided into thir-
ty-two shares, among twelve shareholders. There is likewise a
petition, printed in 1718, and presented to the Convention of Royal
Burghs, setting forth the great distress of the town, on account of
the failure of trade, pressure of taxation, removal of sailors to New-
Halls, and the quartering of soldiers passing to the north, and in
returning from it.

At a very early period, the spot where the town is built was
much frequented, as the most convenient place for crossing the -
narrow strait which separates the county of West Lothian from
Fife. At a remote era, it was denominated Freti T'ransitus, as the
Romans, about the year a. p. 83, penetrated as far as the marshes,
lakes, and forests in the neighbourhood of Lochleven. Various
discoveries made of bones, funeral urns, &c. in the town and im-
mediate neighbourhood, point it out as the scene of fierce strife
between the original inhabitants and its invaders; and as it lay
near the course of the Roman wall, built by Antoninus, . p. 140,
this may well account for the importance this place early acquired.

On the conquest of England by the Normans, . n. 1066, va-
rious fugitives escaped to Scotland, and among these Edgar
Atheling, heir of the Confessor’s race, with his sister, Margaret,
a most beautiful and accomplished maiden. Malcolm IIL., sur-
named Cean Muhr, married this princess in 1067. To the west-
ward of the town a spot favourable for embarkation was called
Port Edgar,* and some rocks, from whence the Queen was accus-
tomed to pass to the opposite shores of Fife, in the low Latin of

* George 1V. embarked at Port Edgar on the 15th August 1822, on his return to
England. He was accompanied from Hopetoun House by General the Earl of Hope-
taun. At the same pier, on the lst October 1828, the remains of the gallant and dise
:imj:bed earl were landed from His Majesty’s Sloop of War, Brisk, from France,

the regrets of the whole nation.
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the time, Passagium Regine, and in the vulgar tongue, the Ferry,
or the Queen’s-Ferry, by which name it was then known. There
was formerly a house on the beach, near some shelving rocks,
called the Binks, which, it is understood, was built for the Queen’s
accommodation while waiting the arrival of her boat from the op-
posite shore, on her way to Dunfermline, the royal residence. So
much attached to this princess were the inhabitants, that her foot-
mark was cut out in the solid rock; and some of the inhabitants
speak of it as being in existence in the recollection of the ancient
inhabitants. .

In a charter of Malcolm IV. the town was called Portus Re-
gine, who granted a free passage to the monks of Scone, ad Por-
tum Regine. Pope Gregory, in 1234, confirmed to the abbot
of Dunfermline, dimidium pussagie sanctz Margarita Regine.
This was also granted to the abbey of Dunfermline, by Robert L,
regranted by Robert IIL, and confirmed by James 1L in 1450.
At the Reformation this right was disposed of by the abbot, in
sixteen shares; but there is evidence on record that he actually
sold eighteen-sixteenths.

Though a port so early as Malcolm 1V., it was not a royal
burgh in 1556, when a tax was levied on royal burghs, but it pro-
cured a charter of erection into a free royal burgh in 1636, Its
erection was much opposed by Linlithgow, which was appeased
by some degrading concessions. It appears to have sent a repre-
sentative to Parliament in 1639. Under the Union it has the
privilege of choosing a representative to Parliament, along with
Stirling, Inverkeithing, Culross, and Dunfermline. ~The town-
council consists of twenty-one, of whom two-thirds were formerly
merchant sailors, and three were deacons of crafts. The number
of persons residing within the royalty, whose rents in property or
tenantry amount to L. 10, are 20; and in the extended royalty
there are 10 persons resident rated at the same amount.

The parish was an erection from Dalmeny, in the year 1636,
ratified by Act of Parliament 1641, at which time, the place
seems to have acquired considerable importance, in conse-
quence of its commercial intercourse with Holland. At this
time it possessed nearly twenty great ships, with several coast-
ing vessels of a smaller size. A church was built in 1633,
oo the ruins of a very ancient chapel. Some tombstones
bear the date of 1685, and one, apparently of a much earlier pe-
riod. The magistrates and town-council are patrons of the church,
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The length of the town does not extend to one quarter of a mile,
and its breadth to a few hundred yards. It forms one street,
bounded by one row of houses on: the north, and on the south
several closes, as they are called, extend backwards. The shore
is flat and sandy, except on the east and west, where ledges of
rocks extend a considerable way into the sea. On the western
ridge the harbour is formed. The rude erection of an early time
has been replaced by a very substantial pier and harbour, built
under the directions of Mr Stevenson, civil engineer.

Parochial Registers.— The parochial registers extend from 1635
to the present time. The first entry in the record of baptisms is
1635, and in that of marriages, 1635. They are not voluminous,
but have been regularly kept, though the register of baptisms ap-
pears, with a few exceptions, since the commencement of the seces-
sion, to contain only the names of those connected with the Esta-
blished' Church,*®

* Extracts from the Session Records of Queensferry, by Elias Johnston, schoolmaster.
—*¢ At Queinsferrie, August 13, 1635.— The qlk dey Mr David Lindsay, seconnd bis-
chope of Edinburt, came yairfra to the above namit toun of Queinsferrie, for the
consecration of yr new erectit church yr, and for admitting of Mr Robert Gibbisone,
minister yrto, being the first man yt was presentit to yt place. And after the said
Mr David his entrie in the toun, he went by the (sleip) way towardis the doore of
the kirk, qlk was then lockit, qre mett him, Rot’ Daulling and Rot Hill than

resent baillies, accompaniet wt the haill honnest men of the toun. The said Mr
g)nvid demanding the baillies and the rest of the companie yair, to what end they
had build that hous, wha replyit onlie to the glorie of God, and for his worshipe, and
in tockin yrof they did render him. This being dune, and doore maid oppine, the
said bischope did ascend the pulpit, and yairafter prayer conceivit and salme sung,
he maid chois of his text furtb of . Qik endit to the con.
secration of the church, and nixt to the admissione of the said Mr Robert. Sermon
being endit, two childrene war baptizit, ye on to Galbin Sympsone, namit Edward,
and uthr to Andro Hutton, namit George. After this the said bischope dischendit
to ane seat before the pulpit, qr he did demand furth of the bookis of ord (ination)
such and such questionis as concernit the admissioun of the said Mr Rot., to
divyne calling and replyis war maid be the said Mr Rot yrto. Qlk finischit
resavit impositian of hands, and last of all the sacrament of the Lord’s supper was
celebrat. Qlk endit and a salme sung, the companie, than yr convened for the for-
said wark, war dismist.”

¢ AtQueinsferrie, August 23,1635.—The quhilk day e5veinit Mr Robeit Gibbisone,
minister at South Queinsferrie, accompaniet with the wholl honnest men of the said
burij, and than did nominat and choizit the personis following to be deaconis and
eldars wthn the said paroch, viz. &c. &c. Upon the same day it was sppoyntit be uni-
forme cOsent of the sessione that the chief place wthin the church should be applyit
for the baillies and counsillors. Also it was appoyntit that thair should be no seats
nor dasks within the kirk, bot all pewis.”

“ September 6, 1635.—The qlk day sessione being mett, it was ordaint that James
Dalling, eldar, should keip the kirk box, and Robert Dalling, wth David Wilsone,
should keip the keyis for the first qrter. Upon the same day it was ordainit that
whatsoever personis war buikit for the performance of matrimonie, should

wth sufficient cafiners that they should performe and accomplishe marriag wth-
in fourtie dayes, under the paine of fourty poundis. Upon the same day it was or-
danit that qubasoever should defyle the marriag bed before marriag should pay six
poundis Scottish moey, and that to be casignit befoir thair marriag. It was also or-
dainjt that gtsomever personis should buik thamselfis to perform the band of matri-
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Eminent Men.—1t is not known that any individuals of much.
note have been connected with this parish. Mr Kid, who was mi-.
nister from 1710 to 1743, was much distinguished as an eminent.
divine, and one of the twelve brethren who, in 1721, united in a
representation Lo the Assembly respecting the act passed in con-
demnation of the Marrow of Modern Divinity. The celebrity of.
this individual at the time of the communion utiracted crowds from
the most distant parts of the country. By the session record it
appears that 60G communicants were sometimes assembled, and

monie, sall pay to the reidar threttein shillingis four penneis. [t was aleo ordanit
that thes personis sall give to the beddell the day of thair marriag 4s. It was also
ordanit that the personis qusomevar that ar to be merriet sall casigne the sowme
of 20 mék Scottis m3y in cace that thsir exceid ten shillings for the man, and
aucht for the woman, and if so be the act be transgrest the mdey sall cum to or kirk-’
box. [t was also ordanit that at baptisme the father of the chyld sall give to the rei-
dar aucht shillings and to the beddell four shillings. It was also ordanit
qusumever persone sall depart this lyf above ten yeires sall pay to the
beddell ten shillings, and under ten yeires six shillings aucht penneis, and that
for the making of the graves. It was also ordanit that everi forricator, es.
pecially the man, sall pay to our box for his trespas the sowm of six pounds, and
the woman four poiids, and the relaps ever to be redowblit totics guotics. It was
also ordanit that qtsomever personis sall break the Subbath day by taking other great
or small boot to pass this ferrie, from the rysing of the sune to the twelf hour of the
day, thes personis sall be fynit for the first: fault in twelf shillings Scotts the man,
and if they sall fall in the sam fault againe, they sall stand at our kirk-door in sack-
cloth, and mak ane c3fessione of thair fault before the cogregane. 1t was also or-
duait that if the master of the bootis sall give thair cdsent to the botsman, they sall
pay fyve pounds totics gquoties. It was also ordanit that qtsomever browstar sall
sell drink upon the Sabbath day in tym of divyne service, sall be fynit in fourtie shil.
lings. It was also ordanit qtsumever browster salbe found earing b from twelf
hour upon sall be fynit in fourtie shillings Scottis. It was also ordanit
that qtsumever personis salbe found out of our kirk in tyme of divyne service, sall
be fynit in aucht shillingis. It was also ordanit that qt sumever persone servant that
salbe found bearing bur-n upon the Sabbath day within the tymes limitit, if they sall
nott he able to pay fourtie shillings, yitt sall mak satisfactione at the kirk-door, ac-
cording to the sessionis injunctione.”

¢ September 18, 1635.—The glk day sessione being mett, Bessie Howisone being
callit and compeirit, acknowledgit hirself to be wth chyld to David Crichtone, it was
ordanit that both pties should be warnit heir against this day aucht. dayis. Upon
the sam day it was ordanit that Mr James Levingstone should be reidar in this our
kirk, so that he and our session can aggrie under sufficient that he sall sub-
stit (ute) in his place ane copleit deputy heir to serve upon the Sabbath day befoir
noone.” .

(Date omitted,) probably 20th September 1635.—*¢ The glk day sessione being mett,
callit and compeirit Bessie Howisone, cOfessit she was wth chyld to David Crichtone
—the said David callit and cpeirit, cofessit kopelane wth the said Bessie. Thairfoir,
it was ordanit that the man sould pay six poundis, and the woman four poundis, and
to enter to the publick place of repentance, and to that effect Thomas Barron is be-
come caune for the man, and William Thompsone for the woman.”

* ¢*November 8, 1635 —The glk day cdvenit, Mr Robert Gibbisone, minister at South
Queinsferrie, being accompaniet wth the deaconis, eldars, and seesionaris than pre-
sent,—after due deliberatne and advyse, all of them than present, out of ane motive
and free will, wthout any céstranit or cdpulsione, did cédiscend all the schipis boxes
should be joynit in wth thair kirk-box, to remaine thair for intertaining thair poore
affaires belonging to the kirk, and uther pious usss; and this to be dune in all tyme
eming, Protesting that out of gud coscience thay war movit thairto, and in toking
thairof, and for gud exmple, James Hill, skippar, gave in 19 rex dollers and 12, and
Arch Logy, skippar, gave in 5 rex dollers to the kirk-box.”
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that twenty-two pints of claret and eighteen great loaves were

Antiquities— The burgh has no ancient buildings ; but in the
west end of the town the Carmelite church, dedicated to the Vir-
gin, is deserving of notice. It was built and endowed by the very
ancient family of Dundas of Dundas, about the year 1330. Its
extent and revenues are now unknown. It continues to this time
the burial-place of the family, whose remains are deposited in a
vault under the place where stood the high altar, and now in a new
tomb, formed by the preseut proprietor. The town suffered from
time to time, from the hostile commotions that prevailed in the
country. It was injured by the cannon of some ships in the time
of the Commonwealtb, as there are balls in the possession of some
families, which tradition mentions as having been picked up after
the cannonade had ceased. In the year 1745 the town was threat-
ened to be plundered by the Highlanders ou their march to Ed-
inburgh, but the Happy Janet, a ship of war lying off the town,
prevented their designs being carried into effect.

There are some good bouses in the town, on what is called
the Vaults. The church is a plain building, but in the year 1821
was fitted up with very great neatness and taste, at the expense of
upwards of L.500. It has an excellent bell, which the shipmasters
brought from Holland, at the erection of the church. It has the
following inscription : ¢ Soli Deo gloria, Michael Burgerhuys me-
keit, David Jonking, maerchant of Edinbruge, gifted this bell to
the kirk of the Queensferrie.  Cursed be they that takes it frae
there. Anno domino 1635.” It has a spire and two bells, and a
council-room, in which the magistrates and council meet for the
despatch of business.

III.—PoruraTION
The population, as given in to Dr Webster, was 400
i . 505

in 1791, .
1801, — 454
1821, . . 700
1831, . . 684
1841, . . 721
1843, . . 662

In 1831], there were 813 males, and 871 females, and in 1841,
339 males, and 382 females, in 169 families.
IV.—INpusTRY. .

No attempt hitherto made to supply the town and neighbour-
hood with white fish has proved successful. In the summer months
they are brought here in boats from the east coast of Fife, by se-
veral persons, who carry on a profitable trade in this article. In
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winter, it is very mortifying to see the London fishing smacks fit-
ted with wells, carrying off numerous cargoes of cod to the south-
ern markets, while our dwn tishermen only occasionally, while en-
gaged in the herring-fishery, employ a line or two for that pur-
pose with very indifferent success. To the westward of the town
a salmon-fishery has been established, which has been carried on
very-successfully by its present tenant, Mr M‘Queen. Stake-nets
are employed, in which, particularly in the months of July and
August, great numbers of salmon, grilses, and sea trout are caught.
They are regularly sent to the Edinburgh market after supplying
the demand in the neighbourhood.

The herring-fishery is the principal employment of the inhabit-
ants during the winter months. Masons, quarriers, with the re-
gular fishermen, are occupied from the end of November to the
beginning of March in this very useful and profitable branch of
industry. It commenced in the year 1792, opposite to the town,
in St Margaret’s Hope, Inverkeithing Bay, &c. Since that time
it has been carried on with various degrees of success. The early
period of the fishery was more successful than in -recent years.
During the war, the prices were high, and several curers embarked
in the trade, and so many as 600 barrels were cured at this
port. In 1831, which was a very abundant fishery, perhaps
1500 barrels were cured ; but the curers, unable to cope with the
carters, who came from all quarters of the country to purchase the
berrings, could take advantage of those days only when the supply
exceeded the demand. Forty or fifty carts were frequently in at-
tendance, carrying away from 6000 to 12000 each. The price va-
ried from 6d. to 1s. 6d. per 100. The curers seldom purchased
at a higher price than 7s. the cran or barrel. There are twelve
boats belonging to the town, carrying each four or five men, and fur-
nished generally with twelve nets, fifty yards long and thirteen yards
deep. But the boats employed in the fishery from other places,
Fisherrow, Prestonpans, Cellardykes, Buckhaven, &c. may amount
to about 50 or 100; the greater part of these discharge their cargoes
at this port. This occasions a considerable bustle in the town,
and is a principal source of revenue, each boat paying 4d. and every
cart 6d. When the curing goes forward briskly, about twelve women
are employed in preparing the herring for the barrels, which pay a
duty, when cured on the pier, of 4d., and in the port, 2d. Those
who are expert in the business can easily earn 2s. or 3s. per day.
‘Though this trade s most beneficial to the country at large, it is
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not favourablé to the miorality of the town. The use of ardent
spirits is greatly increased, and the influx of carters, not generally
of the most exemplary charaeter, casts an influence round the her-
ring season which is most injurious to sound morals.  Since the
year 1831, the fishery of herrings has been very irregular. Occa~
sionally, some good seasons have occurred ; but, in general, they
have been very unproductive. For three or four years, in the
herrmg season, immense shoals of garvies, mixed with young her-
rings, have appeared off the town and adjoining bays. They are
an excellent article of food, and have amply rewarded the exer-
tions of the fishermen when in demand ; but the Board of Fishery
has often interfered,. under the idea that the use of the trawl net,
with small meshes, is injurious to the herring fishery. It is much
to be wished that this matter were settled, so as to allow the fish-
ermen to pursue their avocations. ‘They must destroy many young
herrings, but they are a mere fraction to the myriads of garvies
that fill the water.

A number of females are very profitably occupied in the summer
months in spinning hemp for nets, which the younger members of
the family (boys and girls) work up with great neatness, and ex-
pedition. A net when finished is worth about L.3, though an in-
genious individual, Mr Paterson, once resident here, but now re-
moved to his manufactory in Musselburgh, is able to furnish them
at L.2, 10s., by the aid of machinery, which he has brought to
an astonishing degree of perfection. In the summer months a few
boats of larger size, from the end of July to the beginning of Sep-
tember, are employed in the northern or western fishery, each
boat engaging with the curers, to furnish about 200 or 250 bar-
‘rels, for which they receive 7s. or 8., and sometimes a higher sum.
But they are not always able to complete their quantity. A few of
the young men also, from time to time, went to the Greenland whale-
fishery, though misfortune and want of success in recent years have
rather deterred them from engaging in this hazardous voyage, and
they generally engage in the coasting trade, or proceed in vessels
engaged in the North American wood trade.

The manufacture of soap was formerly carried on with great
skill, and on a great scale, in this town. There were four works
employing about thirty or forty men, and paying an excise duty of
L.8000 or L.10,000 per annum. But the fluctuations of trade have
been experienced here, as well as in other quarters, and for the last
seven years there has been only one small manufactory employing
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three or four men, and this also has for several years been discon-.
tinued. The trade is precarious, and far from lucrative. The
workmen make good wages, and, as the business is at present con-
ducted, the morals of those engaged do not suffer.

There are nn vessels belonging to the port, though a person hav-
ing ship property resides here. The foreign trade is not carried
on, though various coasting-vessels from time to time arrive here
with barley for the distillery here and at Kirkliston. The
coals used by the inhabitants are nearly all sea-borne, and in the
winter months, some farmers in the country have been in the prac-
tice of shipping potatoes for the London markets, and receiving in
the course of the season cargoes of rape-cake, drain-tiles, dung,
&c. A few cargoes of stones are also sent to different ports, from
an excellent freestone quarry at Humbie, about three miles distant,

V.—ParocHiaL Economy.

The situation of Queensferry is favourable for communication
with the metropolis and the northern parts of the kingdom. The
water passage is admirably managed. The great northern road is
in the very best state of repair, while that to Edinburgh cannot be
exceeded in excellence. This was the first turnpike road in West
Lothian, formed in the year 1751. There is a post-office, at which
the mail arrives from Edinburgh at balf-past 6 A.M., and 5 p.m. and
from the north at 5 A.M. and 8 .M. There are two coaches which
leave the town each morning for Edinburgh, and return in the
evening. At various times in the.day there are four other coaches
which pass to and from the north. On the opening of the Edin-
burgh and Glasgow Railway, in February 1842, a minibus start-
ed to join it at the Winchburgh station. It was discontinued dur-
iug the winter, and has not yet been resumed.

There is thuch obscurity about the establishment of the water
passage. It was once private property, and appears to have been
attached to the lands of Muiryhall, consisting of seventeen acres,
in the immediate vicinity of the town. These were, it is suppus-
ed, a donation from Queen Margaret, for supporting the passage.
There were formerly two classes of proprietors; the holders of
shares, and the holders of boats and yawls. A change took place
in 1784, when the whole boats were purchased by the shareholders
and let by annual roup. They were kept in a state of good re-
pair, and the arrangements devised by the proprietors were so ju-
diciously carried into effect, that the interests of the public were
as well consulted as circumstances would permit.  The state of
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the piers and shippings was, however, a great barrier in the
way of comfort. Those on the south side, especially, were in a
very ruinous condition, and at certain states of the tide much risk
and inconvenience were experienced in landing and embarking
passengers.

This state of things continued till 1809, when a general desire
was felt to improve the water passage, both by altering the system
of management, and making such changes as its increasing impor-
tance demanded. An application was made to Parliament i»
1809, rendered necessary by the following circumstances,—that
there were no suitable piers,—no superintendents,—boats only at
the North Ferry, where all the boatmen lived,—other traffic at the
wharfs, unconnected with the passage,—and thearrangements at the
piers so incomplete, as to admit of passage only four and a half
hours in each tide. The rates and dues belonged to individuals,
and the jurisdiction was such, that the proprietors could not be
compelled to keep the piers in a state of repair.

By the act, trustees were nominated, consisting of the following
persoas, viz. the Keeper of the Great Seal, Privy Seal, Lord Justice-
General, Lord Advocate, Lord Justice-Clerk, Lord Clerk-Re-
gister, Lord Chief-Baron, and Vice- Admiral of Scotland, Keeper
of the Signet, Postmaster-General for Scotland, Lord Lieutenaots
of Perth, Linlithgow, Fife, Kinross, Clackmannan, Commander

-of the Forces, Admiral of Leith; Chief Magistrates of Perth,
Linlithgow, Queensferry, lnverkeithing, Dunfermline ; the Sherifis
of the counties ; the proprietor of the estate of New-Halls; and
all having L.200 Scots valuation in the above counties. Nine
trustees to be a quorum ; a committee of management consisting
of fifteen, who have the power of making bye-laws. TFo these
trustees, by the act, was committed the power of constructing land-
ing-places, purcliasing ground for boatmen’s houses, opening quar-
ries in any common in Fife, on the shore, within high water- mark,
between Port Edgar and the Long Craig.

At this time there was only one pier on the north side, two on
the south, one at” New-Halls, the other at Queensferry.* Advao-
tageous, howeyer, as an alteration and improvement of the passage
obviously were, there was great and continued opposition, which
at length was happily overcome. The localities for the proposed
piers were surveyed by the celebrated Rennie. The Chancellor of

* For the privilege of erecting a pier here, L, 10 are annually paid by the trustces
to the town.

4
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the Exchequer agreed to propose to Parliament to advance one-
half of the money required for the purchase of shares and the
erection of piers, on condition that the other half should be advan-
ced by individuals. The sum expended in purchasing the property
of the shareholders, and improverents at the Ferry, amounted to
L. 88,824, 14s. 94d. ; of this, the public paid L.13,586, 11s. 8d.,
and there were lent by individuals, in sums of L.500, L.20,238,
3s. 14d.
The purchase of the onglmhbam;mounhdto . L8673 13 10§

* The North Ferry pier cost . 4206 19 6
The signal bouse, . . 406 10 0
The superintendent’s house ‘and garden, 260 9 1
A stripe of ground leadmg to the Long Cmg, . 300 0 O
The pier at Port Edgar, 378 feet long. cost . 4763 13 10
New- Halls’ pler, 722 feet in length, cost . 8696 0 O

The swall pier at Port Nuick, 587 11 11
Land and building six houses, at South Qneemt’a'ry, 909 11 6

The original funds subscribed being exhausted, there was a se-
cond application, in 1812, made to Government, and a new sub-
scription. By these means the Long Craig Pier was built ;* the
small East Battery Pier ; the West Battery Pier on the north side
was raised and enlarged ; the North Ferry Pier lengthened, &c.

Steam navigation was introduced, and the Queen Margaret put
on the passage on October 1st 1821. This caused additional ex-
pense in the raising of the piers. To meet this, the sinking fund
was pledged, two large sailing boats were put down, and two pin- -
naces with their crews. The Queen Margaret cost 1.2369,
Since September 1820, there have been three large sailing boats
of the original construction, the Earl of Moray half-tide boat, amtl
three pinnaces. The crews of these, thirty-six men and boys.
The hire of a boal, when light, 2s. 6d.; dark, bs. Large ditto,
light, 5s.; dark, 6s. Exemptions from the above rates, mail
horses or expresses from the post-office ; soldiers on march, horses
of officers, ordnance carts, volunteers, if in uniform ; carts carry-
ing vagrants with the legal passes. By the act, not more than two-
thirds of the boats and yawls to remain at each side. The boat-
men are not liable to be impressed. Two superintendents to be
appointed. ‘

Steam navigation by the Frith and across it, by coaches passing
to Burntisland, greatly diminished the number of passengers at
this ferry, but in 1811, we have the following account : 228 per-
sons crossed each day, and sometimes 447; 1515 carriages annu-

The long Craig Pier is 1177 feet in length,
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ally; 4254 carts do.; 13,154 horses do.; 18,057 cattle do.;
25,151 sheep do. ; 5520 barrel bulk do.; 2615 dogs do.
The expenses of the steam-boat per week, are as follows :

Engineer, . . L1100

Skipper, . 1 50

Two seamen, l& ay . 116 O

Fireman, , . 017 0

Coals average, . 510 0

Tallow, oil, rope yams. . 116 O -
Total, . LI214 O

The steam-boat has contributed much to the accommodation of
passengers in calm weather and cross winds ; the boats, instead of
being long on their passage as they formerly were, being taken in
tow by the Queen Margaret, are scarcely twenty minutes in pas-
sing. There are two porters at each side paid by the trustees. The
boats are manned by experienced seamen, well acquainted with the
navigation, geverally regular in their habits, and polite in their at-
tention to passengers. No loss of a boat has occurred for more
than sixty years; and this may be considered one of ;the best re-
gulated ferries in the kingdom. In October 1838, a most melan-

- choly accident occurred at the Newhalls Pier, owing to the very
reprehensible practice of driving the coaches to the water’s edge
along the piers, to receive passengers from the boats. A young
lady and a female servant were precipitated with the coach, into

- which they had just entered, into the water, and drowned before
they could be extricated. The mother of the lady and a gentle-
man had nearly shared the same fate. Since that fatal day, which
will not be speedily forgotten, the practice of driving on the pier
has been abandoned. Two or three times in the year the boats
may be prevented from crossing by stormy weather or contra-
ry winds, but this very rarely extends to a few hours. At the
present time, 1831, the rental of the passage is L.1840 per an~
num; the tacksmen engaging to keep up the boats and pay the
wages of the men.

The harbour of Queensferry was once in a very ruinous condi-
tion, but is now in a very excellent state of repair. The funds for
making the recent improvements were raised by a contribution of
L.600 from the convention of royal burghs; L.200 from the two
noble families in the neighbourhood; and the remaining L.800
from the funds of the burgh, arising from the sale of the Ferry
wmuir to Dundas of Dundas for L.1610. In winter, when the her-
ring-fishery is prosperous, the harbour is often crowded with ves-
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sels engaged in curing. The dues exigible by the town, which are
almost the only source of revenue now possessed by the burgh,
are let annually by public roup.  Since the removal of the soap
trade, the rental has been gradually falling off, and now amounts
only to L.80 per anoum ; since the erection of the distillery, it
has risen to L. 100.
+ Ecclesiastical State.—The church is placed in the centre of the
town, and is most coavenient for the inhabitants. It is in an excel-
lent state of repair, and may accommodate about 400 persons.
There are numerous free sittings, more than are equal to the de-
mand. The seats, with the exception of three free seats, are an-
nually let by public roup, under the authority, and at the sight of
the magistrates. The rental forms a part of the stipend. There
is neither manse nor glebe belonging to the minister. The living
is increased by a Government allowance of L. 49, 13s. 4d. ; and
in lieu of a manse and glebe, L.50 have been recently granted by
a late act of Parliament. '

Ministers.—1. Mr Robert Gibbeson, ordained 13th August
1635, and died in 1641; 2. Mr Ephraim Melville, grandson of
Andrew Melville, ordained 1st September 1641, transported to
Livingston, 1650 ; 3. Mr John Primrose, ordained 28th October
1652, removed in 1662, by the Indulgence came back to Queens-
ferry, and died 28th December 1673. There were six ministers
between 1673 and 1690. Of the number, Archibald Buchan
continued only one year, in 1688. Noune of them died here.
Most of the number appear to have preached without being regu-
larly inducted. 4. Mr Donald Campbell, transported from Muir-
avonside in December 1693, died in 1697 ; 5. Mr John Grieson,
ordained in 1700, and died ia the year 1709 ; 6. Mr James Kid,
ordained 28th September 1710, and died 9th February 1743;
7. Mr Archibald M‘Aulay, ordained 1746, and died 1781; 8.
‘Mr John Hendersen, ordained 1782, died June 1820; 9. Mr
Thomas Dimma, ordained 16th November 1820.

There is one Dissenting meeting-house here belonging to the
Associate Synod. The stipend, it is believed, amounts to .90

r annum, raised from the seat-rents. Families attending the
Established Church, December 1830, 110 ; number of persons in
the above, 464 ; number attending Dissenters, in forty-one fami-
lies, 194 ; Roman Catholics, in three families, 14. At the pre-
sent time, April 1843, the families attending the parish church
are 111, and the number of persons in these, 448. The number
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of families, in cobnection with ‘the Dissenters, is 40, containing
_ 214 persons, of whom 9 are Roman Catholics, and 11 belong to
other religious denominations. There are 169 communicants be-
longing to the Established Church.

Divine service is well attended both in the Established Church
and Dissenting congregation ; although it is to be regretted, that
many connected with each, are either very partial, or altogether
negligent in their attendance on ordinances. The average num-
ber of regular communicants in the Established Church is 130.
There isa penny a-week Bible society, and collections are annually
made in the church, for various religious and charitable purposes,
which may amount on an average to L.12 or L.15 annually. The
average of the collections made at the church-door in aid of the
poor funds, amounts, for the last ten years, to the annual sum of
L.85, but now to about L. 28.

Education.—There are three schools in the town, viz. the
burgh or parochial, one private and unendowed, and one female
school. The usual branches are taught in the burgh school, in-
cluding English, writing, arithmetic, book-keeping, geography,
mathematics, Latin, Greek, and French. In the private school,
English, writing, and arithmetic ; in the ladies’ school, the various
branches of female education, including music and drawing. The
salary of the burgh teacher is L.29, 4s. 6d. per annum, which,
with the addition of the school-fees, can scarcely make an income
of L.60. The average annual expense of a single pupil varies
from 10s. to L.1, 10s. The burgh school is numerously attend-
ed, and well taught. A new school-room is just nearly finished
for the reception of the pupils, in room of the old one, which was
the worst in the bounds, while the new erection will be one of the
best in the country.

Libraries.—There is one aubscnpuon library, containing nearly
600 volumes, one under the management of the Associate Burgher
congregation of 400 volumes, and one belonging to the Sabbath
school, containing 1335 small publications suited to the young.
This school has been taught by the minister, for twenty-two years,
every Sabbath evening, for two hours and upwards, and has proved
of great advantage to the rising generation. It has always been
well attended. "The library has been most beneficial in exeiting
a taste for reading, and storing the minds of the young with useful
knowledge.

Friendly Societies.— There are two Friendly societies in the

N
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town, from which allowances are made during sickness, and at
death, the funeral expenses are paid. It is another feature in one
of these, a weekly payment is made of one shilling and a penny,
which is paid out in one sum, half-yearly, at the time when house-
rents are due.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—The average number of the regu-
lar poor, 16 ; allowance monthly, from 8s. 6d. to 8s.; church-
door collections, L.85; rent of money and land, L.23 ; average of
legacies, mortcloth, and marriage dues, L.5; interest of L.5000
Just bequeathed by Captain Henry Meek, deceased, a native of
the parish, and now payable, making the allowance of 37 persons
on the roll from 8s. 6d. to 8s. per month. From this fund,
also, about twenty children are educated. No means have ever
been adopted to procure relief for the poor, but the usual mode
of church-door collection. This has hitherto met every demand
without having recourse to assessments. The poor of this parish
have in former times been unusually well provided for by the kind
attentions of various individuals in the respectable classes, but by
death and a change of circumstances this supply has been very
much diminished. By a decision of the Court of Session, the poor
residing in Queensferry, but in that part of it belonging to the pa-
rish of Dalmeny, have been found entitled to share in the bequest.
This adds about 25 persons, who receive an allowance from the
Meek funds. It has not been found that there is any great reluc-
tance to apply for parochial relief, though, in many cases, it has
been offered before it was sought. It has often, however, been
observed, that many persons permit their aged relatives to remain
on the poor-roll, which, with a better spirit, they might easily pre-
vent. The collections at the church-door have been greatly di-
minished since the Meek bequest has been dispensed. One
mode of relieving the poor is well deserving of imitation by
those whom Providence has blessed with the means. The Coun-
tess of Rosebery gives employment in spinning to the widows and
industrious females of the town, who are able to earn at least 2s.
or 3s. each month. This produces excellent effects on the inha-
bitants, and induces them to practice a useful art, in many quar-
ters of the country fallen into disuse.

There is a jail in the burgh, or rather a lock-up house. Prison-
ers are seldom detained beyond a single night, being removed after
examination to Linlitbgow. The town-officer is the keeper of the

jail.
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Fair.—The annual fair in August is injurious to the morals of
those who only require excitement to indulge in intemperancs, but
agreeable to others whose families are happily assembled at that
time. A custom has been observed, from time immemorial, the
evening before the-fair : the boys dress one of their number with
a covering of burs, from head to foot, adorning him with ribbons
and flowers, and conducting him, led by his companions, throngh
the town and neighbourhood. They receive small donations from
the inhabitants. The origin of this practice cannot be ascertained.

Inns, Alehouses, §c.—There are 1 inn in the town, 8 alehouses,
and 4 shops where accommodation is provided for drinking.
The facilities enjoyed here for the use of ardent spirits have
been most prejudicial to the morals of the people. Accidents of
a most frightful character have occurred almost every year from
the immoderate use of spirits, and though there have been deaths
both by fire and water, the votaries of dissipation are neither im-
proved nor diminished in number. There are much poverty and
wretchedness originating from this cause; children are neglected
by their parents, and families are reduced to misery by the disso-
]ute habits of those who ought to provide for them.

Coals are brought by sea from Fife, and from Bo-ness, &c. by
carts,. They are seldom furnished at a lower rate than 10s. per
ton, and sometimes a much higher price. When sold in small
quantities to the poor, the cost is much greater.

MiscELLANEOUS OBSERVATIONS.

In the summer months this place is much resorted to by many
for sea-bathing and change of air. The accommodation is gra-
dually improving, and the delightful walks in the vicinity render it
particularly attractive. Since the date of the last Statistical Ac-
count, the appearance of the town is considerably improved ; seve-
ral new houses have been erected, and alterations made contribut-
ing both to beauty and convenience. Shops of a more respectable
description have been established, and the demand from the
country increasing, enables the merchants to retail at prices very
similar to those in the metropolis. The brewery long esta-
blished here has been discontinued. For two years, a distillery
has been in operation here, under the firm of the Glenforth Dis-
tillery Company. It is on a small scale, making from 1700 to
2600 gallons weekly ; but, being fitted up in the most approved
manner, and skilfully managed, it produces spirits of the first qua-
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lity. It gives employment to about twenty persons, and adds
considerably to the trade of the port in its imports and exports.

Since June 1888, a new steamer, the William Addm, has been
put on the passage, the Queen Margaret having proved inadequate
to the work required. The new vessel was built by the Messrs
Menzies, and her engine, of forty horses’ power, by Mr Maxton,
Leith. Length, 98 feet, and breadth, 32 feet. She has proved
a very superior sea-boat, and reunders this ferry one of the best
and easiest in the- kingdom. She leaves the south side every
hour, and the north side at the half hour, from suarise to sunset.
The William Adam was honoured by conveying Queen Victoria
and Prince Albert across the Frith, on her royal progress to the
north, on the 5th September 1842. The day was most beautiful ;
the water unruffled ; the crowds on both shores very great; the
sea covered by numerous steamers and boats, gayly adorned ; in-
deed, the whole scene was calculated to make*an impression not
speedily to be forgotten. It is understood that the Sovereign ex-
pressed the greatest satisfaction with all the arrangements made
on board the steamer. Mr Mason, the superintendent, took the
helm, while the attentive skipper, Charles Roxburgh, attended
to the other duties.

Since the William Adam was put on the passage, which cost
1..2800, raised by subscriptions among the trustees, the establish-
ment has been greatly reduced, as the steamer, except at the
great cattle fairs, performs nearly the whole duty of the passage.
There are, however, two large boats and two pinnaces, which can
be used when required. The number of working hands amounts
now only to sixteen, with a shore-master, clerk, and two porters,
at each side. The rental paid by the tacksmen at this date
amounts to L.1880. It may be useful to notice the expense at-
tending the steamer on the passage, viz. three tons of coal con-
sumed per day, at 8s. 6d.; oil for the engine per do., a quarter
of a gallon; cotton per month, half a hundred weight. The
poilers require to be cleaned every fortnight, at 14s. of charge;
the furnace bars are renewed every six months; a quarter of a
hundred weight of tallow is used per month ; and the expense of
ropes, &c. per week, may amount to L.1. The crew cobsists of
five men and a boy, whose wages amount to L.6, 5s. per week.
It is pleasant to be able to speak of the correct and steady ma-
nagement of this ferry, when travellers know the very minute when
they can procure a passage, and, by well regulated signals, when

LINLITHGOW. B
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on the water, secure the presence of a carriage awaiting them en
their arrival at the pier, where civil porters and hostlers, connected
with the establishments on each shore, consult the comfort and
convenience of passengers, who may calculate on crossing in ten
or twelve minutes,

Revised April 1843,

PARISH OF ABERCORN.
PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEREDDALE,

THE REV. LEWIS H. IRVING, MINISTER.

L—TofocrapHY AND NaTURAL HisToRY.

Name, Bounduries, §c.— THis parish derives its name, written
formerly Abercorne, from the ancient monastery of Aebercurnig.
‘The confluence of a rivulet, called the Cornie burn, with another
stream at the bottow of the bigh bank on which the church stands,
points out the probable origin of the name as descnpuve of the
site of the monastery.

- The parish extends 44 miles in extreme length, and 2} miles
in extreme breadth, containing 7.08 square miles. It is of a rect-
angular figure, stretching east and west, and bounded on the east
by Dalmeny; on the south, by Kirkliston, Auldcathie, (an. an-
nexed porcion of Dalmeny,) and Ecclesmachan; on the west, by
Linlithgow and Carriden ; and on the north, by the Firth of Forth.

The surface is exceedingly diversified, but although broken in-
to many picturesque undulations and irregularities, no part of it
attains an elevation above 350 feet. Two points alone have re-
eeived the name of hills, Binns hill and Priestinch hill. The for-
mer, at the western extremity of the parish, is arable to the sum-
mit : insulated and rising with uninterrupted slope from the sea,
although of no great height, it commands an extensive and mag-
nificent view of the shores of the Frith, and the circumjacent
country, with a bounding amphitheatre of hills, formed by the
Grampian, Ochil, Pentland, and Campsie ranges. Priestinch
hill, on the south border of the parish, is a. precipitous mass of
trap-rock, surrounded on three sides by a green bog called the
: 3
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Priestinch.  Its altitude is inconsiderable. The summit is nearly
flat, of an oval form, and has been rudely fortified at some remote
period. The shore is clayey, intersected at several points by low
ranges of rock : near high water-mark, the beach is covered with
rolled stones and boulders of greenstone. The bottom is flat to
seaward, the tide receding a great way, but inland the ground rises
abruptly, presenting a steep, though not precipitous bank, from 80
to 100 feet high. The line of coast, extending about four miles,
is of singular beauty. Seen from the terraces and rides judici-
ously conducted along the heights,—a series of irregular promon-
tories with receding bays and steep undulating banks, clothed with
trees to the water’s edge, except where a few green slopes and °
winding glades occur, just sufficient to break the uniformity of the
‘wood,—form a rich foreground to the varied views of mountain,
shore, and flood beyond.

Meteorology.— The average temperature for seventeen years, ob-
tained from a register kept by Mr Smith at Hopetoun House, is
463°.

Hydrography.—The Frith of Forth is here about 2} miles
broad, the water is much discoloured from the particles of impal-
pable mud suspended, and prevented from sabsiding by the action
of the tides and winds. The degree of saltness is not materially
lower than that found nearer the mouth of the Frith. The springs
are perennial, but peither frequent nor very abundant, flowing
chiefly from the coal measures; they are more or less tinctured
with iron and sulphuretted hydrogen. One spring has been used
-medicinally, but its qualities are by no means powerful ; its waters
have not been analyzed. There are several artificial sheets of wa-
ter of small extent, two of them employed as mill-ponds ; the others
are ornamental. The only streams are mere rivulets ; the largest,
the Midhope, or Nethermill burn, rises in the parish of Linlith-
gow, about seven miles from its mouth, entering this parish at the
south-west angle ; it flows easterly through a deep wooded glen,
and reaches the coast a few hundred feet below the church, being
joined near the sea by the Cornie burn, a still smaller rivules.
Blackness burn, which separates Abercorn from Carriden, and the
Linnmill burn, which divides it from )almeny, both flowing north,
and neither of them above one mile and a-half in length, exhaust
the slender hydrography of the district.

Geology.—The strata are much deranged and interrupted ; zhe
prevailing direction is from north-east to south-west, and the dip
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north-westerly, the angle varying from 5 to 60 degrees. The
most remarkable disturbance is seen in the ravine, near the mouth
of the Nethermill burn. The rocks are the sandstone, shales,
limestone, &c. of the coal-formation, with protruded masses of
trap, such as Binus hill, Priestinch hill, and two or three of smal-
ler estent. The limestone occurs denuded in the central and
eastern portions of the parish ; the stratum is about 10 feet thicks
covered with an alluvial deposit of gravel, clay, and rolled stones ;
fossil shells, and beautiful impressions of ferns, have been found
in the accompanying shales. Coal appears, and clay-ironstone in
the south and south-west districts, but the seams, so far as yet ex-
+ plored, are of minor importance. Calespar is abundant in the
fissures of the limestone, but the crystals are small and insigniti-
cant. The general alluvial deposits consist of clay, mixed with
graveland rolled stones. The bank on which the church stands, and
some others near the coast, seem to be composed of gravel and
beds of sand. The soil is varied,—loam on a clay bottom is its
most prevalent aspect ; the loam is shallow, except in hollow and
peculiar localities. Boulders of greenstone, weighing several tons,
are occasionally met with. A small coal mine has existed for a
few years past at Priestinch, close to the Union Caoal, in the
neighbourhood of which the coal crops out, dipping to the north-
west at an angle of 20°. The seams are small, the vpper one
being eighteen inches, and the under one twelve inches in thick-
ness, separated by three feet of shale, a band of clay ironstone, four
mnches thick. Both seams of coal are soft and friable; the lower
ene is used as smithy coal, and yields the better price.
Roology.— An otter (Lutra oulgaris) was killed some years ago
in the Nethermill burn. The Hopetoun deer-park, extending to
118-acres, is stocked with between 200 and 300 head of fallow-
deer, (Cervus dama.) Squirrels (Sciurus vulgaris) abound in the
woods. The weasel ¢Mustela vulgarisy is common. The stoat
(M. erminea) and the polecat (M. putorius) are more rarely found.
The seal (Phoca vitulina,) and the porpoise ( Delphina Phoccena)
occasionally visit the shores. Sir Robert Sibbald mentions the
capture of a whale, in 1692, at Abercorn, of the razor-back species,
(Rorqualis borealis), measuring 78 feet long, which had infested
the Forth for twenty years, and from a perforation in its dorsal in
by a ball, was known by the name of the ¢¢ hollie pike.” The
fox (Vulpes vulgaris) is tolerated in the coverts for the chase ;
hares are numerous, and of late years, the multitude of rabbits has
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become a nuisance. Buildings are much infested with the brown
rat (Mus decumanus) and the common mouse (M. musculus) ;
whilst the black rat (M. ratfus) and the short-tailed field-mouse
( Arvicola agrestis) are not plentiful. The pheasant (PRasianus
Colchicus) has been introduced, and has multiplied extensively in
the preserves ; the partridge (Perdiz cinerea) is net abundant ;-
woodeocks(Scolopaz Rusticola,)snipe (S. Gallinago), and wild-duck
(Anas Boschas) are still rarer. The cuckoo is a yearly visitant, and
the woods are alive in summer with the notes of the blackbird and
thrush, aud the cooing of the wood-pigeon. The smaller birds
common to the climate are plentiful ; the numbers of the missel-
thrush or storm-cock ( Turdus viscivorus) have latterly mach in-
creased. Duriag the protracted severity of the winter, in the com-
mencement of 1838, a male blackbird was repeatedly observed,
whose plumage had become snow-white, with the exception of a
few speckled feathers. The crested lapwing (Vanellus cristatus),
the dottrel (Charadrius Morinellus), and the grey plover (Squata-
rola cinerea), are frequent. The shores are peopled with flocks
of waders, consisting of plovers, gulls, (Larus fuscus, L. argentatus,
and L. eanus,) and the lesser auk (Alca Torda.) Apart from
which the heron (Ardea cinerea) seeks his food in lonely spots.
An exterminating warfare is waged against the crows, magpies,
bawks, and owls, but the various races contrive still to exist. Se-
veral years ago a pair of black swans (Cygnus atratus,) from New
Holland were placed in a pond near Hopetoun House, and bred
repeatedly : but the female having been unfortunately destroyed
one winter by a fox, the male bird remains the sole tenant of his
pool. Salmon (Salmo salar,) and it§ congeners (Salmo trutta,
and S. albus,) approach the coast when the season is somewhat
advanced. Skate (Raia Batis,) and flounders (Platessa Flesus,)
are frequently caught, soles (Solea vulgaris) occasionally, and
sometimes, but very rarely, sturgeon (Accipenser Sturio.)

The common muscle (Musculus edulis) is found in consider-
able quantities. Formerly some attention was paid to the forma-
tion and preservation of the scalps, so as to furnish abundant bait
for white-fishing, but they have been now long neglected The
cuttle fish (Sepia vulgaris) is at times cast ashore.

Botany.—From the small portion of the land that is waste or
in a state of nature, the botanist has but a narrow range in pro-
portion to the extent of surface. The sea-shore and the neigh-
bouring water-courses furnish the following list of rarer plants; .
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Ligusticum Scoticum Spergula nodosa

Cynoglossum officinale Euphorbia esula
Convolvulus sepium Thalictrum majus
Parnassia palustris (near the shore) Scrophularia aguatica
Triglochin maritimum Ononis arvensis
Chrysosplenium alternifolium Astragulus hypoglottis
ppositifolium Hypericum pulchrum
Arenaria rubra Aster trifolium
marina Habenaria viridis
Asplenium ruta muraria bifolia
trich Didymodon capillaceum
adiantum nigrum Bryum puuctatum

Grimmia leucophza ligulatum -

Trees of many kinds have been extensively planted, and
thrive well, particularly beech, elm, oak, sycamore, lime, and
chestnut, Scots, silver, and spruce fir, and larch. The masses of
wood are penetrated and rendered accessible in every direction by
rides and green glades, whose windings and recesses afford many
exquisite glimpses of forest scenery.  The plantations have been
chiefly formed during the early part of last century, and there are
but few traces of great age. The cedar trees (Cedrus Libant) in
the Hopetoun pleasure-grounds are well worthy. of notice, from
their size and beauty. Planted only in 1748, the largest already
measures 15 feet 74 inches in girth, and 87 feet between the ex-
tremities of its branches. The increase of girth has been 5 feet
within the last thirty years. In the same grounds, a sweet chest-
nut tree (Fagus castanea) measures 13 feet 9 inches, and an aged
beech 14 feet 4 inches in circumference. The growth of the
silver firs (Abies picea,) planted early in the last century, is re-
markable, several being nearly 100 feet high. The tulip trees
(Liriodendron tulipifera) are of considerable size, and frequently
flower. The hemlock spruce (Abies Canadiensis) has been intro-
duced, and grows vigorously. To the east of the house, near a
quarry, a plane tree (Acer pseudo-platinus,) of 14} feet in girth,
is more notable for the humber of its spreading branches and the
ground it covers than for the thickness of its trunk, the distance
betwixt the extremities of its boughs being 116 feet. A range of
gigantic ash trees (Frazinus ezcelsior,) of unknown age, marks the
ancient boundary of the parish churchyard. The largest measures
16 feet in girth. Their hoary trunks and shattered limbs are
monumental of generations long since passed away, whose dust
slumbers at their feet. In an arboretum attached to the gardens
at Hopetoun House are several Scots firs (Pinus sylvestris) of
great size and picturesque form, and groups of various exotic
trees; amongst others, the Cedrus deodara and the Abies mirinda
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from the Himalaya. One of the latter, a very graceful tree, but
a few years old, has attained the height of 20 feet; whilst several
vigorous specimens in various parts of the grounds are curious from
being grafted on the common spruce fir. . A Siberian pine (Pinus
cimbra Stberica) in one of the flower-borders, is remarkable for the
peculiarity of its form and the tardiness of its growth. With a
vigorous thickly-thatched head, it is only 54 feet high, and its
trunk but a few inches in diameter, though nearly a hundred
years old.
II.—Civir HisTory.

Historical Notices.—The Monastery of Aebercurnig is more
than once mentioned by Bede, and appears to have been a Culdee
establishment of early date. In the latter part of the seventh
century, it formed the residence of a bishop, at a period when
Whitherne in Galloway was the only other Episcopal seat south
of the Forth. In 696, when Aegfrid, King of the Northumbrians,
whose kingdom included the Lothians, was slain in battle by the
northern Picts, Trumuini, who then held the see, deeming Aber-
corn too near the Pictish kingdom of Fife, forsook the monastery
with his followers.* 7rumuini, of whom Bede speaks with respect,
was in all likelihood a Culdee bishop, as the papal authority had
then but little influence in Scotland. The Castle and estate of
Abercorn were possessed by Walter Avenale in the middle of the
twelfth century; and in 1176, a dispute took place betwixt his
son, John Avenale, and Richard, second Bishop of Dunkeld, re-
garding the ‘patronage of the parish, the monastery being then
extinct. As might be expected in those days, the claim of the
prelate was triumphant. In 1460, the whole church lands be-
longing to the Bishop of Dunkeld on this side of the Forth,
including Abercorn, Cramond, Preston, and Aberlady, were
erected into one barony, called the barony of Aberlady. In the
thirteenth century, the estate of Abercorn parsed by marriage into
the possession of the Graemes, and was held by the patriot, Sir
John the Graeme, the friend of Wallace, killed in battle against
the English at Falkirk July 22d 1208. The estate was subse~
quently the property of the Black Douglases. Abercorn Castle,
a strong natural position, partook of the fortunes of that proud
house. Repeatedly attacked during a pewod peculiarly turbulent,
it was besieged by James II. in 1454, and taken by storm on the
Bth of April.t+ The Earl's retainers were put to the sword, and

® Beda, Hist. iv. 26. t Godscroft, p. 203, folio ed.



24 LINLITHGOWSHRIE.

the castle destroyed. Buchanan speaks of it as * semidiruta arx”
in his time, It-was never rebuilt. The estate was conferred. by,
the Crown on Cland Hawmilton, the first Viscount Paisley, third
son to the Earl of Arran. Farfeited for his adherence to the for-
tuves of Mary, it was restored to his. son by James. VL., created
in 1606 Earl of Abercorn. From this family.it passed successively
to the Mures, Lindsays of the Byres, and Setons, and was. sold
by Sir Walter Seton in 1678 to John Hope, father to the firsy
Earl of Hopetoun. The estate had dwindled at that time to a
few acres, but had the sheriffship of the county attached to it,
until the abolition of heritable jurisdictions.

Eminent Men.—Thomas Dalyell of Binns, a Gengral in the
army, and for some years at the head of the forces in Scotland,
was born in this parish in 1616. His private eccentricities fur~
nished scope for the sarcastic pen of Swift in the Memoirs of Cap-
tain Creighton, while the public history of General Dalyell forma
an important element in the narrative of the troubles of the Kirk
of Scotland. Undaunted courage, and blind devoted fidelity to
his sovereign, form almost the sole redeeming points in a life re+
dolentof cruelty. He died at Edinburgh in 1685. The family vault,
erected in 1623, is attached to the church, but of his place of sepul-
ture there is no record. His portrait, well executed, is preserved at
Binns House. John Dundas of Philpstoun, advoeate, procurator
for the Church, and the author of the Abridgement of the Acts of
Assembly, published in 1721, was a native of Abercorn, and a pro-
prietor and elder withiu its bounds. John, fourth Earl of Hope-
toun, whose character conferred a lustre of its own on the rank he
held, was born at Hopetoun House in 1765. His reputation asa
soldier belongs to the history of the last war, with whose details
his military career as General Sir John Hope is amply interwoven,
The Corunna dispatch, written when he assumed the command
on the death of Sir John Moore, at the close of that day of
mingled grief and glory, is well-known, and needs no commeat.
He was, however, not less remarkable for business taleats of a high
order, and all the milder graces of private life, thun for courage
and capability in the field. Created for his services Baron Nid~
dry in 1814, he succeeded his brother James, third Earl of Hope-
toun, in 1816. On his retirement from military life, he devoted
_ himself, among other avocations, to the public business of the
county over which he presided as Lord-Lieutenant, und by bhis
assiduous and punctual attention to all the minutie of county mat-

4
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ters, produced a very marked amelioration. In the discharge of the
functions devolving upon him as a magistrate, a landlord, and a
pareat, his intellectual endowments and high personal qualities of
integrity, love of order, and benevolence, together with the dignity
and unaffected kindliness of his deportment, invested him with a
beneficial moral influence, of great power and wide extent. His
sudden and comparatively premature death was felt as a public ca~
lamity, and his memory is still deeply venerated. He died at,
Paris, August 27th 1823. His remains have been latterly inter-
red in a cemetery of Saxon architecture near the church. Besides
the statue in bronze erected in St Andrew’s Square, Edinburgh,,
two portraits of this Earl, painted by Raeburnpghave been several-
ly placed in the county halls at Linlithgow and Cupar. In 1822,
his Majesty Gearge 1V. visited Hopetoun House on the day of
his embarkation for England. This tribute of his sovereign’s
esteem was as singular as it was justly earned ; the Earl of Hope-
toun being the only private individual so honoured during the
King’s sojourn in Scotland.

Land-ouwners.—The old valuation of the parish amounts to
L.6945, 7s. Scots, now divided between two proprietors, the Earl
of Hopetoun, who possesses L.6212, 3s. Scots of valued rent, and
the trustees of the late Sir James Dalyell, Bart. of Binns, whose
property within the parish is valued at L.733, 4s. Scots. The
Hopetoun estate is an aggregation of smaller properties acquired
at various periods, such as Philpstoun, Stoneyhill, and Morton,
formerly possessed by branches of the house of Dundas ; Duntar,
vie, the property of a family of Durhams; Midhope, a former seat
of the Earls of Linlithgow ; Craigton, possessed by the: Ewings ;
aod Duddingstoun, lately the property of Gabriel Hamilton Dun-
das, Esq.

Parochial Registers,—The parochial records are voluminous,
The minutes of kirk-session reach from 1691 to the present time,
with the exception of the years from 1737 to 1750 inclusive, dur-
ing which a protracted vacancy occurred. The register of baptismg
commences with the year 1585 ; sowme of the earlier portions are,
however, imperfect. The fcord of marriage proclamations and
that of deaths ara complete from 1700. The ministers since the
Revolution bave been, Alexander Dalgleish, inducted in 1690 ;
John Brown in 1700 ; Heory Lundie in 1740, transported to
Edioburgh io 1758; Jobn Richie in 1759 ; Hugh Meiklejoha,
D. D., Professor of Church History in the University of Edin-
burgh, inducted in 1791 ; and the present incumbent in 1831,
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Antiquities.—The Roman wall, or ¢ Vallum Antonini,” con-
pecting the Friths of Forth and Clyde, has been styled by some
writers the wall of Abercorn; it is, however, matter of dispute
whether that line of defence extended so far east. Sir Robert Sib-
bald, indeed, writing from his own observation, and Pont’s former
survey, says, that the wall passed Abercorn, and terminated at the
¢ laird of Maner’s windmill,”” which occupied an abrupt eminence
at the commencement of the eastern approach to Hopetoun
House, where traces of escarpment are still visible.* Bede, how-
ever, states that the wall terminated at Peanfabel or Penneltum,
distant about two Roman miles from the monastery of Aebercur-
. nig.4 This langf®ge would apparently determine Blackness as
the Peanfahel or * head of the wall.”” A prolongation or outwork
may have been at some period ‘continued along the coast as far as
the ¢ windmill knowe.” No light has been thrown on the subject by
the discovery of monuments or inscriptions. The remains of the
monastery have wholly disappeared ; some foundations of buildings
and a mass of deep black loam, of limited exent, in the vicinity of
the church, are the only traces hitherto found. The site of the
castle of Abercorn is marked by a green mound, the ruins having
been carefully removed at the dictate of the taste prevailing when
the Hopetoun pleasure-grounds were first laid out. The situation
was singularly strong, accessible from the east by a narrow ueck of
high ground, but surrounded on all other sides with steep banks.
The socket of an ancient cross, occupying its original position, was
exhumed last year, in altering the west end of the church ; and by
the removal of an out-building, the shaft was exposed, mutilated,
and converted into an obscure window lintel. The two sides visi-
ble are elaborately carved with arabesque tracery in relief, resem-
bling the crosses at Iona. Midhope House, a building of consi-
derable age, is in tolerable preservation. It consists of a square
turretted tower, with a cumbrous addition attached to the -east
sidle. The old doorway bears above it a coronet, and the letters
J. L. in cipher, the initials of the then Livingstone Earl of Lin-
lithgow. An oak stair, of massive workmanship, still gives access
to the upper stories of the house, inb#ibited by labourers.

Mansion- Houses.—Binns House, an irregular mass of build-
ing, garnished with turrets and embrasures, is beautifully placed on
the western slope of Binns hill. It was built in 1628, and enlarged
by the late proprietor. The park around is highly picturesque ;

¢ Sibbald’s Historical Inquiries, p. 1. + Beda Hist. i. 12,
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the grassy acclivities of the hill being interspersed with scattered
trees and groups of evergreens. The summit is crowned with a
high round tower, forming a conspicuous land-mark. Dudding- .
stoun House, a modern erection, of a heavy castellated character,
stands on high ground in the south-east of the parish, and com-
mands an extensive view. Hopetoun House, the principal residence
of the family of that name, holds a pre-eminent place among the
mansions of the land. Originally planned by Sir William Bruce
of Kioross, it was commenced in 1696, but not completed until
many years after, under the superintendence of Mr Adam. The
front is very extended, consisting of a corps de logis, with advanced
wings terminatingin octagonal dome-roofed towers, and connected
with the body of the house by sweeping colonnades. The archi-
tects have sedulously avoided all prominence in the minor details,
enbancing materially the gener:l effect. The decorations, though
not obtrusive, are yet sufficiently rich and numerous to prevent
heaviness or insipidity. The stables, contained in the north wing,
are on a scale of princely magnificence. The internal accommo-
dations are extensive, although convenience bas been somewhat
sacrificed to the production of an imposing fagade. The library
is rich in early specimens of priuting, and illuminated conventual
manuscripts.  Awr ample collection of paintings bas been formed,
-including works of many ancient masters, both of the Flemish
and Italian schools. Occupying an elevated plateau, the front-
view, from the house eastward, embraces the opening of the Frith,
with its picturesque shores and rocky islets, North Berwick Law
closing the vista. The grounds within the plaisance are kept in
high order, formerly laid out after the French symmetrical taste,
‘The more formal arrangement has been broken down, but the
quaint clipt yew-trees and grassy terraces have been sufficiently
spared, to soften the transition from the style of the house and its
architectural accompaniments, to the irregularities of form and
outline, characteristic of the more modern alterations. The gar-
dens are extensive, well sheltered, and of varied exposure. Much
" and successful pains are bestowed on their culture. The walks
within the grounds, more especially along the verge of the steep
sea bank, abound in interesting views, whilst the abundance of
tall evergreens renders the bleak aspect of a Scottish winter less
perceptible. The eastern and principal approach proceeds up
the centre of an open levelled esplanade, but the western leads
through an overarching avenue of noble elws, forcibly illustrating
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the hypothetic origin of the long-drawn aisles and fretted vaults
of the Gothic or Saracenic architeeture.

IIL—PoruLraTION.

Males. Femala. Total.
The population of this parish was, in 1755, . . 1087

1792, . 45! . 4]9 o
1801, o et e 8|4
. 1811, . e ¢ e . 885
1821, ¢ e o s o 1044
1831, . . . 1013

1892, 193 496

In the census of 1841, the population isstated to be 2147. Thcs
extraordinary increase arose from the residence of about 1100 la-
‘bourers during the formation of the Edinburgh and Glasgow Rail-
way.

From the record of baptisms, it would appear that the permanent
population was more numerous in the close of the seventeenth cen-
tury than at any subsequent period ; the annual average of births
for ten_years being then about 39, whereas, for the ten years pre-
ceding 1792, it hardly reached 20, and is now but about 28.
Probably the obliteration of several farms, in order to form the
parks and ornamental grounds in the vicinity of Hopetoun House,
may explain the decrease.

Namber of persons residing in the villages, . . 299

country, . 690
1V.—INpusTrY.
Agriculture.—
Total number of imperial acres, 4496
under tillage, or laid down in gran and mbjeet o oeemon-l
cultivation, .
under wood, . 670
never culnnud, connlung of bog or steep banh. 2]
occupied by roads, railway, canal, and beach, about . 105

There is no natural wood, but the extensive plantations, covering
pearly one-sixth of the whole surface, abound in all varieties of
well-thriven trees. Much attention has in general been paid to
thinning and pruving, and the surroundmg fences are kept in ex-
cellent repair. The rent of land in cultivation varies from L.1,
15s. to L.2, 10s. The aonual rent of grazing per ox is about L.3,

Waga —Rate of country labour per day in summer, ls, 8d.,
and io winter, 1s. 6d, ; wages of artisans in suwmer, 3s., and in
winter, 2s. The prices of raw produee and of mechanical work
are in great measure determined by the corresponding prices in
Edinburgh and its neighbourhood. Some attention has been be-
stowed in the improvement of the cattle, by the introduction of
the Teeswater breed. The husbandry, in most respects, has
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kept pace with the general improvemeént in method and farming
implements common to the country. Furrow-draining, both with
stones and tiles, is of late becoming frequent, and from the gene-
rally retentive nature of the subsoil, the results are most beneficial.
Stones 6it for drains abound in all directions, and drain tiles are
easily procured from the manufactory at Blackness, distant but a
short way from the boundary of the parish. The general dura-
tion of leases is nineteen years. The grass parks are let from
year to year. The farm-buildings are by no means showy, al-
though commodious and in good condition.

Quarries and Mines.—Several quarries of excellent freestone,
in various parts of the parish, have been occasionally wrought
from a very remote date. The stone is durable, and well adapted
for building. The quarries in the northern and central districts
yield a stone varying in hue from a cream colour to a palish-gray ;
in the south and south-west, a hard durable freestone is procured
of an intensely dark-gray, approaching to black. Both admit of
being wrought for ornamental purposes.” Hopetoun House fur-
nishes a very favourable specimen of the lighter variety, whilst the
dark has Been employed in the erection of the house and oftices
at Duddingston. A quarry of trap, on the north face of Priest-
inch Hill, opened by the Road Trustees, affords the best material
for roads in this vicinity. Limestone has been extensively exca-
vated in the central and south-eastern parts of the parish. The
workings are of great age; and it is traditionally reported, that
the lime used in the once famous fortifications of Dunkirk was
obtained from Abercorn. The stone is still quarried in consider-
able quantities on the farm of Newton, giving work to about ten
men. It is of a dark gray colour, but becomes pure white when
calcined, being very free from foreign ingredients, with the
exception of carbon. It becomes so extremely friable in' the pro-
cess of burning as to unfit it for the draw-kiln. The method re-
sorted to is that styled the sow-kiln. Its purity renders the lime
fitter for agricultural purposes than for building. The bed of
limestone measures 10 feet in thiekness, and the depth of the
alluvial covering varies from 15 to 85 feet, whose removal adds
very considerably to the expense of working. The lime sells as
2s. 6d. per boll of six imperial bushels, The coal mine, near
Priestinch, is of small extent, and without peculiarity. The num-
ber of people employed is about seventeen. The water is drawn
off by a small steam-engine.
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Fishery.—'The only fishery is at the mouth of the Linn-mill
Burn, where very extensive stake-nets are erected for the capture
of salmon. This station was once tolerably productive, at least

“in the latter mopths of the fishing season; but of late years, the
quantity taken has diminished materially. The lessee holds the
right of fishing from the proprietors of a great extent of coast.
The rent paid to proprietors within the parish is about L.60
yearly. During several months, nearly thirty men are employed.

Amount of Raw Produce—The following is an approximation
to the gross amount of raw produce yearly raised :—

Produce of grain of all kinds, .  L.10,500 0 0
potatoes, mrmpa, &o. . 2000 0 O
hay, 2,000 0 O
Jand in’ plsture, . . 7000 0 O
anunual thinning of wood, 100 0 O
fishery, (say) . . 200 0 O
quarries and mines, . 0 0 0

Total annual value of raw produce,  L.22,700 0 0

The annual rent of real property, as assessed in 1815, was L.7722.

The burning of lime”is the only branch of manufacture, with
the exception of the ordinary country artisanship. There are
two corn-mills driven by water, and & saw-mill lately erected, by
the Earl of Hopetoun, on the Nethermill Burn, the prospective
utility of which is very apparent, from the great extent of the
plantatlons, and the quantity of full-grown timber.

V.—ParocHiaL Economy.

Means of Communication—The nearest wmarket-towns are,
South Queensferry, distant three and a-half miles, and Linlithgow,
about six miles from the church of Abercorn. The former is the
most accessible post-town to the great bulk of the inhabitants’; com-
munication by a private runner takes place twice a-day. Thereis .
neither medical practitioner, general merchant, baker, nor butcher
within the parish ; the villages of Newton, Society, and Philpstoun,
being mere hamlets, and furnishing merely a few retail shops for
groceries. The cluster of houses near the church cannot be cal-
led a village. The turnpike road from Queensferry to Linlithgow
traverses the parish for nearly four and a-half miles, all the others
are statute-labour roads. These, together with the bridges across
the rivulets and canal, are kept in good repair. Stone and lime
walls are frequent, but the most prevalent fences are hedges and
dry stone dikes, which are efficiently maintained. The Union
Canal passes through the south part of the parish, near its
boundary, affording the most accessible means of public cone

v
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veyance; and the line of the Edinburgh and Glasgow Railway,
runs alongside, and in some parts but a few yards distant from the
canal. No harbour or quay exist, but small vessels with coal un-
load their cargoes on the beach, in the bay at Society ; and lime-
stone is some times exported in the same manner.

Ecclesiastical State—The church stands near the centre of
the north boundary of the parish, and close to the sea shore. This
situation is tolerably convenient, being about three miles from the
extreme points, while the greater part of the population reside
within two miles. Part of the church is very ancient ; the date of
its original erection is, however, unknown; it was enlarged and
fitted up soon after the Reformation, some of the old wood-work
bearing a. p. 1579. Built at various periods without much re-
gard to convenience or beauty, the form is most irregular, and the
accommodation was wretched until 1838, when a thorough repair
took place. Being now drained, floored, the walls lathed, and a
heated air apparatus constructed, it forms a comfortable place of
worship, nearly adequate to the wants of the community. There
are no sittings let, the whole, with the exception of the private
seats of the heritors, being allotted to the parishioners. The
church bell, of considerable size, and handsome workmanship,
presented by a naval gentleman, was formerly the bell of a Danish
ship of war, and formed part of the spoil at the battle of Copen-
hagen. Part of the manse is of an unknown date ; additions have
been made to it at various times ; it was last altered and repaired
in 1832, The garden is large, walled, and productive. The
glebe contains between five and six acres, and might let for L.15
a-year. The stipend consists of the following items: bolls of
wheat (old measure,) 43}; barley, 924;; meal,"16}2; total,
192¢{ ; money, L.50 ; for communion elements, L.8, 6s. 8d. ; and
the whole may average L.240. There is no dissenting place of
worship in the parish ; the nearestis at Queensferry. The num-
bers belonging to different denominations were in 1832 as follows,
nor have the proportions much altered since : Established Church,
192 families ; 948 persons of all ages; Seceders, 12 do. ; 41 do;
Episcopalians, 1 do; 2 do. The church attendance is very good.
A communion-roll, embracing all the members, has been kept
since 1832, and regularly revised by the kirk-session previous to
the dispensation of the Lord’s Supper, which takes place twice a-
year. The number on that roll is at present 390; the ave
number of communicants at each time, is 850, The kirk-session,
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onsisting of the minister and seven elders, has, for seven years
past, revived the custom, once maintained in the parish, of hold-
ing stated diets for prayer once a-month. This practice proves

# benefit in many respects. A parochial association has exist-
ed since 1835, whose funds are equally distributed among the
‘schemes of the Church of Scotland. A prayer meeting, connected
with the subject is held monthly, and a growing interest in the ob-
ject and success of missionary eunterprize is discernible since its
institution. 'The disposable funds amounted last year in contri-
butions, L.6; four collections at church doors, to L.18; in all dis-
tributed as above, L.24.

The ordinary collections and donations for the poor amount
yearly to L. 62, which, with L.18 of extraordinary collections,
gives L.80 as the average sum-collected at the church doors_for
all purposes.

Education.—There are two schools in the parish, the parochial
school, and one exclusively for girls, supported by the Countess
of Hopetoun. In the parish school, the greater part of the pupils
are receiving instruction in reading, writing, English grammar,
arithmetic, and geography. A few are taught mathematics, Latin,
Greek, and French. The school is opened and closed with prayer.
‘I'he Bible is employed as a class-book, and the Shorter Catechism
universally taught. The number in attendance is about 80, chiefly
boys. The explanatory system is vigorously pursued. At the

" female school, the children are instructed in reading, writing,
English grammar, and geography. The Bible and Shorter
Catechism are employed daily, and the teaching is efficient. The
number of pupils is about 70, all of whom are taught to sew. A
Sabbath school, undet the personal superintendence of the minister
and elders, has existed for some years, attended by 130 children.
Classes of male and female catechumens are taught on alternate
Sabbaths by the minister, averaging 14 males and 20 females,
from the age of thirteen to twenty. The parish schoolmaster was
permitted to retire a few years ago, retaining the salary, which is
the maximum, L.84, 4s. 44d. for life. An assistant and successor
is now supported, in part, by privdte subscription, and receives the
school-fees, the house, garden, the interest of a small mortification,
and the emoluments of the session-clerk’s office. These may
amount to, subscriptions, L.17 ; interest, L.2, 12s.; session-clerk’s
salary, &c. L.6; school-fees, about L.30; total, L.85, 12s. The
average emoluments derivable from the female school are, sub-
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scription, L.14; school-fees, about L.20; total, L.34, The pro-
per legal accommodation is furnished to the parochial teacher ;
and the teacher of the female school has a school-room, dwelling-
house, and garden, secured to her. The expense of education
varies from 8s. to L. 1 annually, according to the branches required.
About 12 children of the -poor are educated gratuitously by the
kinduess of the heritors.

Literature.— A parochial library was established in 1833, and
contains now 260 volumes of useful miscellaneous reading. The
charge is 3s. annually, and about fifty families avail themselves of
the advantage. A juvenile religious library of 180 volumes is at-
tached to the Sabbath school : the books, furnished by a public
collection some years since, are given out gratis. A friendly so-
ciety existed for a pumber of years, but unfortunately, the capital
began te diminish rapidly, from a deficiency of new contributors,
and the funds were lately divided amongst the subscribers.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—The opulent fumilies have all
along shown much attention to the wants of their superannuated
dependents, thereby limiting the demands on the poors fund.
The number of paupers on the roll is, at an average, 11 persons,
on whom depend 7. Occasional relief is afforded to 6 families.
'I’he highest annual rate of relief.to regular paupers is L.3, 12s.;

the lowest, L.2, 18s. No assessment has ever existed. ‘I'he re-
venue is derived from the following sources : average of collections,
L..62, 10s. 6d.; interest on a mortification and mortcloth dues,
L.17, 18s. 6d. ; total, L.80,9s. Deducting session-clerk’s, precen-
tor’s, Synod and Presbytery clerk’s fees, and sexton’s saiary, L.13,
8s. 6d., there remains for relief of the poor, .67, 6s,6d. A further
sum of L.19 is paid by the heritors, in voluntary subscription, for
the board of a lunatic. A strong feeling of honest independence
prevails, leading the people to strain every effort rather than re-
ceive babitual relief. Some striking instances of this spirit have
come to the writer’s knowledge.

Inns.—Besides a small inn at Society, there are three alehouses,
some of which might be beneficially dispensed with.

Fuel.—Coal is almost exclusively the fuel employed.

April 1843,

LINLITHGOW. (o}



PARISH OF TORPHICHEN.

PRESBYTERY AOF LINLITHGOW, SYNODOF LOTHIAN & TWEEDD.ALE.

THE REV. WILLIAM M. HETHERINGTON, MINISTER.

L.—Torograruy aND NaruraL HisTory.

Name.—THE name of this parish is evidently Celtic in its ori-
ygin; but etymologists are by no means agreed with regard to its
true composition and meaning. The word Tor is unquestionably
hill ; but the latter part of the name is more doubtful. Some as-
sert it to mean ten, and say that it refers to a range of hills in the
vicinity bhaving ten summits. The range, however, has not more
than seven distinct summits ; and the Gaelic word' fichead means
twenly, not ten, as they assume. The most probable derivation
seems to be Zorfzochan, or the hill of the Ravens. It may be re-
garded as some corroboration of this meaning that there is an
estate in the neighbourhood of the village named Craw Aill ; and
that the crest of the most extensive land proprietor in the parish
is a raven chained to a rock, as if in allusion to the parochial name.

Boundaries, Eztent, §c.— Torphichen is bounded on the east
by Linlithgow; on the south by Bathgate, and part of Shotts;
‘on the west by part of Shotts and New Monkland ; and on the
north by part of Slamannan and Muiravonside. Its greatest length
is about 10 miles from east to west, and its greatest breadth about
2} miles. In one part the breadth is less than a mile. It contains
about 10,429.77 English acres; and about 16.830 square miles.

Topographical Aspect.—The eastern part of the parish is very
agreeably diversified by a succession of woody elevations, sloping
terraces, and cliffy ridges, as it ascends towards the higher range
of hills by which it is divided from Bathgate and Linlithgow on
the east. The ridge immediately above the village has a peculi-
arly picturesque appearance when viewed from the east, consisting:
of a succession of rounded summits swelling along wave after wave,
as if some enormous ocean-tide had been suddenly changed to
solid earth throughout the continuou: sweep of all its billowy heav-

.



. TORPHICHEN, 35

ings. The western side of this beautiful ridge slopes gradually
down into softer uadulations, in the midst of which are situated the
village, the ehurch, and the Preceptory of Torphichen. The dis-
trict around the village is both fertile, and preseuts a pleasing and
remarkable diversity of picturesque aspects, as viewed from vari-
ous points, through clusters of woody ridges, and green trees, and
craggy cliffs of trap, till it sinks away into the hollow through
which flows the small stream, the Loggie. From thence it again
ascends into a sort of bleak upland, composed chiefly of stoney
elevations with a clayey subsoil, interspersed by long stripes and
flats of heathery bogs, and wet marshes, covered deep with peat
moss,

The highest hill in the parish is that central one of the Bath.
gate and Torphichen range, called Cairn-naple, or Cairn-paple,
which is just included within the angle of its eastern boundary,—
its height is stated to be 1498 feet. Towards the north the bound-
ary-line skirts the base of Cockleroi (perhaps Cachil-righ, the
King's chair), which is considerably lower ; and includes Bowden~
hill, which terminates the range in that direction. From the sum-
mit of any of these hills, especially Cachil-righ, may be obtained
a prospect scarcely surpassed by any in Scotland for extent, beauty,
and magnificence,—reaching from North Berwick Law to the dis-
tant cloud-crowned Beo Lomond, and including the view of Edin-
burgh with its castle, Salisbury Craigs, and Arthur’s Seat, the bays
and windings of the Forth, ¢ studded with islets and alive with
sails,”—therich and varied scenery of the Fifeshire coast, with all
its numerous villages and spires and towns,—the wavy outline and
the deep indentations of the massy Ochils, the fertile carse-land of
Falkirk, the gray towers of ancient Stirling, and the sky- piercing
peaks of the majestic Grampians.

Behind the mansion-house of Craw-hill, on the banks of the
river Avon, which are deep, rocky, and wooded, there is a chasm
commonly called Wallace’s cave; and close adjoiniog it there is
a natural arch in the living rock of very considerable size, within

.the deep clefts of which there are some beautiful and rather rare

varieties of lichens and mosses.

‘The climate is unquestionably good, though rather cold. The
air is pure and bracing, particularly in the eastern division of the
parish ; and even in the more upland and moorish districts west-
ward, there are no such exhalations as to be noxious to the health
of the inhabitants.
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Hydrography.—There are only two mineral springs deserving
of notice as such., At the westward base of the Kipps-hill there
is one said to be impregnated with vitriol. On the estate of Wall-
bouse, and about a mile west from the village, there is a chalybeate
spring, which formerly enjoyed some reputation as a tonic, but has
fallen into neglect, so that even its position is scarcely kmown,
Several other springs exhibit traces of mineral impregnation, bat
of o very decided character. )

On the very boundary of the Cathlaw estate, nearly due east
from the Preceptory, there is a very strong spring of deliciously
tasted pure water, called St John’s well; to which it is said the
Knights of St John used to go in days of yore for a morning
draught. Whether its virtues were medicinal, or of a more hal-
lowed character, tradition cannot exactly inform us; but still its
waters are thought to possess peculiar healing powers, if not still
rarer qualities, which operate in various cases as a charm. Near
it stood a stone, in some way connected with the well, and on the
very limits of the parish.

There is a beautiful little lake at Lochcote, about a mile to the
north-east of the village, in the hollow formed by the svrround-
ing hills of Bowden, Cachil-righ, and Kipps. It covers about 22
English acres. Formerly it discharged its surplus waters by a
stream from its north- west end, which formed a singular pool, cal-
led the eel-ark. From this pool it ran under ground for more than
200 yards, when it again burst upwards like a strong spring, and
continued its course into the Avon. This romantic little lake was
drained by a late proprietor, who thereby lost a great natural
beauty, and gained a few acres of deep, ill-reclaimed, and not half
arable marsh. The present proprietor (Joseph Hume, Esq.) has,
with great taste, determined to restore the lake, considering a beau-
tiful sheet of water more truly valuable as an ornament to his ele-
gant mansion on its margin, than could be the acquisition of as
much muddy soil and rank vegetation.

The little river Avon flows along the north boundary of Tor-
phichen, dividing it from the parish of Muiravonside. The Log-
gie is a much smaller stream than the Avon, into which it falls. It
forms the boundary between Torphichen and Bathgate for seve-
ral miles; but though its channel is considerably deep, its course
is not adorned with scenery of particular interest.

Geology and Mineralogy.—The most peculiar geological fea-
tures of the parish are to be found in the east-end of it, skirting
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the Bathgate range of hills. That range is-chiefly composed of
trap-rock as its central mass, with successive strata of limestone,
carboniferous shale, coal, sandstone, and thick beds of clay, gra-
vel, and other alluvial deposits. The ridge seems to have been
produced by igneous agency, upheaving the superincumbent stra-
ta, bursting through them in the centre, in some places overly-
ing them, in others rending them asunder and thrusting them aside
till it displayed the disturbing material in various aspects, occa-
sionally in that of columnar trap. The dip of the superincum-
bent strata is accordingly very steep, in some places almost per-
pendicular, in others a foot in five or six, and gradually diminish-
ing till it reach the level of the adjoining country. The pic-
turesquely undulating range of the Torphichen hills, already de-
scribed, is also composed of trap; and where it has been decom-
posed around their sides and bases, or in hollows, it has formed a
peculiarly rich and fertile soil, though of no great depth. On the
Hilderston hills, on the west side of the Bathgate ridge, there is
a coal mine, the mouth of which must be at least 800 feet above
the level of the sea. This height has been manifestly caused by
the upheaving of the ridge where the trap forced its way from be-
neath, raising in its passage the superincumbent’strata, as the mine
is worked in from the top where the coal crops out. Nearly oppo-
site, on the eastern shoulder of the same -hill, there is a limestone
quarry, in which many shells are found, chiefly ammonites, some
of which are unusually large. Some fossil fishes are also said
to have been found. A coal mine has been recently -opened in
the hollow between the Kipp hills, the Torphichen wavy rahge, and
the continuation of the Bathgate range, running through Cath-
law estate. The coal bed seems to lie in a kind of basin formed
by these ridges, and can scarcely be expected to be very produc-
tive or permanent from the nature of the situation.

In Bowden hill is another limestone quarry, or rather mine, en-
‘tered by a horizontal shaft in the side of the hill, and chambered
out regularly, leaving columns to support the roof of what is be~
comiong an immense cave.

Along the course of the Loggie burn there runs a chain of co~
nical sand-hills, of such a regular figure, as to have led to the er-
roneous popular belief that they are artificial, and have been rais~
ed at some distant period as menumental mounds. They are,
however, obviously natural, being composed entirely of fine sea-
sand, washed together into regular heaps and banks by the action
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of water, at some period indefinitely remote, when the whole cirs
cumjacent country had not yet emerged from the depths of the
ocean.

In the limestone quarry first mentioned, there was formerly
found a considerable quantity of silver ore, whence the place is
still called the silver mine; but the ore was not found to be either
sufficient in quantity or rich enough in quality, to repay the ex-
pense of working it ; consequently that has been abandoned.

There was also a coal mine on the property of Bridgecastle,
about two miles and a-half west from Torphichen village, whiclr
was wrought several years. Its quality is said not to have been -
very good, and it also has been neglected for some time, though
it is reported that the present proprietor, Captain Hope, R. N., in-
tends to open it again.

Zoology und Botany.—There is nothing known of the zoology
of this parish meriting peculiar notice. In botany it is worthy of
more attention ; less, however, on account of its possession of very
rare plants, than because nearly all the varieties of plants indige-
nous to the lowlands of Scotland, especially to trap districts,
may be found in it in a state of great perfection, and even some
almost peculiar ;to the Highlands. On Cathlaw estate the ly-
eopodium is found in great profusion; as also the wild gentian,
and some beautiful varieties of the polygala, or milkwort. There
are also some fine species of the orchis; and the trap hills of the
Torphichen ridge abound with the common wild heart’s ease in
greater profusion than can be seen almost any where else. There
are also some rather rare kinds of mosses and lichens found on the
moorish districts, and among the rocky banks of the Avon. Some
exotic plants have been occasionally found on the Kipps hills, as
if naturalized, which are thought to have been brought thither by
Sir Robert Sibbald in former days.

The soil seems to be adapted to the growth of timber of al-
most any kind, as appears from the well-wooded aspect of the dis«
trict in the eastern division of the parish. There are some fine
old trees of considerable magnitude around the mansions of Cath-
law, Lochcote, Wallhouse, and Bridgecastle; and on Cathlaw
hill and Hilderston hill there are some young plantations in a
very thriving condition,—indicating the possibilities of the district,
were a system of planting adopted generally by the proprietors.

II.—Civir. HisTory.
Almost the only account of the parish of Torphichen that has
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ever been written or printed is to be found in Sir Robert Sibbald's
History of the Shire of Linlithgow. There is also a somewhat
confused account of it in a brief history of Linlithgowshire by the
late John Penney, Esq. Information respecting its history and
antiquities may also be gleaned from papers connected with the
family records of the different proprietors, particularly the Noble
family of Torphichen. As these contain materials of some in-
terest, it has been thought proper to bring them together so as to
form a somewhat detafled and connected account.

The civil history of Torphichen is so intimately connected with
that of the Knights of St John of Jerusalem,’who had their Precep-
torate, or chief siteand regality there, thatashort account of that mi-
litary and monastie order of knighthood will be that of Torphichen
itself. This celebrated order had its. origin in the interval between
the first and second crusades, when, for the accommodation of the
pilgrims who visited the Holy Sepulchre, especially of the sick
among them, an hespital was built near the church, and dedicated
to St John the Almoner. As they increased in numbers and in-
fluence the brothers of the hospital first withdrew from the juris-
diction of the Abbot of the Latin Church, and finally became in-
dependent of the Patriarch of Jerusalem. This happened in the
year 1104, which may be taken as the date of the commencement
of the Order of St John of Jerusalem or Knights Hospitallers, as
they are sometimes termed, in contradistinction to the Order of
Templars. When Jerusalem fell into the hands of the Saracens
the survivors of the Order were compelled to retire into Italy,
where they obtained from Pope Innocent IV. a dispensation, ab-
solving them from their original obligation, and permitting them
to elect a Grand Master and other subordinate officers for their
own government. The same distinguished Order afterwards held
possession of the Island of Rhodes, maintaining it against the
Turks in the most brave and determined manner, during which
they were generally called the Knights of Rhodes. When
Bhodes finally was reduced by the Turks in 1522, the knights ob-
tained possession of Malta in 1530, which they defended against
their old antagonists the Turks, and in the defence displayed pro-
digies of valour and military skill.

The renown obtained by the Knights of St John gave rise to
several other orders of knighthood; of which the Templars were
the chief. The templars, however, excited the indignation of
Philip IV. of France by their licentiousness, or his cupidity by
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their wealth ; and were suppressed in the year 1812, Previous
to their downfall they had acquired extensive possessions in every
kingdom in Europe, which were either seized upon by the sove-
reign, or transferred to the kindred order of St John. In this
manner, the lands of both orders came to belong to the Johannites;
though in many instances they retained the name of Temple lands,
from the Templars, as being the best known, though not the most
ancient and honourable order.

As the Knights of St John had adherent®, so they soon acquired
possessions in every country in Europe. They were first esta-
blished in Seotland by David I. or Malcolm IV, in the year 1153.
In the charter granted by that monarch there occur the following
words: ¢ Qui in liberam et puram Eleemosynam donavit Fratribus
Hospitalis Hierosolymitani unum plenarium toftum in qualibet
Burgo totius terrze suz.” This small foundation was greatly am-
plified by additional grants from the succeeding kings, especially
by Alexander LI and IIL, Robert IL, and the Jameses 1I., IIT.,
and IV. These sovereigns vot only confirmed the donations of
their predecessors, but by new grants of lands, and by grants of
privileges, powers, rights of patronage, and civil immunities, they
bestowed at length a competent revenue and territory, and erected
the dignities of the order into what was termed the» Lordship of
St John and Preceptorie of Torphichen. The suppression of the

- Femplars tended greatly to augment the power of the Knights of

St John. By a canon of the Council of Vienua, and a bull of
Pope Clement VII, the whole lands and possessions of the
Kbights Templars in Scotland were conferred upon the Knights
of St John of Jerusalemi. The former had had their chief seat at
Temple in Mid-Lothian, the latter at Torphichen, which con-~
tinued to remain their chief seat or Preceptory. Not only did
their new acquisitions, however, retain the designation of Temple
tands, but even their own original property came to be called by
the same name, which has caused considerable confusion in the
attempts that have been made to discriminate between the lands
formerly held by the Templars and those held by the Knipfhts of
St John,

Several of the preceptors, priors, or grand-masters of Tor-
phichen were men of great talent, and distinguished themselves
in the public affairs of the kingdom. Mention is made of one
« Archibaldus Magister de Torphichen,” who is “witness to a
charter of Alexander, Great Steward of Scotland, in 1252,
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In the year 1298, while the heroic Sir William Wallace was
Regent of Scotland, he held his head-quarters at the preceptory
of Torphichen for some time previous to the battle of Falkirk, as
appears from a charter granted by him as regent, conferring some
lands at Dundee upon Alexander Scrimgeour, the royal standard-
bearer, as a reward for his services, which charter is dated at Tor-
phichen, the 29th day of March 1298.* It would seem that the
then preceptor had previously sworn fealty to Edward I of Eng-
land, as did so many Scottish nobles, but redeemed his character
for patriotism, aud afterwards fell at the fatal battle of Falkirk,
fought 6n the 22d of July 1298. His name is given by Rymer
as Alexander de Wells.

The next Preceptor of whom particular mention is made was
Sir William Knolles, who beld the preceptorate about half a cen-
tury, and was commeonly designated Lord St John. He held the
offices ‘of Councillor and Treasurer in the reign of James IV.,
and was killed fighting by the side of that brave but rash monarch .
at Flodden Field in 15618. He was succeeded by Sir George
Dundas, who had been the fellow-student of Hector Boetins at
Paris, and was distinguished for his learning. Sir Walter Lind-
say was the next preceptor, who also rose to distinction in the
kingdom, and was appointed to the office of Justice-General of
Scotland in the reign of  James V. In Sir David Lindsay’s
¢ Testament of Squyer Meldrum,” he is mentioned in the follow-
ing laudatory terms :

® ¢ Caarta Domint Gurieryur Warrace,
Custodis Scotizz, Nomine Johannis Baliol Regis cum sigillo ejusdem Jobannis.

¢ Willelmus Walays miles custos regni Scotiz et ductor exercitus ejusdem nomine
preclari principis domini Johannis dei gratia Regis Scotie illustris de consensu com-
munitatis ejusdem regni, omuibus probis hominibus dicti regni ad quos presensscrip-
tum pervenerit eternam in Domino salutem, Noverit universitas vestra nos nomine
predicti domini nostri regis Scotie per consensum et assensum magnatum dicti regni
dedisse et concessisse ac ipsa donationem et concessionem presenta carti confirmasse
Alexandro dicto Skirmischur sex marcatas terre in territorio de Dunde. Scilicet
serram ullam qua vocatur campus superior prope villam de Dunde ex parte boreali
cum acris illis in campo occidentali. Et etiam pratumn,regium in predicto territorio
de Dunde cum suis pertinenciis, libertatibus, et asyamentis sine aliquo retinemento
pro hamagis predicto domino regi et heredibus suis vel suis successoribus faciende, et
pro fideli servicio et succursu suo predicto regno impenso portando vexillum regium.
in excrcitu Scotie tempore confectionis presentiuth. Tenend et habend predicto
Alexandro et heredibus suis de predicto domino nostro rege et heredibus suis vel suis.
successoribus libere, quiete, integre, pacifice, et honorifice in perpetuum cum omni.
bus pertinenciis libertatibus et asyamentis ad dictam terram et pratum prenominatum.
et prefatum constabularium spectantibus vel quoquo. modo spectare valentibus in fu-
turum, faciendo inde annuatim domino regi et heredibus suis vel suis successoribus,
scilicet pro predictis terra, prato, et constabularia cum suis pertinenciis, libertatibus,
et asyamentis servicium quod pertinet ad dictam constabulariam t pro omnibus.
que de predicti exigi poterunt in futurum. In cujus rei testimonium sigilum tom-
mune predicti regni Scotiz presenti scripto est oppositum, datum apud Torpheichyn,
xxix die Martii, anno gratie millesimo ducentesimo nonagesimo octavo.”
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« The wise Sir Walter Lindsay they him eall,
Lord of St John and Knight of ’{orphichen,
By semand land a valiant capitane.”

Sir Walter Lindsay died in 1538, and was succeeded by Sin
James Sandilands, brother to Sandilands of Calder.. During his
preceptorate, the Reformation. began to stir men’s minds, and te
break up every thing established on no better fouadation than su-
perstition. - Sir James Sandilands joined the Reformers, and this,
together with the spirit of the times, caused the dissolution of the
order of Knights of St John in Scotland. He resigned into the
hands of Queen Mary the whole lands and baronies possessed by
the preceptors of St John, receiving them again in feu farm, to
him, his heirs, and assignees, for ever, upon condition of paying
to her Majesty 10,000 crowns of the sun,* and 500 merks of an-
nual feu-duty, The charter conveying to him the lands, &c. is
dated at Edinburgh the 24th day of March 1563. The most
important part of it is as follows :—¢ Dedisse, concessisse, et hae
Ppresenti carta nostra confirmasse, hereditarie dicto Jacobo Domino
de Sancta Johanne heredibus suis et assignatis totas et integras
terras et Baronias de Torpbichen, Listoun, Balintrodo, Tanker--
toun, Denny, Maryculter, Stennop, Galtua, cum tenentibus et
tenendiis et libere tenend : servitiis, advocationibus et donationibus
Ecclesiarum beneficiarum, et Capellanarum omnium et singularium
dictarum terrarum et Baronarum cum molendinis, multuris, silvis,
piscariis, castris, terribus, fortaliciis,” &c. It thus appears, that,
at the period of the Reformation, the Knights of John were in
possession of not less than eight baronies ; and the records of the
order eontain a document in the hand-writing of Sir Walter Lind-
say, which gives the same number and names. The last Precep-
tor, and first Lord Torphichen, resigned all these into the hands
of James VI, with the exception of Torphichen and Liston. The
church patronage held by the first 'Lord Torphichen in right of
the order were Torphichen, Inchinnan, Maryculter, Tullaich, and
Aboyne.

In the earlier periods of their history, the preceptors of Tor-
phichen sat in councils and Parliament alternately among the-
bigher clergy and the temporal barons. Sir William Knolles
was raised permanently to the dignity of a Lord of Parliament by
James IV., with the style and title of “ Lord of St John,” or
s Lord St John of Torphichen,” which title descended regularly

¢ 10,000 crowns of the sun, equal to about L.1100 Sterling,~—a large suni in those
days.
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to his successors, Sir George Dundas; Sir Walter Lindsay, and
Sir James Sandilands. When the charter of the new peerage
was granted to the last preceptor, it rendered that rank and title
hereditary which had previously been purely official, that is, vested
in the office of Prior, Grand Master, or Preceptor of the Order
of Knights of St John of Jerusalem, whose chief residence or
Preceptory was Torphichen. The oflice and the seat, therefore,
gave the title, which was not vested in or inheritable by, any pe-
culiar family ; and by the charter of 1563, the title was changed
into that of Lord Torphichen, but still remained attached to the
ancient Preceptory, as a local dignity, though the official dignity
had been abolished. The abolition of the official dignity ren-
dered the title hereditary in the preceptory itself, whosoever should
be its possessor, and in the family of Sandilands so long as they
should retain the possession.

In 1599, James, second Lord Torphichen (nephew of the first,)
conveyed the whole Temple and some of the Hospital-lands, with
the exception of the baronies mentioned above, to Mr Robert
Williamson, writer, and James Tenant of Linhouse. Williamson
became sole proprietor in 1604, and afterwards sold them to Sir
Thomas Hamilton, subsequently Earl of Melrose and Haddington,
This nobleman acquired a charter from the Crown, erecting the
lands so obtained into a barony, called the barony of Drem. The
act of Parliament ratifying this charter is dated 1614. This ba-
rony was disentailed by act of Parliament about the middle of last
century, and having passed through the hands of two or three
proprietors, appears to have at length become dermant, if not ex-
tinet.

In 1683, John, Lord Torphichen, upon the resumption by
Charles L, of the superiorities of chutch lands, felt apprehensive
that his rights as successor to a religious order might thereby be
prejudiced ; and after petitioning Parliament, obtained an award
of his Majesty, following a resolution of the Privy-Council, which
was to have the force of an Act of Parliament ; that the resump-
tion, while it included the temple-lands, &c. should be held in no
degree to encroach upon the superiorities of the barony of Tor-
phichen, in Linlithgowshire, within ¢ that mean portione thereof
quharin does subsist the title and dignity of Lords of Parliament,
and to quhilk the title of Lord of Parliament is annezit, perteining
to him (Lord Torphichen) presentlie in propertie ;” but that the
same * sall remain with him and his successors, according to the
tenor of his auld richts and infeftments, to be holden of his najesty
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i feu ferme for payment of the soume of ane hundrethe merks
yeirlie.” No other title being mentioned in the Act, except the
previous charter in 1563, it hence continued the regulating one,
to be in force as far as respected the remainder of the property
which had been still retained by the family. This “mean portione,”
wherein the title * subsists,” is probably the central part of the ba-
rony, including especially the preceptoryand its immediate demesne
lands, which was, perhaps, the most ancient part of the patrimony
of the knights.

The earldom of Arundel in England is beld, it appears, by
a similar tenure, the title being vested in the castle itself; and
this too was ratified-in the reign of Charles I,

The lands constituting the barony of Torphlchen have Men gra-
dually sold, till little more remains in the possession of the Noble fa-
mily than probably what constituted the original patrimony at first
bestowed upon the founders of the Order in Scotland, nearly 700
years ago ; but the portion which remains is that in which the
title is vested, lying around and ad;acent to the preceptory. It
would appear from a claim given in by John Gillon of Wallhouse,
November 10th 1747, that the lands of Wallhouse, South and
North Hilderstons, Torphichen mill, and other lands, were ori-
ginally beld under the lordship of St John, as he mentions that
they formed part of the regality of Torphichen, and that he had
acquired the superiority thereof, and right of regality by purchase
from James, Lord Torphichen. Mr Gillon states he bad procur-
ed a crown charter of resignation under the great seal, on the 22d
of June 1733, upon which infeftment followed on the 29th of the
same month. He claimed L.300 as the value, but his claim was
dismissed.

The lands of Lochcote, which are said to have belonged to the
same lordship of St John, enjoy the peculiar privilege of paying
po teind, apparently on the assumption of having been church-
lands.

Eminent Characters, &c.—Some of the most eminent characters
connected with the parish by birth or residence have been already
meantioned in the enumeration of the most distinguished precep-
tors of Torphichen. Of these, the last preceptor, Sir James San-
dilands, occupies the most prominent position, in consequence of
the part which he took in the Reformation. This distinguished
man, having left no family, was succeeded in his honours by the
son of his elder brother, Sandilands of Calder; and as Calder
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House had been long the patrimonial residence of the family, it
continued to be that of the Lords Torphichen, in consequence
of which, the preceptory and its appurtenances were comparatively
neglected, and allowed to fall into decay. Some portions of the
original barony, however, came inte the possession of cadets of the
family, of which perhaps the most noted was Sandilands of Hil-
derston.

During the stormy period of the Covenanters, the family of
Sandilands adhered to the principles of their ancestors; and both
struggled in defence of, and suffered with, the persecuted Church
of Scotland. William Sandilands, brother of the fourth Lord
Torphichen, and tutor to his nephew, the fifth Lord, was laird of
Hilderston. He married the second daughter of Cunningham of
Cunninghamhead, in Ayrshire, a gentleman distinguished, even in
that period, for his sincere piety. Hilderston and his lady were
both remarkable for their attachment to the Presbyterian princi-
ples of the Scottish Church ; and their mansion-house at Hilder~
ston was often the hospitable resort of the persecuted Covenan-
ters. There Mr Blackadder and others often held what were
termed conventicles, and heavy fines were on that account imposed
upon the family, Walter Sandilands, his son, married the heiress
of Westport, near Linlithgow, and assumed the name and arms of
Hamilton of Westport. He retained the same attachment te
Protestant and Presbyterian principles which had characterized
the family, from the days of their illustrious ancestor, Sir James
Sandilaunds, the last preceptor, and the personal friend of John
Kuoox. (See Wodrow, Vol. iii. p. 441.) This branch of the San-
dilands family is now represented by Colonel John Ferrier Ha-
wilton of Westport and Cathlaw.

It may be mentioned, that in the same troublous times, the rega-
lity of Torphichen is among those stated to have fallen into the
hands of his Majesty, in consequence of their possessors refusing
to take the test; and Lord Livingstone is recommended as the
person to whom it should be given, probably on account of his
want of principle and subserviency to that corrupt and tyrannous
court, which bad honoured Lord Torphichen by its dislike and
its feeble enmity. The then minister of Torphichen was also
ejected from his charge for refusing to take the same test ; asap-
pears by a report of the Committee for public aflairs, offering it
as their opinion that missives should be sent to the patrous of pa-
rishes vacant by the ministers’ refusal of the test, of which mis-
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sives one is directed to Lord Torphichen for the parish. (See
Wodrow, Vol. iii. pp. 360—1.)

Sir Robert Sibbald, an eminent Scottish naturalist and antiqua-
rian, was connected with this parish by becoming proprietor of
the estate of Kipps, in nght of his mother, heiress of the family
of Boyd, its former proprietors. He resided for some time at Kipps ;
and there are still to be found some proofs of his taste in some
kinds of exotic plants introduced by him, and now growing wild
on the lands. .

The Rev. John Bounnar is well known as one of the marrow-
men ; and subsequently as one of the ministers who assisted at the
remarkable revival of religion which took place at Cambuslang
in 1742, at which time he was still minister of Torphichen. It
is stated, that he was then very old, and so infirm that his journey
to Cambuslang occupied him three days, though the distauce
is not more than eighteen miles. Although none are now living
who enjoyed his ministrations, his memory is still held in the
highest respect and veneration. It appears, also, that Mr Gillon,
of Wallhouse, ancestor of the present W. D. Gillon. Esq. was at
that time an elder in Torphichen, and officiated as such at Cam-
buslang.

Mr Henry Bell, celebrated as being the person who first suc-
cessfully applied the steam-engine as a propelling power, for the
purpose of river and canal pavigation in Britain, was a native of
Torphichen. In a little spot of level alluvial ground, formed by the
Avon, in a bend of, that river, near Torphichen bridge, and shel-
tered by steep banks, may still be seen the ruined side walls, and
the solitary gable of the cottage in which he was born. A few
vears before his death he paid a visit to the secluded scene of his
infancy, with a view, it is said, of purchasing the spot, and erect-
ing another cottage, and in that calm retreat terminating a career,
the houours and rewards of which had been, as too often happens,
but ill proportioned to its usefulness. He did not, however, pro~
secute his intention, and the solitary ruin remains his melancholy
memorial.

Land-owners.—The chief land-owners are, the Right Honour-
able Lord Torphichen ; W. D. Gillon, Esq. of Wallhouse ;
Colonel Ferrier Hamilton of Cathlaw; David Pringle, Esq. of
Kipps; Joseph Hume, Esq. of Lochcote; Captain David Hope
of Bridgecastle ; William Wardrop, Esq. of Bridgehouse; Peter
Sawers, Esq.: R. C. Buchanan, Esq.; and Sir Thomas Living-
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stone, Bart. of Bedlormie. There are in all 87 proprietors, of
whom 25 possess lands of the yearly value of L.50 and upwards.

Parochial Registers.— The earliest entry in the parochial regis-
ters bears the date of 1650. Since that time they have been pret-
ty regularly kept, though they are somewhat meagre in their de-
tails. They amount, at present, to five volumes of no great size.
There are two volumes of acts of Assembly from 1690 to 1733;
but from that time till recently these acts have not been regular-
ly obtained. :

Antiguities.—The chief object of interest, in an antiquarian point
of view, is the Preceptory, or chief seat of the Knights of St John
of Jerusalem. It would appear, from the date of the original char-
ter, 1153, that the preceptory was founded in that year, as it was
the first property held by the Knights in Scotland, and continued
to be their chief seat. Its site was well chosen for both strength
and beauty ; at the base of the picturesque range of the Torphi-
chea hills, on the edge of a piece of marshy ground which fur-
nished water to fill a moat twenty feet wide, by which the build-
ing itself, and about a Scotch acre of land, were surrounded, of
which moat the course may still be distinctly traced. The upper
part of the building commnanded an extensive prospect towards the
Frith of Forth in the direction of Falkirk and Stirling ; as also,
the upper range of the Ochils, and the summits of the Gram-
pians. It appears to have been built, as most religious structures
were, in the form of a cross, of which nothing but the ¢ransept, or
cross-beam, necessarily the smaller division of that fignre, with a
tower at one angle containing a spiral staircase, are now remain-
ing. The walls of the rave, or main part of the fabric have long
disappeared entirely, but its foundation may still be traced so as to
give some idea of its original dimensions. The transept, or, as it
is commonly called, the choir, still remains almost entire. It is
about 72 feet long by 26 broad ; (inside 66 by 20, the walls being
above 38 feet thick ;) the nave was about 112 feet long. The interior
is composed of three lofty arched domes, supported by massive yet
handsome Gothic columns, 20 feet high before the spring of the
arch ; of these the central dome and its columnar shafts are dis-
tinguished by their symmetry and simple grandeur, and the key of
* the vault itself, in the central dome, being formed of an open ho-
rizontal arch, or rather complete circle, at right angles with the
arches of the vault, and sustained merely by their mutual and equal
pressure 30 feet above the level of the floor, the effect is peculiar-
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ly striking and elegant. In each end of the transept is a beautiful
Gothic window, formed by arched divisions and tracery of stone~
work, part of which has yielded to the dilapidations of time. Owing
to the marshy nature of the ground, the whole structure.seems to
have been built on strong piles of oak, driven deeply into the yield-
ing soil, and thus forming a perfectly secure foundation. Portions
of these piles have been occasionally dug up in excavating graves,
and found to be not only firm and entire, but even of a hardness
and compact consisténcy little short of black marble, such has been
the effect of the antiseptic qualities of the morass, together with
the pressure which they have so long sustained. A portion.of the
ground, formerly inclosed within the moat, still bears the name of
¢ the Knights’ Garden,” although it has long been cultivated by
the plough alone, and yielded no other produce than that common
to the adjacent fields.

Notwithstanding the entire disappearance of the aaoe, the larger
portion of the original building, there are no records, nor evea
traditions of its having been demolished by any sudden burst of
popular violence. From any such fate it may have been preserved
by its falling entire into the hands of Sir James Sandilands, who
could have no interest in its destruction, and whose influence with
the Reformers would be sufficient for its preservation. But as Cal-
der House very soon became the chief residence of the Lords
Torphichen, it was neglected, and, falling into decay, was used as
a quarry, whence stones might be procuredifor any necessary pur-
pose. That such was the case is evident from the fact, that many
houses in the village are built entirely of hewn stones, such in
size, form, and apparent age as those of the portion which still re-
mains standing, while the greater part of the stone walls by which
the adjoining fields are subdivided are composed of exactly similar
materials. In this manoer have the walls of the nave been carried
piece-meal at length entirely away. There was also, according to
tradition, another house of some size and unknown antiquity, built
close to one angle of the transept, a portion of which was standing
about eighty years ago, as the writer of this was informed by an
old woman who died in 1837 at the age of eighty-nine. It was
said to have been a separate tenement, built for the accommoda-
tion of the knights when their numbers had increased beyoad whiat
the preceptory could conveniently contain. It communicated with
the transept by a private door, which is still visible, though strong-
ly built up. While the lovers of antiquity must deplore the dila~

3
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pidations by which this ancient and very remarkable building has
suffered so severely, it must be gratifying to know, as it is to re-
cord, that it will be preserved henceforth from any such violence
and desecration. Its present Noble proprietor, Lord Torphichen,
has with great good taste and judgment recently protected it from
the wasting ravages of time and the weather by roofing it com-
pletely anew, and closmg the rents and chinks which here and
there had deeply scarred its hoary and venerable walls; so that re-
mote ages may continue to contemplate the sole remaining monu-
ment of what was once a mistaken, yet a very gallant Order of
vowed and conseerated warriors, mauny of whose exploits shed lustre
on the darkness of the middle-ages, like the path of a meteor
through the gloom of a lowering sky.

In the interior of the transept or choir, at its south end, beneath
ooe of the windows, is a curious arch, in the form of a canopy,
about six feet in span, within which it is said the bodies of the
knights were laid before interment, and during the performance
of the funeral rites ; and close beside it is a font for holy water.
Thers is an antiquely carved stone, built into a comparatively mo-
dern part of the inner wall on the west side, on which the follow-
ing inscription may with difficulty, and perhaps also with some un-
eertainty, be read : ¢ Gualterus Lindesay, Justiciarius Generalis
de Scotland, et Principalis Preceptor Torphicensis, 1538 The
inscription is in what is termed the black letter characters, and is
embarrassed by several abbreviations ;. but the above seems to be
its true reading, as far as can be made out.

In the churchyard stands a short square stone pillar, with the
outline of a St John’s or Maltese cross rudely carved on it. From
this as from a centre was measured in ancient times the sanctuary
of Torphichen, whieh gave, at least, temporary protection to any
person accused of crimes less than capital. Its limits were mark-
ed by four stones, each bearing the St John’s Cross, erected as
near as might be on the cardinal points, east, west, north and
south, each a Scotch mile from the central stone in the church-
yard adjoining the preceptory. They all still occupy their origi-
nal positions.

In a field adjommg the old peel-like mansion of Kipps, thero
are the remains of a Druid circle. The central stone, of a large
size, probably the stone of sacrifice, still occupies its original po-
sition, but has been split asunder, which tradition says was done
by lightning. Some of the stones that formed the circle have

LINLITHGOW. D



50 LINLITHGOWSHIRE.

been broken and removed, in order to give place to the plough ;
yet the outline of the circle may still be traced, which has been:
of considerable extent. There is an upright stone at no great
distance, connected, probably, with this ancient place of supersti-
tious worship, but of which the express use is not now known.

On the top of Bowden Hill are the traces of a camp, with a
deep trench surrounding it. Some antiquarians term it a Roman
camp ; but its circular, or rather oval shape, scarcely permits it
to be regarded as Roman. Some term it Danish, which is at
least equally improbable, as this district was never peculiarly sub-
ject to.the incursions of those invaders. Tradition gives no in-
formation respecting it, and history is equally silent. On the
Lochcote Hills, in the immediate vicinity, there is a large cairn,
and not far from it have been found several stone-coffins, which,
being opened, were found to contain human bones. A very dim
and uncertain tradition speaks of some bloody battles having been
fought in this neighbourhood, but states nothing as to the datey
or the parties between whom the contest was waged.

On the rising grounds above the Loggie Burn, there were se-
veral stone coffins found a-few years ago, of a very simple con«
struction, being merely thin stones set on edge, to mark the
length and breadth of the grave, with one long flat stone-cover
laid upon them; the bottom being merely the natural sand of
which that ridge is composed. Nothing is known respecting the
time or cause of these sepultures, beyond the usual vague tradition
of battles in times immemorial. .

Bridge Castle still remains in nearly its original condition,
though shorn of its original splendour. It was formerly the seat
of the Earls of Linlithgow, and still shows remains of its former
importance in a few trees of great age and considerable magnitude,
especially in height, by which it is partially surrounded.

About two miles to the south-west, may, by diligent search, be
discovered the ruins of the foundation of Ogilface Castle, the seat
of the ancient family of De Bosco, Barons of Ogilface. It fell at
length into the hands of the Earls of Linlithgow, and upon the
fall of that family, ceased to exist as a barony, and was sold in
portions to different proprietors, the chief of whom is now R. C.
Buchanan, Esq. It must bave been a place of some strength,
though of no great size, as appears from the outline of the ruins of
the foundation, as far as that can be still traced.

Bedlormie has also been a place of considerable antiquity and
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some strength. Its general structure resembles that of the Border
peels, consisting of a single square tower, the under storey of
which is constructed with a vault or stone arch, nearly fire-proof,
for greater security against sudden and desperate assaults. Such
is also the structure of Kipps, on a smaller scale. ’
Modern Buildings.—Of these there are none of any peculiar
. importance, except perhaps Wallhouse, the seat of W. D. Gil-
lon, Esq., and that at present being built by Mr Hume at
Lochcote, which, when finished, will be an ornament to the dis-
trict. There are of mills one for oats alone, one for oats and
barley, two lint-mills, and two woollen-mills, all generally well
employed. .
IIL.—PoruLarroN.
The census of 1841 may be taken, as giving an accurate view of
the parish at present :
*Population residing in villages,—Torphichen, 430 ; Blnckndge, 94, . 54
the country, about . 893
Ml7
The average of births, deaths, and marriages cannot be exactly
ascertained, owing to the migrations to, and connections with

other adjoining parishes, but may be estimated at about
Births, 24; deaths, 16 ; marriages, 5, annually.

The average nnmber of persons under 15 years of age, . 505
betwixt 15 and 30, . 335

30 and 50, . 259

50 and 70, . 143

above 70, . 68

There are no resident nobility, and very few famnhes of inde-~
pendent fortune residing in the parish. The number of proprie-
tors of land of the yearly value of L.50 and upwarda, 25.

IV.—INDUSTRY.

Rent of Land.—The average rent of arable land, about L.1
per acre ; average rent of grazing, L.3 per ox or cow per annum.

Wages.—Rates of labour average ls. 8d. per day summer; ls,
3d. winter for men, and for women about 10d. summer and winter.

Live-Stock.—The breeds of sheep and cattle are of the common
kind. A few of the Ayrshire cattle have been introduced, and
some improvement in that respect is taking place. The chief im-
provement in agriculture of which the district is susceptible, and
which indeed it requires, is draining, much of the land being very
wet. Some progress is making in this branch also ; but the want of
resident landholders, and of disposable capital, must tend greatly to
.impede agricultural improvement. The general duration of leases
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is fourteen or nineteen years. The farms are not large ; and the
style of farm-building corresponds ; some of them, however, are of
" a rather superior order.

Quarries.— There are two limestone, one sandstone, and two
granite quarries ; and there was once a quarry or mine of iron-
stone on the bank of the Avon, near Torphichen bridge, but it
has not been wrought for some years. The two limestone quarries
of Cathlaw and Bowden have already been noticed, as also the
coal mine on Hilderston, on Kipps,-and on Bridge-Castle estate.
It is said also that coal may be obtained on the Bridgehouse pro-
perty..

Produce.—The average amount of raw produce raised in the
parish has not been ascertained, and cannot be stated.

- Manufactures.— The only branches of manufacture in the parish,

if such they can be termed, are two flax niills, and one mill for

the manufacture of wool, part of which is wrought into shawls.
V.—ParocuiarL Economy.

Market-Town.—There is no market-town in the parish; the
nearest is that of Bathgate, distant from Torphichen village about
two miles and a-half. Linlithgow is little more than four miles
and three-quarters distant. There are two villages in the parish,
Torphichen and Blackridge.

Means of Communication.—The means of communication en-
joyed by the parish are, the turnpike-road from Linlithgow to
Bathgate, about two miles and a-half of which is within Torphi-
chen ; that from Linlithgow to Glasgow by Armadale, about one-
and a-half of which is within Torphichen ; and about three miles
of the middle road from Edinburgh to Glasgow, passing through
the west end of the parish. The parish roads are kept in general
in a very good condition ; and are upheld by an assessment upon
the land at the rate of L. 2 each ploughgate, which is estimated
at seventy acres,

Ecclesiastical State.— The parish church is situated close beside
the village of Torphichen, its eastern gable resting on the ancient
preceptory. It is within about a mile of the east end of the pa-
rish, consequently is by no means convenient. for a very large ex-
tent towards the west. As, however, the eastern district is the
most populous, the chureh is tolerably convenient for nearly two~
thirds of the population. It was built in 1756. It affords accom-
modation for about 450. Being allocated to the differént proprie-
tors of land and their tenants, its sittings are free to such persons,

L 24
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"but cannot be let to any others, except by private bargain between
the pames themselves. There are about fifty-eight sittings not
allocated, in what are called the table-seats, where, consequently,
the poor may sit free. The manse was built above 100 years ago,
and enlarged about thirty years ago, since which time it has
obtained no repairs. The glebe is above eleven acres, only six of
which are arable. It lets in grass for about L.13. The stipend
is L. 150, of which L. 25, 7s. is granted by the Exchequer.

There has been a new church built by subscription at Black-
ridge. It was opened for public worship on the first Sabbath of
June 1838. A minister has been recently chosen for it, who is to
be supported by the seat-rents and collections, by which it is hoped
that about L. 60 will be obtained. It cannot yet be stated what
number of people may attend the church at Blackridge, asit is not
yet in full operation, consequently the respective numbers of
Churchmen and Dissenters in that district cannot be stated. The
attendance at the parish church is almost equal to the amount of
accommodation afforded by the church, and is very regular. The
average amount of communicants is 350. Average church collec-
tions for charitable purposes, L. 25 ; for religious purposes, L. 12.

Education.—There are three schools in the parish, of which two
are parochial, and one unendowed. The branches of instruction
generally taught in each are, reading, writing, aritbmetic, mensu-
ration, book-keeping, and rarely Latin. The salary of the paro-
chial schoolmaster at Torphichen is the maximum ; at Blackridge
L. 29 of a mortification and 100 merks.

Libraries.—There are two parochial libraries in the parish, one
at Torphichen, the other at Blackridge, both of which are pretty
well supplied with books, well selected, and carefully perused.

Friendly Societies.—There is one Friendly Society.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—The average number of persons
receiving parochial aid is 18 ; the sum allotted to each varies
considerably, but the average, including house-rents, is about
L. 4, 14s. 6d. per annum, or about 1s. 9d. weekly. The anuual
amount of church-door collections is about L. 25 ; from sums mor-
tified, or otherwise disposed at interest, there is obtained about
L. 25; and the heritors have assessed themselves voluntarily to
the amount of about L. 35 per annum, making the sum annually
expended for the maintenance of the poor about L.85. Itis to
be regretted, that the lofty and generous reluctance to receive pa-
rochial aid, formerly characteristic of the poer, is declining, and
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also, that, instead of being received as a boon, it is beginning to
be demanded as a right,—than which nothing can be more de-
structive to genuine charity. T'his is to be ascribed chiefly to the
non-residence of the proprietors, which diminishes the church-
door collections, dries up the springs of private charity, drains
away the local wealth, and, abating the demand for labour, keeps
wages low, and prevents the labouring classes from rising above
the pressure of necessity, and the near approach of poverty.

April 1843,

PARISH OF CARRIDEN.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALB.

THE REV. DAVID FLEMING, MINISTER.

I.—Torocrariy aAND NaTuraL HisTory.
Name.— THe modern name of the parish is Carriden. In Gil-

das’ ¢ De excidio Britanniz,” A. 0. 560, it is written Kair Eden.
Foredun, the Scottish historian, who lived about the year 1308,
calls the village that was in existence in his days Karedin ; and
in Richard of Cirencester’s History of Roman Britain, written
about 1338, the orthography is Cerridden. The word is under-
stood to be of Celtic or ancient British derivation, and to denote
the relative position of the then existing village as a military sta-
tion, or the specific character of its locality. Chalmers, in his
Caledonia, represents it as being the same with Caer Adin or
Eden, which, in the British language of Roman times, signifies fort
on the wing, or projectivn like a wing.

Eztent, §c.— According to Forrest’s survey of the county, fur-
nished in 1817, the length of the parish from east to west is 3 sta-
tute miles, and nearly 2 furlongs; and the breadth from north to
south wants half a furlong of 2 miles ; the number of square miles

which it contains being 424. It is bounded on the east, by the

parish of Abercorn ; on the west, by the parish of Borrowstounness ;

on the north, hy the Forth ; and on the south, by the parish of

Linlithgow ; presenting the appearance of an irregular four-sided

figure, the longest side stretching along the shores of the Forth.
4
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Topographical Appearances.—The surface is very unequal, ris-
ing from the shore by a quick ascent, with a varied undulating
form for about a mile, and then in general declining to the south.
The most elevated ground lies towards the south-western part
of the parish, near its junction with Linlithgow and Bo’ness, form-
ing part of the Irongath * hills, or what is vulgarly named Glowr-
owre-em, and subsiding in an eastern direction by a gradual de-
clivity. The highest point is 519 feet above the level of the sea,
or high water of spring tides. There are no natural cavities ; but
the ground has been excavated to a considerable extent in the
north-west of the parish for coals and ironstone, in consequence
of which, by the settling of the superincumbent strata in the old
wastes, the surface was at one place broken into a number of small
concave cisterns, which in the course of agricultural i improvement
have been filled up and levelled; and within the last twenty or
thlrty years, several instances have occurred in different places of
the ground suddenly giving way and leaving large holes in the open
field. The coast along the Forth, including its windings, extends
to about three miles and a-half, having, through a considerable
portion of the line, at high water mark, a margin of sand and cal-
careous mixture several feet broad, thence stretching out to low
water-mark, for several hundred yards, in a sleechy flat, composed
of alluvial soil, with more or less of sand, and showing here and
there a small bank formed of drifted oyster shells. Of late, ow-
ing to the encroachments of the sea, the sandy margin has been
undergoing a change, and becommg more of a rough stony deserip-
tion. Occasionally there is an appearance of rock. At two
places the land points into the Frith,—the one, called Bridgeness,
near the western extremity,—the other forming the eastern ‘extre-
mity of the parish, named Blackness, a rather remarkable rocky
promontory on which Blackness Castle is situated.. Within a few
yards of the shore the ground rises into a steep bauk, ranging
from the junction with Bo'ness parish, till it falls into a gentle
acclivity near the church, to the east of which it ‘again- becomes
more abrupt, and so continues along the whole coast eastward,
till it loses itself in the point of Blackness.

There is no good bathing-ground along the coast except at
Blackness, though not a few families from different quarters inland

* Otherwise called Afrncoth. Bibbald says thm isa trndmon, that a battle was
fought there between the Romans and the natives under Argadus, and thence the hill

took she name of Arged.
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annually resort to the shore of the Frith, for the benefit of bathing,
and of the sea air. It is difficult, except at high tides, to reach
a sufficient depth of water without wading to a considerable dis-
tance, and the footing in the soft yielding sleech is by no means
agreeable ; besides, the water is not a little muddy, especially when
it is in any degree agitated : and, sometimes, considerable quan-
tities of peat moss in large coberent masses or in a pulpy state
are deposited on the shore, which has been floated down the river
in the process of clearing the extensive moss fields at Blair-Drum-
mond and other places in its vicinity.

Meteorology.—The prevailing winds are from the south-west
aond west. Next to these in frequency is the east wind. The se-
verest storms of snow are commonly from the east and north-east.
The following table gives the number of days in each month dur-

ing which the wind blew from any particular point of the compass
in 1834 :

N. NE E 8.E 8. SwW. W N. W,
January, [1] 1 4 (1] 1 15 0 0
Febroary, . 0 0 0 0 2 23 3 0
March, 2 (1] 1 (] (1] 16 1 1
April, 2 4 7 4 0 S 9 1
May, ) 1 8 1 4 9 2 ]
June, 0 0 1 1 3 12 11 2
July, 1 ] 13 1 - 1 7 5 0
August, . 0 1 8 1 3 9 9 0
September, 0 4 8 0 1 9 8 (]
October, . O 1 0 0 1 ¥?7 6 6
November, . 0 0 ) 0 0 14 8 8
December, . © 0 2 0 1 17 1 . o0
Total, 6 15 5 8 17 151 98 5]
Easterly, 80. Westerly, 262

The average height of the thermometer and baremeter for each
month in the same year stands as under :

Therm. Barom. Therm. Barom..
January, . 40.06 29.1 July, . . 61.16 29.6
February, . 90.32 20.4 August, . . 5958 2945
March, . . 41.12 205 September, . 5448 2035
April, . . 44.43 2945  October, . . 47.96 2885
May, . . 58% 207 November, . 4248 205
June, . . 57.90 29.15 December, . 4029 298

Average for the year, thermometer, 48.50; barometer, 29,35,
The hottest days were, July 4th and 7th, when the thermometer
stood at 66°. On August 17th, the notation was 65° and on
July 24, 8d, 22d, August 2d, 14th, 15th, 16th, September 19th,
and 20th, it was 64°. The greatest degree of cold was in De~
cember 19th, when the mercury indicated 29°; the next coldest
days were December 18th and 20th, the degree being 80°, and
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rext to these were January 29th, November 238d, December 23d
and 27th, the mercury standing at 32°. The lowest range of the
barometer was on December 1st, when it showed 28.08, the wind
being south-west, and the thermometer 44°; the highest range
was on December 23d, being 31.01, when the wind blew from
the west, and the thermometer stood at 32°. The observations to
which the foregoing tables and statements refer, it may be proper
to add, were taken about a mile from the coast, at a slight elevation
above the sea.

The climate is in general dry, pleasant, and healthful, though
variable.

Hydrography.—The Frith of Forth bounds the parish on the
north, to the extent of about three miles in a straight line, the
breadth at high water averaging about four miles, with an average
depth of 94 fathoms in the channel. The water is never very
transparent, and when ina state of commotion, it is turbid and mud-
dy, of a lightish brown tinge, from the quantity of alluvial matter
which it holds in solution. Its saltness is considerably diluted by
the fresh current descending from above, but is nevertheless of
quality sufficient to furnish a productive material for the maoufac-
ture of excellent salt.

There are two small streams that traverse the parish, both of
very insignificant dimensions, viz. Blackness burg, which rises in
the Irongath hills, and after ruoning eastward, joins the Forth
on the east side of the eastle of Blackness, where it separates the
parish from Abercorn; and Carriden burn, which passes into the
Frith on the west side of Carriden House, to the situation of which
it adds considerable attractions by the natural beauty of its banks,
having formerly served as an outlet to a small loch on the estate
of Grange, that has been drained and is now under cultivation.

Geology and Mineralogy.— The general characteristic of the mi-
neral structure is of the coal formation. Passing along the coast
from the westward, we fall in with trap or hard whinstone at Cow-
denhill, Bridgeness, and Cuffabouts. A little farther to the east,
between the old manse and Burnfoot, there is a bed of light grey
sandstone, which dips to the south-west with a declination of 11°
About a quarter of a mile onward, shale and indurated clay, with
some bands of calcareous sandstone, appear at the surface within
the sea mark, the dip continuing to the south-west. A dislocation
in the strata appears to have taken place about a mile farther east-
ward, the rock consisting of clay sandstone in thin layers, and lying

L)
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in an opposite direction to the north-east. About 400 yards west
of the village of Blackness, a bed of calcareous ironstone crops out
on the beach, dipping into the sea in the same direction, which,
when carefully prepared, forms a hydraulic cement of a very supe-
rior quality ; for which purpose it was wrought some years ago,
and is again in contemplation of being wrought. This stratum is
covered with a strong shale, otherwise called blea, varying in thick-
ness from 1 to 20 feet, interspersed with balls of clay ironstone,
the under layer being of the kind called alum shale, and separated
from the upper by a thin band of ironstone. The alum shale was
formerly employed in the manufacture of soda, but the work has
been lately discontinued and dismantled. About twenty yards-
farther into the sea, a freestone rock of a rough granular texture
rises to the surface, and runs in the same direction as the cement
stone, forming the covering towards the castle hill, which consists
entirely of trap rock, declining by 12}°, also to the north-east.
In the interior, to the south-west of the parish, trap is chiefly to
be met with. . A

There are many seams of coal in the parish, some of which
‘have been wrought at their crops or outbursts, centuries ago. The
coal-field that is in the western division of the parish is supposed
to extend across the Frith, and to be connected with the coal
formation in the opposite district in the county of Fife. The
strata are known to the depth of 1385 fathoms, having been
passed by the miners in sinking pits and other operations in
the coal mines. The deepest seam that is known is the carsy
coal, rising to the north-east along the sea shore. This seam
and the smithy seam come out to the surface a short distance
40 the east of Burnfoot. - The foul coal and red coal take on
to the west of the road leading to Linlithgow ; the western
main coal is only in the south-west of the parish, as there is not
sufficient cover for this seam to the east and north. This coal
field passes through the south-west boundary of the parish in.
1o the parishes of Borrowstownness and Linlithgow. In the southern
division of it, the strata dip nearly north, with a declination of one
foot in three. In approaching the north, the dip gradually comes
vound more to the west; in the middle of the field, the dip is
north-west, with a declination of 4 in 6 to 1 in 10,

The following is a journal of the strata passed through in sink-
ing the engine or mingle, and the burn pits, which are the same
jn both, with a slight variation in the proportions :
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Fath. Ft. In, Fath, Ft. In,
Diluvial soil, yellow clay with Pérrot coal, bad quahty, 01 6
send, 4 5 0 Blea, . . 0 8 0
Sandstone, . 0 2 0 Foulcoal, . 1 0 9
Splinty coal, 0 2 3 Bles with sandstone bandx, 2 2 9
Sandstone, . 8 O 6 Hard sandstone, 4 1 10
Blea with ironstone bands and Rough sandstone, . 4 4 9
balls, . 3 4 2 Bles, . 0 1 1
Sendstone, . . 7 2 4 Eastern n eoal, . 0 4 2
Blea, 1 110 Sandston?.l . 1 0 o
Western main coal, luvmg two Blea, . . 1 4 9
bands of stone throughit, 3 0 O Sandstone, . 0 2 7
Hard whinstone, . 2 4 8 Blea, . . 0 8 O
Blea, . . S 0 8 Coal, . . . 0 0 7
Hard whinstone, . 8 4 5 Sandstove, 0 8 10
Soft whinstone, 1 3 0 Blea . A 1 2 5
Redstone band, qmm rock, 0 3 9 Sandstone, . . 2 4 7
Soft whinstoue, 1 1 5 Bles, . . 3 8 6
Hard whinstone, 0 8 O Smithy coal . 0 2 1
Seudstone, R . 8 0 6 Sandstone, . B 0 4 v
Red coal, . 0 2 11 Bles, . . 117
Sandstone, . 2 0 11 Calcareous ironstone, 0 1 6
Blea with sandstone bands, 8 8 9 Blea, . . 0 1 1
Sandstone, . 1 5 10 Carsy coal, 0 1 4
Blea, . . 2 2 0

There are several dikes that throw the strata up, partly to the
south, but generally to the north. These dikes vary from one to
twenty fathoms, running chiefly from south-east to north-west,
and may be termed slips rather than dikes, as they seldom occa-
sion any rise, and merely disjoin the metals without producing
much alteration in their relative position. To the east of Burn-
foot, after passing the crop of the Carsy coal, it is thought that
no coal is to be found. No attempt by boring has been made to
ascertain what minerals exist beneath the surface; but it is sup-
posed that the strata lie beneath the coal measures. It is a cu-
rious fact, that in a district where so many seams of coal occur,
whinstone should be found so abundant. The Irongath hills
consist of hard whinstone, resting on the coal strata; nor does it
present itself only in crops on the tops of eminences, but is found
in regular seams between, and sometimes even in actual contact
with the coal. In these hills, there is a bed of coal, varying from
one to eight or ten feet in thickness, which has whinstone both
for its roof and pavement; and between the western main coal
and the red coal, the seam of whinstone is about 70 feet thick.
The fossil remains that have been found in the coal formation
consist of reeds of different kinds. Shells and impressions of
leaves are also of more or less frequent occurrence; and a few
years ago, the workmen fell in with a beautiful specimen of that
«curious extinct genus of fossil plants, the lepidodendron, but, un-
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fortunately, only a small fragment of the interesting relic was
recovered. _Ironstone appears to have been wrought in former
times to some extent to the west of the church.

The alluvial deposits in the west part of the parish, near the
shore, consist of sea sand and shells resting on blue clay and mud,
the clay resting on the coal formation; and in the south-west,
there is found yellow brick clay, and yellow clay with sand and
gravel. The soil is of all varieties, from that of a light sandy
texture to the richest loam and heavy clay. The subsoil is also
very various, in some places being free and open, in others of a
rocky description, and in others tilly and retentive. The boul-
ders that have been met with, are trap, but different from that of
the neighbourhood, and must have come from a distance, their
weight varying from three or four cwt. to four or five tons.

Botany.—There is but a small portion of the parish covered
with wood, and that chiefly ornamental, planted for the most part
on declivities and other parts of the surface, inapplicable to the
-usual purposes of husbandry. The prevalent sorts of trees are
the plane, the ash, the elm, the beech, the larch, the oak, and
the lime, which are all promiscuously intermixed, and seem all
equally adapted to the soil. The full-grewn trees, which are but
few in number, are chiefly in the neighbourhood of the old man-
sion-houses ; and as a proof of the geniality of the climate and
vigour of the soil, it may be stated, that, within a few feet apart
from high water mark, immediately below Carriden House, several
trees of respectable size and appearance stand strong and healthy
in growth, stretching their branches and foliage over the flood at
full tide.

IL—Civir HisTorv.

Accounts of the Parish.—Several incidental notices of it are to
be met with in the works of antiquarian writers, from its being the
eastern termination of Antoninus’s wall, and the site of other an-~
cient Roman works ; but the only detailed accounts, besides the
former Statistical Account, with which the writer is acquainted,
are to be found in Sir Robert Sibbald’s History of Linlithgowshire,
. Chalmers’s Caledonia, and Penney’s Topographical and Histo-
rical Account of Linlithgowshire.

Historical Events.—The only events of any note on record
bave a reference to the history of Blackness Castle, an ancient
royal fortress, which never appears to have been considered of
much importance asa military statiog, though, by the Act of Union,
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it is one of the few ancient fortified places in Scotland that are
stipulated to be preserved in a state of repair. In 1548, under
the regency of the Earl of Arran, the castle was garrisoned by
the French, whom Henry II. sent over under the command of
Monsieur D’Essé, to support the pretensions which he derived
from the matrimonial alliance that was contemplated between the
Princess Mary and his eldest son the Dauphin. When Mary of
Guise wis promoted to be Regent, the castle again came iato the
possession of the French; but on the 14th April 1560, it was
taken from fiem by the Sheriff of Linlithgow. In February 1571,
it was manned with a garrison by Lord Claud Hamilton, a zealous:
partizan of the Queen; and it appears to have been held in her
interest till February 15673, when it was delivered up to the Re-
gent, the Earl of Morton, along with 50,000 double ducats, being
the Queen’s dowry; which had been brought from France by
James Kirkaldy the preceding-month, and with the written docu-
ments relative thereto. During the occupancy of the. castle by
the Queen’s troops in April 1572, an inroad was made by them
upon the opposite coast, when they  spoulzeit” the towns, and
returned to Blackness with considerable booty. On two occasions
during the same period, an attempt was made upon the castle by
the opposite party. In the same month and year as last men-
tioned, a ship of war, well furnished with artillery, was sent from
Leith to ¢ asseige” the castle, but was driven from the station
where she had cast anchor, with great danger, by the violence of
the weather; and in the year following, an attack was made to
carry the place by surprise, which failed of success by * the gar-
rison being on the alert.” *

During the troublous times of the struggle between Presbytery
and Episcopacy, the castle appears to hdve been employed chiefly
for the purposes of a state prison, and was the place of confine-
ment where many, who were obnoxious to Government for their
koown adherence to the principles of religious and civil liberty,
were immured. By a decreet of the secret council of James VI
in February 1584, the celebrated Andrew Melville was adjudged
to be committed to ward in the Castle of Blackness for declining
their authority to decide upon the doctrine taught in a public dis-
course which he had delivered at St Andrews. After the warrant
of committal bad been served upon him, however, he made his
escape to Berwick. During the same year, the clorgy in and near

’ * Diwrnal of Occurrents.
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Edinburgh, having been apprized that measures prejudicial to  the.
Kirk and its discipline” were to be resolved on at a meeting of
Parliament appointed to be held in May, prevailed upon David
Lindsay, minister at Leith, who was most acceptable to the
court, to intercede with the king for the interposition of his autho-
rity till the Assembly should be heard in the matter ; but, when-
‘he was entering the gate of the palace in discharge of his com-
mission, he was apprehended and carried to Blackness. There,
also, the ministers of Edinburgh were condemned to a temporary
confinement in 1587, for refusing to pray for the Qfeu’s delive-
rance; their refusal being ¢ not simply to pray for her, but for the
preservation of her life, as if she had been innocent of the crimes
laid to her charge.” In 1594, the Earl of Angus, one of the ex-
communicated Lords, was required to deliver himself up to cus-
tody in Blackness, till he should undergo a trial, but refusing, was
subsequently with the others found guilty of high treason. From
August 1605 till towards the close of the following year, John
Welsh, minister of Ayr, who had married John Knox’s daughter
Elizabeth, along with five other clergymen, were confined in the
castle for refusing to condemn the Assembly that had met a short
time before at Aberdeen, when they were  banished the king’s
dominions upon the pain of death.” About the same time, a state
prisoner of a different description, Gilbert Brown, abbot of New
Abbey, ¢ a trafficking and seducing Papist,” who bad been appre-
hended by Lord Cranstoun, was lodged for a few days within its
walls, till he was transported to the castle of Edinburgh. In
1624, William Rigg, one of the bailies of Edinburgh, was de-
prived of his office of magistrate, condemned to be imprisoned in
Blackness Castle, and fined in L.50,000 Scots for challenging the
doctrine taught by the Episcopal clergy. He was charged as being
¢ the chief ringleader of the non-conformitants in Edinburgh, and
that he contributed liberally to the printing of books which crossed
the course of conformitie.” The second Lord Bargeny, (Joha
Hamilton), who was served heir to his father, the first lord, on the
17th October 1662, as the retour in Thomson’s Abridgement
bears, « in terris dominicalibus de Carriden, Law, et Dyland, cum
maneriei loco de Carriden, infra baroniam de Carriden,” was a
prisoner in the castle in November 1679. In his indictment before
the Court of Justiciary, dated 24th February 1680, he is inter
alia charged with * corresponding with John Welsh,” grandson
of the former worthy of the name, * a factious trumpet of sedition
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and treason, entertaining notour rebels in his house, publicly
maintaining the principles of Naphtali, Jus Populi, Lex Rex, and
declaring that Scotland would never be well till it wanted Episco-
pacy, and the present government of the Church was destroyed,
as unfit for the nation;” but the trial was never brought on from
want of evidence. This nobleman entered heartily into the Re-
volution, raised a regiment of 600 infantry for the public service
in 1689, and died on the 25th May 1693. From an act of the
Secots Parliament, we learn, that another sufferer in those times of
religious perfecution was John Hay of Lochloy, who was in 1683
committed prisoner for the space of thirteen months, ¢ pairtly in
the tolbuith ef Edinburgh, and pairtly in the castle of Blackness.”
His offence was his hearing the nonconforming ministers.

There are still attached to the castle a governor and lieutenant-
governor, but both non-resident. When the former Btatistical Ac-
count was written, the garrison consisted of 2 gunners, 1 serjeant,
2 corporals, and 12 or 15 privates. Lately, the barrack furniture
has been removed, and now the only inmates are an inferior officer,
and his wife and daughter.

Eminent Characters.— Colonel James Gardiner, who fell in the
battle of Prestonpans in 1745, and whose life, as recorded by Dod-
dridge, affords so impressive and affecting an example of the power
of divine grace and the influence of Christian example, was born
in this parish at Burnfoot, where are yet pointed out the window
of the apartment in which it is alleged that he first drew the breath
of life, and two trees, an apple and a pear, said to have been plant-
ed by bis hands, but which are now in a state of gredt decay.

In the new churchyard lie interred the remains of Dr John Roe-
buck, a native of Sheffield in England, and projector of the exten-
sive iron-works at Carron. Besides originating other important
establishments connected with the arts in different parts of the
island, this ingenious and enterprising individual was united in
partnership with the celebrated James Watt in perfecting his im~
provements upon the steam-engine ; and the story is told, that the
first time the great engineer succeeded in setting his working mo-
del agoing was in Dr Roebuck’s dining-room, who was then resi-
dent in Kinneil House, as lessee of the Duke of Hamilton’s coal
-and salt-works near Borrowstounness. -

The late Sir John Lees, Private Secretary to the Marquis of
Townshend when Lord-Lieutenant of Ireland, and who afterwards
filled the office of secretary to the post-office in Dublin, was in his
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youth brought u[') in this parish. He was eminently successful in
life, and affords a memorable example of the distinguished place
in society to which the careful cultivation and judicious application
of superior talents may raise their possessor. He was created a
baronet on the 21st June 1804.

As proprietor of the estate of Carriden, the late Rear- Admiral
Sir George J. Hope, K. C. B., became connected with the parish
above twenty years ago. He was a very distinguished officer, and
highly appreciated in the service for his exemplary discipline, his
decision, promptitude, and bravery, and his veneration for religion.
He entered the navy at the age of fifteen, in the year 1782, and
after passing through the usual gradations, attained the rank
of captain in 1798, and that of rear-admiral in the year 18l1.
During the above period, he commanded the Romulus, Alcmene,
and Leda frigates, the Majestic, Theseus, and Defence seventy-
fours, being present at the battle of Trafalgar in the ship last
named, and served as captain of the Baltic flest during 1808 and
the three subsequent years. In the year 1812, he went to the Ad-
miralty, which he quitted temporarily in the following autumn to
bring over the Russian fleet to England during the French inva-
sion of that country. In 1813, he held the chief command in the
Baltic, and at its termination returned to the Admiralty, where he
remained as confidential adviser to the First Lord till his death on
the 2d May 1818; thus closing a life spent in unremitting active
service in the discharge of the duties of the highest posts of our
naval administration.

Land-owners.—The Duke of Hamilton ; the Earl of Hopetoun ;
Sir James Dalyell, Bart. of Binns; James Hope, Esq. of Carri-
den, Post-Captain in the Royal Navy; James S. Cadell, Esq. of
Grange ; and James Johnstone, Esq. of Straiton, are the principal
proprietors of land. Captain Hope holds the place of first heri-
tor; but the greatest amount of superiority and the patronage of
the church belong to the Duke of Hamilton.

Parochial Registers.—These are very voluminous, and in a state
of excellent preservation. They have, upon the whole, been kept
with great regularity. Seven volumes contain the collections and
disbursements for the poor, from 1688 down to the present time,
without any interruption but between 1708 and 1714. The ses-
sion minutes occupy six volumes, commencing with the sederunt
dated 27th January 1691, and have been regularly recorded, with
oaly two exceptions, the one amounting to about two menths, the
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other to five years. The registers of baptisms and marriages in-
clude four volumes, the first entry of baptism bemg dated 1687,
that of marriage, 1688 ; and both records coming down to the
present day, with only one interval in the former of about seven
years, and one of about one year in the latter. The first volume
of the sessien-minutes, among some other items besides the ses-
sional transactions, coatains “a just double of the mortification
given by the Lairds of Grang, of a house or houses in Muirhouse,
for a schoole to the parish of Caridden, 1636,” the family name
at that time being Hamilton; also, ¢ mortification be Sir Williamn
Dick of Braid to Mr Andrew Keir and his successors, ministers
of Caridden, of two roodes of land, 1642.” Besides these, there
are several odd volumes, and a register of deaths and burials ; but
since 1806, it is very partial and defective.

Anttqmtm.—The ancient Roman wall, built between the Forth
and the Clyde in the reign of the Emperor Antoninus Pius by his
Legate Lollius Urbicus, A. p. 140, is, by the almost universal con-
sent of antiquarians, understood to have had its eastern termina-
tion in this parish. Three different places have been assigned as
the terminating point, Carriden, Walton, and Blackness. In the
summary of the ninth ehapter of Gildas, ¢ De excidio Britanniz,
A. D. 560,” it is expressly asserted that the wall commenced at
¢ Kair Eden;”* and this opinion is adopted by Foredun, Richard
of Cirencester, Gordon in his “ Itinerarium Septentrionale,” pub-
lished in 1726, and by Roy in his ¢ Military Autiquities of the
Romans in North Britain,” published in 1798. Bede, in his
% Eccles. Hist. Gentis Anglorum,” written in 737, affirms that
the wall began about two miles west of Abercurnig,t i. e. Aber-
corn, at a place called, in the Pictish language, ¢ Peannahel,”
and in the English, * Penueltum.” If the distance be correct,
the ¢ Peanuahel” of the Picts, and * Penueltum” of the English,
must correspond with Blackness, which is exactly two miles from
Abercorn. In accordance with this opinion, Sir Robert Sibbald,
in his « Hist. Inq.” printed in 1707, says, * the wall runs from

* The words in Gildas are, « Videlicet, ut inter duo maria murum per millia pas.
suum plurima trans insulam instruerent a mari Scoti® usque ad mare Hibernie (i. e,
a Kair Eden) civitate antiquissima, duorum ferme millium spatio a Mobasterio
Abercnnng (quod nune vocatur Abercorn) ad occidentem, tendens contra occiden-
tem, juxts urbem Alcluth.”

t ‘The language of Bede bears a striking resemblance to that of Gildas, except in
the proper names :—“ Cujus operis hodie certissima vestigia cernere licet. Jucipit
autem duorum ferme milium spatio a Monasterio Abercurnig, ad occidentem, in loco

qui sermoue Pictorum Peanuahel, lingna autem Anglorum, Penueltum lppellnur, ¢t
s contra occidentem terminatur juxta urbem Alcluit.”—Lib. i, Cap. xii,

LINLITHGOW. E
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Carriden towards the Castle of Blackness, where it once ended,
just as it did upon Clyde at Dunglass.” The ¢ Peanvahel” or
¢ Penveltum” of Bede, however, he thinks corresponds with the
present Walton, which, he says, ¢ derived its name from the wall,
as it stood upon its track.” In the former Statistical Account of
the Parish, the wall is said to have terminated at ¢ Waltown ;”
and Camden, in his ¢ Britannia,” Vol. iii. p. 318, states, that
¢ Antoninus Pius’s wall may be traced to Carriden, and probably
ended at Waltoun, the Penvahl of Bede.” 'The locality of Wal-
ton, however, affords a sufficient ground of conviction that,
though evidently the site of « Roman fort or station, it neither -
formed the termination of the wall nor stood upon its track; as,
instead of being situated close upon the shore of the Frith in the
line of direction obviously taken by the wall from Kinneil to
Grange, and thereby completing the line of defence, it diverges
towards the south at a considerable angle to the distance of about
a mile, over irregular ground, and affords no advantage that could
recommend it as the last station of so elaborate a work. Besides,
Walton, instead of being two miles, as it ought to be aceording to
Bede’s account, is about four miles from Abercorn ; and, instead
of being derived from the ¢ Penueltum” of Bede, or from any re-
lation it had to the wall, the name seems to trace its origin to a
noted well or fountain of water that was constructed there to sup-
ply the military posted at the station, and which, in the memory
of the present tenant of the farm, went by the name of the Roman
well, pronounced Scoticé wal, having been filled up above fifty
years ago; and where still, at a little distance from the former re-
servoir, an unfailing supply of excellent water at all seasous is
delivered from a square stone-built conduit, large enough to re-
ceive the body of a man. I am satisfied, in short, that the wall
terminated either at Carriden or Blackness, and, with highest
probability, at the former, its remains, till very lately, being pretty
clearly traceable to a small tumulus to the south-east of Grange
House, called in modern phrase, the ¢ Deacon’s Stone,” and a
farm- steading, little more than a gun-shot to the west of the tu-
mulus, called ¢ Graham’s Dyke,” affording unquestionable evi-
dence that this was the identical line of its direction, and either
of them forming a most desirable position for completing the line
of defence, besides corresponding most nearly with the geographi-
cal description of the more ancient writers upon the subject.®

¢ It ought not, perhaps, to be omitted, that another opinion is held upon the sube
s .or
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The wull was cespititious, composed of earth or of the materials
promiseuously taken from the ditch. ¢ Non tam lapidibus,” says
Gildas, “quam cespitibus.” There were nineteen forts erected
upon it at certain intervals, the mean distance from station to sta-
tion being 8554} yards, or something more than two English
miles, so that an alarm could easily be communicated from one
to another on the approach of danger. Roy makes the total
length of the wall from Old Kilpatrick church to Carriden to have
been 63,980 yards, or 36 miles and 620 yards English, being
nearly 39§ Roman miles; a measurement which corresponds very
much with that of Gordon. From Dunglass to Blackness, the dis-
tance is about 40 English miles.

The origin of the appellation ¢ Graham’s” or ¢ Grime’s Dyke,”
which is sometimes given to the wall, seems not to have been ex-
actly determined by antiquaries. According to Horsley, ¢ Gra-
ham” in the Gaelic language signifies black, and, from its appli-
cation to a large ditch and rampart that traverses a great part of
Northumberland, which is so designated froni its dark and sombre
appearance in passing through the moors, this wall, he conjectures,
may have taken ite name from the same circumstance. The pre-
vailing use of the appellation in the possessive case, however, would
seem to restrict it to the name of a person; and the common le-
gend is, that ¢ Grime,” nephew to Eugenius, King of the Scots,
with his troops broke through the wall a few miles westward of
Falkirk, between Camelon and Castlecary, and had the achieve-
ment immortalized by having his name given to the wall as is
vernacular designation.

On the south side of the wall, and running in a great measure
parallel with it, a military way was constructed for the more con-
venient and expeditious communication between the different sta-
tions. Roads of a similar description seem to have traversed the
country in various directions ; and, from south to north, it would
appear that, by meaus of this kind, a line of connection was main-

ject. Nenius, who wrote a. D. 620, says, that the wall commenced at a place called
in the British tongue, ¢ Penguaul, which town, in Scottish, is called Cenail, but in
English (§ ¢. Saxon) Peneltum.”—* Cenail” is understood to be the same as Kinneil ;
and its signification in Gaelic, denoting the ¢ head™ or “end,” is supposed to give far-
ther indication that the wall termir.ated there. It is impossible to identify the “ Ce-
nail” or ** Peneltum” of Nenius, if corresponding with the modern Kinneil, with the
¢ Penueltum” of Bede, as the latter was only two, and the former is seven miles from
Abercorn ; but it is by no means improbable that, in the course of its construction,
the wall concluded. in the first instance, at Kinneil, and was, at a subsequent period,
eontinued onwards to Carriden. Horsley at first coincides with Nenius in the opi.
nion, that Kinneil was tlie proper termination of the wall, but afterwards seems to
agree with Gordon that it ended at Carriden.
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tained through the whole extent of the Roman territories in Bri-
tain. ~ Richard of Cirencester makes mention of a Roman way,
that proceeded from the wall in Northumberland, by which I ap-
prehend he means the wall built by the Eraperor Adrian, by the
Eildon hills, Borthwick Castle, Muttonhole, Cramond, Queens-
ferry, and Abercorn, to Carriden, at or near the eastern termina-
tion of Antoninus’s wall; and, several years ago, some remains of
a causeway were dug up on the ridge that runs from Blackness to
the road that leads from Carriden to Walton, to all appearance a
branch from or an integral part of the above-mentioned way.

At Carriden various Roman relics have been found at different
times, such as a Vespasian of gold; a stone, described by Gordon
as having an eagle with expanded wings, holding a corona trium-
phalis in her bill, and standing in the middle of two Roman vezilla
or standards, on one side, and on the other the letters co.
1ULIA, and others so obliterated as to be illegible, which was
built in a wall added to the house by Alexander Miln,”Esq. the
then proprietor ; Roman pottery; an old Roman altar, having no
inscription, placed at the time in the garden ; and a brass gladius
or sword, which is now in the Advocates’ Library. ¢ About fifty
years before” the former Statistical Account of the parish was
written, the author says, that, ¢“in digging up stones to build a
park dike, axes, pots, and several vases, evidently lRoman, were
found, and sent to the Advocates’ Library.” In levelling the tu-
mulus above Grange House, already referred to, in spring 1833,
several rude stone coffins with bones in them were found, but from
the appearance of the bones, there was reason to believe that they
had been deposited there at a much later date than the time of
the Romans. .

At the eastern extremity of the parish, on a promontory jutting
into the Firth, stands the Castle of Blackness, one of the four
national fortresses of ancient times, whose preservation is guaran-
teed by the Act of Union. The period of its erection is unknown,
and its history has been very imperfectly recorded. It is a struc-
ture more characteristic of the warfare of a ruder age than adapted
to the modern improvements in the military art.

Mansion- Houses.— The mansion-houses of Carriden, Bonhard,
and Grange, are fabrics of some antiquity ; the first of them, with
some modern additions, being still occupied as the residence of
the proprietor; the second attached to a farm; and the third,
after being lately put under some repairs, occupied by a tenant.
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III.—PoruLATION.

Population according to census 1811, . 1348

. 1821, . 1429

1831, . 1261

1841, . 1197

The births in 1700 were 25 males, 19 females—deaths,l? males, g females.
1710

1720 .w 86 27 26
1730 32 25 23 19
1740 8 12 23 18
1750 19 18 18 6
1760 12 22 19 28
1770 18 17 10 13
1780 26 22 10 8
1790 30 14 10 19
1800 22 21 12 14

The greatest number of marriages from 1754 to 1800 inclusive,
was in 1768 and 1765, amounting to 19in each year; the small-
est in 1757, amounting to 3.
The yearly average of births for 7 years before 1835, about 31
marriages, . 8

Two of the proprietors are resulent. The number of those
whose property amounts to the yearly value of L.50 and upwards
is six.

The people are in general industrious, but among some classes
there is to be found room for improvement in point of cleanliness,
and domestic comfort and accommodation. When dressed ac-
cording to their taste, and especially as they are to be seen at
church, their appearance is most respectable.

[V.—InpusTRY.
Agriculture.—
The number of Scots acres in the parish is 2157
in cultivation, . 2023
incapable of do. . 16
under wood, . 90
roads, &c. . . 28

Rent of Land.—The rent of the best land is from L. 4 to L. 5,
that of the worst is about L. 1. - The average grazing of a milk
cow is L. 8, 10s.; of others L. 2, 10s.; and of a sheep 10s. per year.

Kinds of Stoch.—The sheep mostly fancied for fattening are the
black-faced; the breed of cattle is chiefly the short-horned ; but
various sorts from the north are also in much request by the far-
mer. The horses are for the most part the Clydesdale,

Husbandry.— The style of husbandry in practice is the most
approved of the present day. The farmers are most intelligent,
enterprising, and active ; and the state of cultivation in which the
farms are upheld is of the highest order. Much has been done of
late to improve and ameliorate the soil by draining, manuring, and

.

JR—
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regulating the fences. Tile-draining has been introduced with
great advantage. Sown grass is often grazed instead of being cut,
as being more conducive to keep the land in heart. Growing of
turnips has been adopted to a considerable extent, with the most
decided benefits to the cultivator. The duration of leases is ge-
nerally for nineteen years. The usual rotation pursued is that of
six years. Some of the farm-buildings are of a superior class.
In two instances, the thrashing-mills are driven by steam-engiues,
and the fields, with few exceptions, are well inclosed.

Quarries and Mines.—There are several quarries of free and
whinstone in the parish, but they are only wrought occasionally for
domestic use. The substrata abound in coal, and coal has been
wrought in the parish from time immemorial. In former times
the supply was furnished from the estates of Carriden, Bonbard,
and Grange. Within the present century, no less than ten diffe-
rent pits have been at work, though at different times, and all of
them within little more than a mile distant from each other. At
present there are only two in operation, belonging to the Duke of
Hamilton.

The seam of coal wrought in the mingle or engine-pit, which
was the only one at work in 1882, for which year the following ac-
count is given, is called the Eastern Main coal, and is in general
about 4 feet thick. There are now (1843) four in operation. The
workings are situated on the western boundary of the parish,
close to that of Borrowstounness, the coal going under the
name of the Bridgeness coal in the towns to which it is taken,
from the name of the pier where it is shipped. The pit is
77} fathoms deep, and the coals are drawn from the dip by an
engine to the pit bottom, whence another engine raises them
to the surface, the water being pumped up by a third engine of
greater power, erected at the mouth of the pit to within 21 fathoms
of the surface, where it escapes by a day-level to the Forth. The
quantity of coals produced in 1832 was 9780 tons great coal,
18,062 tons chows, and 4363 tons small coal. There are about
ninety-five men, many of them residing in the parish of Borrows~
townuess, employed in hewing the coal, which is brought from the
workings in corveés or baskets set upon hurleys, which run upon a
plate raitway, driven by their children or putters to the place,
from which the engine below takes it to the pit bottom. The col-
liers are paid 2s. 10d. per ton for working the great coal, 1s. 10d,
per ton for chows, and 8d. per ton for small coal. A collier with
his putter may put out 1} ton great coal, and 2 tons chows in a
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‘day. The small coal is quite unsaleable ; the greater part of it is,
of course, left in the waste, and, were it not for the use of the salt-
pans, none of it would be brought up at all. The pit is about a
mile from the shore, the coals being conveyed to the place of ship-
ment by a railway. The coal dips generally to the west at the
rate of 1 in 7 or 8 feet. Before the present dip workings com-
menced, which was in 1830, the workings were above the level
of the pit-bottom, reaching to the south of the pit about 900 yards,
where the coal gets below the Irongath hills, in a direction nearly
straight south, dipping to the north in some places at the rate of
1in 8. But it became so mixed with stone and troubled with
dikes, which were generally up to the south, that the working of
it was discontinued. 'The quality of this seam of coal is highly
esteemed.

In 1888, the Burn pit was sunk from the main to the smithy
* coal, a seam lying 12 fathoms deeper, and about 2 feet 7 inches
thick. ’ :

Fishery.— A stake-net for taking salmon was erected several
years ago in the Frith, on the property of Captain Hope of Car-
riden, having three pockets or chambers; and the fishing has occa-
sionally been pretty successful.

Produce.—The following is given as an approximation to the
gross amount of produce :

Produce of grain of all kinds, . L. 7558
potatoes, turnips, &e. . 1200

hay and pasture, . 2376

geardens, . . 250

coal mines, . . 7600

salt-pans, . . . 1000

L. 19,379

Manufactures.—There were six salt-pans working in the village
of Grange-pans in 1834, which made about 23,000 bushels of salt
annually ; now there are only four at work. In the same village,
in 1832 and 1833, and the two following years respectively, 713§,
812, and 552 quarters of barley were malted. At Brickfield, near
Blackness, a valuable field of clay, averaging 12 feet deep, has
been wrought for some years past, which, in 1834, gave employ-
ment to twelve men, and then yielded at ap average yearly 150,000
bricks, 200,000 roofing tiles, and 200,000 draining tiles. Since .
then, the demand for the latter has been greatly on the increase.
Some years ago, there was at Blackness a chemical work in opera-
tion, for the manufacture of soda, Barilla ash, and Roman cement ;
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a similar establishment at Bridgeness for the manufacture of vitriol
or sulphuric aeid ; and another in Grangepans for the manufac-
ture of sal-ammoniac ; but all three are now extinet.

Navigation.— There are no vessels belonging to the parish ; but
about 300 coasters, from 20 to 100 tons, from different ports in
Scotland, and ten foreign vessels, from 50 to 100 tons, ship ceals
yearly at Bridgeness. In 1834, about 400 tons of Leith manure
were imported at Blackness by two neighbouring farmers at 5s.
per ton, employing eight vessels at 50 tons each ; and twelve ves-
sels from 20 to 60 tons were employed by the proprietor of the
brick-work in exporting the produce of his manufacture. There
are also occasionally other importations of lime and manure for
agricultural purposes.

V.—ParocHiaL EcoNomy.

Market- Town, §c.—The nearest umrket-town is Borrowstoun-
ness, which is about one mileand a-half distant from the church ; it
is also the post-town. Linlithgow lies about three miles distant
to the south-west. There are five villages in the parish— Grange-
pans, Bridgeness, Cuffabouts, (supposed to be a corruption of
Causewayfoot, the original name,) Muirhouses, and Blackness,—the
four last being of very little extent.

Roads.— The turnpike-road from Linlithgow to South Queens-
ferry passes through the south-eastern section of the parish for
nearly a mile and a-half, but no public vehicle travels upon it.
Another line of public road is at present in the act of formation
from Grangemouth by Borrowstownness, diverging from the coast
at the church of Carriden, and designed to meet the road above-
mentioned at Champany. A railway, about a mile in length,
having an inclined plane on which the empty waggons are drawn
up by the descent of those that are loaded, was constructed some
years ago for the purpose of conveying the ceals from. the pits to
the pier of Bridgeness. The other roads in the parish are suffi-
ciently convenient for the purposes of communication, and, for the
most part, kept in a good state of repair.

Harbours.—The pier of Bridgeness was some years ago ex-
tended by the preprietor about fifty yards further into the sea, to
secure a greater depth of water for the vessels that repair to it,
and affords excellent accommedation for the purposes for which it
was erected, the trade to which it is serviceable being the exporta-
tion of coals and salt, and the occasional importation of manure and
limestone. In former times Blackness was a harbour of conside-
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rable importance, being the sea-port of Linlithgow, the county
town. Sir Robert Sibbald, in his ¢ History of Linlithgowshire”
_in 1707, describes it as  a harbour for all sorts of ships, where
they have a large custom-house, and warehouses with other accom-
modations for merchants.” ¢ In the range along Bo’ness and the
South Ferry they had,” as he knew in his time, ¢ some 36 ships
belonging to them, though in all that tract south of the Frith there
is no part for ships to lie at but Blackness. They traded with
Holland, Bremen, Hamburgh, Queensburgh, and Dantzic. Many
rich merchants lived there, and the cities of Glasgow, Stir-
ling, and Linlithgow had great trade thence.” Now the har-
bour is in ruins, the custom-house ‘converted into lodgings ap-
propriated chiefly for the use of sea-bathers in summer, and the
only merchandize known to the place is the shipment of a few tons
of bricks and tiles, and the importation of a few tons of lime and
manure. -

Ecclesiastical State.—The church stands upon the coast, dis-
tant about two miles from the eastern and southern, and one mile
from the western extremity of the parish; and only one or two
families can be said to be at a distance of more than two miles
from it. It was built in 1766, the old church having stood about
half-a mile. distant, in close proximity te the mansion-house of
Carriden, where the old church-yard still remains. The church
was never properly seated by the heritors, but left to be occupied
very much at the pleasure of the parishioners, so that, though ful-
ly seated, the workmanship is but indifferent; and the sittings
were possessed in a great measure prowiscuously, as they had been
erected or purchased by the parties till 1826, when a formal di-
vision of it was made by the sheriff among the heritors, according
to their respective valuations. The pulpit, which was transferred
from the old church to the new, and is formed of oak, is said to
have been brought from Holland, having inscribed upon it the
date 1655. .One of the communion cups is dated 1660, the shape
being the antique form of an inverted candlestick ; the other was
procured during the present incumbency. The church, accord-
ing to its present arrangement, will accommodate 458, but might
be seated for 500. There are 28 free sittings allotted to the
poor. The manse was built in 1818, and, though of rather small
dimensions, is commodious, well-finished, and in good repair.
The old manse, now in ruins, is situated a few hundred yards to
the east of the present. The glebe is 14.556 imperial acres, hav-
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ing been received in excambion for the old glebe in 1817. The
stipend, inclusive of communion elements, is 128 bolls meal, and
as many of barley.

In 1834, there were 259 families, amounting to 1104 indivi-
duals who might be reckoned as attached to the Established
Church, 22 families containing 96 individuals belonging to the
United Associate Synod ; one family and part of another who
were Reformed Presbyterians, and there were 5 Episcopalians.
The average number of communicants is nearly 200.

Religious Society.— A Parochial Bible Association was instituted
in 1826, in connection with the West Lothian Bible Society, with
a special provision, that the wants of the parish should, in the first
jnstance, be supplied. The rate of contribution was a penny a-
week, and in this way, from 1826 to 1833 inclusive, L.51, 17s. 11d."
were collected for the purpose of promoting the distribution of the
Scriptures.  This society has now merged in a general association
lately established in support of the schemes of the General As-
sembly, and for circulating Bibles through the parish.

Church Collections.—The amount of church collections for re-
ligious and charitable purposes for the seven years ending in 1834,
averaged L. 38, 4s. 11d.

Education.—Besides the parochial school, there are three other
schools in the parish, two of them under the patronage and su-
perintendence of the Carriden family, one an infant school, the
other for the education of female children, the third dependent
upon the personal efforts and success of the teacher.

The parochial teacher’s salary is the masimum. He
the legal accommodations as to school and dwelling-house, and
in lieu of a garden, two bolls of oatmeal are allowed him.

Librury.—In 1821, a library was instituted in the parish, to
consist of books of a religious and instructive character, and to
remain in perpetuity for the use of the inhabitants. A number
of donations set it at once on a respectable footing, and the ac-
cession of subscribers was at first promising, but latterly they have
not been so numerous.

Friendly Societies and Savings’ Banks.—Some years ago, a Sa-
vings’ bank was established, in the hope that it would speedily and
largely improve the character and domestic comfort of the labouring
classes; but the experiment did not succeed. Few embraced the
opportunity of entering deposits, and those few not altogether the
class of persons for whose benefit it was designed. .
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Friendly Societies.— There were two Friendly Societies in exis-
tence in 18384, and bad been for some years before—one for the
support of its members when disabled by sickness or infirmity, the
other for defraying the funeral expenses incurred at the death of
a member, or of a member’s wife or child. At present the latter
only is in existence.

Poorand.Parochial Funds.—T he average number of paupers up-
on the roll for the seven years ending in 1834, was 30}, to each of
whom the average sum allotted yearly was L.2, 2s. 64d. Be-
sides those upon the roll, there are others who are allowed occa-
sional relief. The funds for this expenditure proceed partly from
the church collections, and the proclamation and mortcloth dues,
and partly from an assessment laid on the landlord and tenant, and
which, for the seven years above specified, averaged L.36, 6s. 81d.
per anoum. It is much to be regretted, that the disposition, once
so honourable a trait in the Scottish character, to live indepen-
dently of parochial aid, is greatly on the decline.

Ale-houses.— Of these there are too many amongst us for the
moral well-being of the penple. There are six houses in all where
spirituous liquors are sold.

MisceLLANEOUS OBSERVATIONS.

In moreremote times, the aspectof the parish must have been con-
siderably different from what it is at present. The surface was for-
merly much more thickly studded with human habitations and
scenes of human industry, grouped together in little patches, than
it is now; many of which have disappeared altogether, while of
some a few faint vestiges still remain. At one time a considera-
ble establishment of salt-works, now wholly obliterated, existed
near where the present church is situated, and was named in the
former Statistical Account, ¢ Benhard-pans.” Nearly a mile dis-
tant from the church to the east, another series of erections of the
same kind was stationed, called Carris-pans, probably a corruption
of Carriden-paus, of which the only relic to be seen is the stakes,
that mark out the boundary of the ¢ bucket pat,” that is, the re-
servoir that held the sea water that was to be subjected to the
_process of evaporation. Bonbard appears to have been once the
seat of a village inhabited by the labourers that were employed at
the coal-works formerly in operation there. Little Carriden, si-
tuated a short distance eastward from the Muirhouses, but now
extinct, was within these twenty years in existence. From time
to time, the smaller farm steadings have been gradually disappear-

.ing. And the villages that countinue to exist discover symptoms
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of decay rather than of increase and improvement. Blackness,
especially, seems to have shrunk greatly from its former import-
ance, as, besides being a respectable sea-port and mart of trade,
it was once the centre of a considerable population, having in its
neighbourhood mills, fisheries, coal-works, and salt-pans.*

Revised April 1843.

PARISH OF WHITBURN.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW,8YNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. GRAHAM MITCHELL, A.M., MINISTER.

I.—ToprocraPHY AND NaTUrAL HisToRY.
Name, Exztent, &¢.— WHITBURN, formerly written Whiteburn,

seems to have received its name in contradistinction to Blackburn,
which lies to the east of the parish. In extent it is about six miles
long, and twoand a-half broad. Itis bounded onthe east, by Living-
ston ; on the west, by Shotts and part of Cambusnethan ; on the
south, by West Calder; and on the north, by Batbgate and part
of Shotts.t The Almond runs through the north of the parish,
and the Breich along the south of it.

There are several springs, and a good deal of mineral water
strongly impregnated with iron.

Mineralogy.—A most valuable seam of coal has been wrought
here for morp than a century. A drop falls from the top of

* Besides what was formerly stated in the text, the importance of Blackness may
be inferred from the following words found in a charter granted in 1642, to Thomas
Dalzell de Binues,—** Duobus marinis molendinis granariis lie sea-cornmylnis cum
multuris omnium terrarum de Blacknes et Bonytoun, infra dominium de Linlithgow,
cum viridario—piscationibus et piscariis lie cruves de Blacknes infra mare, cum
carbonibus, et salinee patellis, de dominio et Lalliatu predicto.” In another charter
to George Earl of Linlithgow in 1690, the tenor is—¢ officio constabulari et custo-
dize castri de Blackness——terris, et carbonibus et carhonariis dictarum terrarum de
Blackness tam infra quam extra fluxum maris ;—piscibus, piscariis et lie cruives de
Blackness infra mare, &c.”

The first branch of the Briech water commences at a place called Darmid Lin,
or Moss, on the lands of Climpy,— it is sometimes called Darmed Kirk, as sermons
were often preached in that retired place in times of persecution. The second braunch
commences at a place called Linqure, between Knowton and Headless cross Mains,
and Causeway hill, The Almond water commences at the foot of the Hirst hill, in
the parish of Shotts, and from Blairmackhole moss, about a mile farther north, in
the same parish.
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the pit, and sometimes forms itself into strong pillars, which can
with difficulty be broken. It is calcareous stalactite. The fol-
lowing report of Greenridge Colliery is from Mr Bald, engineer,
who is well acquainted with a considerable part of the parish :—

¢ lst, The dip of the strata is to the north ; their declination
from the horizon is in general about one in twelve, but they are
in some instances much flatter, and also steeper. The strata are
occasionally cut by veins or slips, producing dislocations of the
strata, and these are generally in the line of bearing from east to
west. The effect of these is to throw the strata either up or down
to the rise or crop.

¢ 2d, The whole of the parish of Whitburn, as to its minerals,
is of the independent coal formation, and consists of the following
kinds of rocks :— )

¢¢ Sandstone, of various shades of yellow and brown, some of it in
thick beds ; flagstones, and thin slaty sandstone. Mica is found
in all these, and generally very abundant in the latter. Hardness,
from very soft to very hard.

¢ Argillaceous shistus, of various shades, from dark blue to blaek,
is found in beds of a few inches to several yards thick. This shistus,
when mixed with sand, forms a clay-slaty sandstone. Bands and
balls of argillaceous ironstone are frequently found in this shistus,
Some of this rock is of very fine particles, decomposes rapidly
when exposed to the air and weather; when calcined, it is of a°
bright-red. )

“ Argillaceous rocks, of various shades of brown and approaching
to black. This is commonly found to be the bed npon which each
coal rests ; in it are found occasionally small balls of argillaceous
ironstone, very much the shape of potatoes. This kind of rock
is termed fire-clay, and from it, in different places, the best fire-
bricks of Scotland are made, for resisting the action of intense
furnace heat.

¢ Greenstone rock, commonly termed blue whinstone, abounds
very much in this parish. It is similar to the same kind of rock
so abundant in Scotland, composed of red or white felspar and
bornblende, and in whatever situation the bed of greeustone is,
that is, whether in a vertical or horizontal position, the numerous
fissures, which give it a columnar form, are always at right angles
to the bed on which it rests. This rock is found in detached
beds, generally several yards in thickness, forming small koolls,
and at times the summit of hills, of from 150 to 200 feet high,
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above the adjacent country. Many mineralogists, and mining
engineers in particular, think these rocks of igneous origin, be-
cause when they come in contact with bituminous coal, the com-
mon coal of Scotland, they deprive it of its bitumen, converting
it in some cases into glance coal (the blind coal of Scotland),
having neither smoke nor flame, on which account it is used for
drying malt, at other times it converts the coal into a black stone
of no use whatever.

¢ Iimestone.— None of this rock is found in the parish, but mi-
neralogists are of opinion it is to be found in the lower series of
the coal strata, and of that kind which is termed the mountain-
limestone.

¢ Ironstone,.— The ironstone found in this parish is of the common
argillaceous kind, and is found in beds from one inch to several
inches thick, or in balls or flat circular pieces. This ironstone
is similar to that found in all the coal-fields of Scotland, and used
for the making of pig-iron. It yields generally from twenty-seven
to thirty-three per cent. of pig-iron. )

¢ The same kind of organic remains are found in the strata here
as are common in all the coal-fields of Scotland.

* The alluvial covers.are, 1. the old alluvial cover, composed of
clay, sand, and small stones, intimately blended together, and
very impervious to water. In this, large greenstone boulders
abound. 2. Quick sands. 8. Clay mizxed with small rounded
stones. 4. Peat-bog. This i is of very considerable extent, and
very full of water.

¢ The most valuable mineral which this parish contains, is what
is called the Crofthead, or slaty black band ironstone, of which a
very fine field bas lately been discovered lying between Fauldhouse
beyond the village of Longridge. The change which this discovery
has made upon this district is very remarkable; what was, till
within the last three years a solitary moorland scene, has now be-
come one of enterprise and industry. Tall chimneys are seen
in all directions, and clouds of smoke rolling along from huge
burning masses, show the extensive nature of the operations which
are now carried on.

¢ In regard to the position of this mineral, in relation to the
strata of the neighbouring districts, it is undoubtedly connected
with the Great Western Coal-field, or Glasgow Fleld as it is
usually termed, and lies at the bottom of the series to which it
belongs. At the south-western extremity of the parish, the Shotts
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minerals are found cropping out in the Fauld Burn, a little above
the village of Fauldhouse. These minerals lie somewhat in the
form of a basin, the next in order below which is the slaty band
series, to which also belong several seams of coal, generally of
trifling amount. One of these seams is at present worked at
Crofthead. The slaty band iroustone lies eleven fathoms below
this seam. It occurs in three layers or plies, averaging in all
about fourteen inches thick, the lower layer having from half an
inch to one inch of coal adhering to the bottom of it. The strata
above the slaty band is composed of shale, which contains balls
of ironstone, which are worked along with the slaty band in the
¢ following,” or part of the overlaying strata, which is taken down
in order to make the workings the proper height. From twenty-
three to twenty-five fathoms below the slaty band, there is a bed
of ironstone balls, which contain a very high per centage of iron.
These balls lie in a bed of clay, from four to four and a half feet
thick. From forty-five to forty-eight fathoms below this bed,
there is another bed of ironstone balls, from two to two and a-half
feet thick, lying below a mixture of sandstone and clay, the floor
being composed of bastard limestone, from one foot to sixteen
inches thick. Sixteen fathoms below this, there is a bed of lime-
stone, which probably belongs to the limestone series which occurs
at Levenseat, in the county of Edinburgh, and which lies beneath
it. Below this, the coals which are found at Wilsontown, Wood.
muir, and Longford, in the counties of Lanark and Edinburgh,
occur. The series to which the slaty band belongs lies between
the Levenseat limestone and the west country coal, called the
Drumgray coal. There appears to be a great mass of sandstone
between the slaty band series and the Levenseat limestone. It
is considered a doubtful point whether the slaty band field extends
much beyond the district in which it is at present worked. It
has been found at Langside, in the parish of Shotts, and was sup-
posed to have been found about a mile and a-half south from
Crofthead.

¢ Although now so highly prized, the real nature and valuable
properties of this kind of ironstone was, until within these few
years, almost unknown. It was worked about forty years ago by
the Wilsontown lron Company, on the lands of Wester Handax-
wood, in the county of Edinburgh; but its valuable properties
were then unknown, and it was supposed that it did not extend
to the north side of Breich Water, whereas the greater part of
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this ironstone has now been found to lie on the north side of this
water. The whole of the slaty band as yet worked in this parish
is in tack by the Shotts Iron Company, and Messrs Holdsworth
of Coltness. A number of pits have been sunk, and a number
of steam-engines .are used for pumping and winding. There
are upwards of 200 workmen employed, who receive from
2s. 6d. to 3s. per ton for working the ironstone. The minerals
in this field dip to the north-west one foot in seven, The iron-
stone is worked in the Longwall or Shropshire manner, and a
subsiding of about eighteen inches takes place. Great care is
required in regulating the air-courses, and numerous air-pits are
sometimes required in consequence of the great quantity of sul-
phburous vapour exhaled from the ironstone. When brought to
the surface, the ironstone is removed on railways a short distance
from the pits, where it is piled in large heaps for the purpose of
being calcined. These heaps vary in size, according as it is
found most convenient, from a few hundred up to 2000 tons.
Previous to being set on fire, the mass is covered with ashes, in
order to exclude the air, otherwise the ironstone becomes oxidated
and of a reddish colour. 1000 tons of ironstone is, when calcined,
reduced to 64 tons, and the quantity of iron got from the raw
stone is estimated as high as forty-two per cent. When properly
calcined, it has a very open textnre, in consequence of the carbo-
naceous matter baving been consumed, for which reason it is used
for mixing with other kinds of iron when put in the furnace, in
order to make them flow more easily. - Whilst the process of cal-
cining is carried on, the smoke has a very stifling effect, in con-
sequence of the sulphurous vapour which is given out along with
it, and sulphur is found deposited on the top of the heap. This
vapour has a most devastating effect on the vegetation around,
the ground in some places near the pits being totally devoid of
vegetation ; and on the lands of Crofthead, a young plantation has
been totally destroyed. When the water was pumped out of the
old workings of Wester Handaxwood in spring 1840, it was so
much impregnated with sulpbate of iron, that it killed the fish in
the Breich and Almond waters, into which it flowed. There are
a number of faults or dislocations in this field, which generally
run in the direction of the dip and rise, and vary in depth from a
few inches to about nineteen feet, but- they are not of such extent
or frequency of occurrence as materially to impede the working of
the ironstone.”
4
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IL—CiviL HisToRry.

Land-owners.— These are, Sir William Baillie of Polkemmet,
patron ;* Alexander Weir, Esq. of Boghead; George Napier, Esq.
of Little,Blackburn; James Waddle, Esq. of Crofthead, &ec.

Antiquities.—In Cowhill, two gold pieces of Roman coin were
dug up in a bog.

The late Samuel Muir, Rector of Perth Academy, who was
said to have been master of the grammar of eighteen different
languages, received the first elements of his education in this parish.

11L—PoruLaTION.

The number of inhabitants in this parish stood as follows at the
different census:

Year 1755, ., 1121

1791, . 1322
1901, . 1597
1821, . 1900
1831, . 2075
1841, . 2506
1V.—INDusTRY.

Agriculture.— The parish contains 10,019 English acres.

The improvements of which husbandry is susceptible in this pa-
rish are considerable. The ground being clay, or till bottom, it
much requires draining, which is not yet carried to that extent it
might. In some few places, the soil is of such a stiff nature that
draining: proves of little benefit.

There is a great want of good enclosures and fences in some
parts of this parish. Plantations are getting up.

Quarries.—Several stone quarries are open in the parish, one
at Blackburnhaugh, and another at Longridge. Whinstone is to be
found. There are some good sand quarries ; one of a white sili-
ceous nature, which makes excellent garden-walks. There is ano-
ther of red sandstone.

V.—ParocHiaL Economy.

Ecclesiastical State.— The situation of the parish church is most
convenient. When this parish was disjoined from Livingston, it
was opened for public worship on the 21st Oectober 1718 but
there was preaching before from the year 1628. 1 . The church
was erected and partly endowed by public subscriptions.

* The ftmimn of Sir William Baillie came originally from Lanarkshire. They

the property of Polkemmet in the sixteenth century from Mr Andrew

Shaw, a brief account of whom will be found in Spottiswood’s History. .
Cargill, it is said, preached there on the Sabbath prior to the excommunication

at Torwood.
LINLITHGOW. ' r
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The extent of the glebe is between six and seven acres. The
final decreet of locality for the stipend, though many yeare before
the court, is not yet determined, but over and above the stipend,
L.100 arises to the minister from a mortification in the county
of Lanark, and which entitles him to a vote for member of Parlia-
ment, besides the vote in Linlithgow county.

There are three Dissenting meeting-houses in the parish. Dl-
vine service in the Established Church is well attended, and the
majority of the parishioners are attached to it. Secession origi-
nated here from the parishioners being frustrated in obtaining a
vote for the minister, notwithstanding they had contributed to the
erection of the church with that special end in view.

The amount of collections in the parish church used to be be-
tween L.46 and L.50 in the year; but it has been less of late.

Ministers.—The Rev. Alexander Wardrope, first minister of
the church of Whitburn, was the descendant of a respectable fa-
mily in this place. He was licensed to preach about 1722, and,

-some time after, was ordained at Muckhart. (Vide Sketeh of
him by the late Rev. John Brown.) We find Mr Wardrope men-
tioned in Erskine’s Memoirs as one of his correspondents. Mr

- Wardrope took an active share in the discussion usually called ¢ the
Marrow Controversy,” Mr Wardrope, however, excelled more
as a preacher than a controversialist. People came in crowds
from very great distances to hear him.

The individual who succeeded Mr Wardrope was Dr William
Porteous. He was the son of the Rev. James Porteous of Mony-
vaird. He was born on the 10th of March (O. 8.) 1735, From
the Memoir of his life, it appears that he became one of the most

~ able ministers of the Church of Scotland in his day. By bim was
planned the Glasgow Society of the Sons of the Clergy, which
has endeared his memory to the Church. In the same spirit of

humanity and zeal for the best interests of men, he promoted with
all his public and private influence the noble and extensive views
of the British and Foreign Bible Society. And it was upon his
motion before the Church courts, there was appointed the first pub-
lic collection which was ever made in Scotland for the objects of
that institution. He was ordained minister of Whitburn on the

-10th of June 1760, where he laboured for ten years, On the

28th June 1770, he was appointed minister of St George’s, Glas-
gow, where he set agoing Sabbath schools, and devised plans for
the benefit of the poor.

4



WHITBURN. . 83

The next minister who succeeded Dr Porteous as minister of
Whitbura was the Rev. Mr Baron, who afterwards became Pro-
_ fessor of Moral Philosophy in the University of St Andrews.
Professor Baron was born at Kershall, in the parish of Corstor-
phine, in 1785 ; he died in 1803. He received the greater part of
his education at the University of Edinburgh. His first settlement
took place at Wamfray. His reception in the parish was not very en- .
couraging ; but similar occurrences were not very unusual at that
time. In 1774, he pubhsbed an essay on the mechanical principles
of the plough, and in 1777, a « History of the Colonization of the
Free States of Antiquity, applied to the present Contest between .
Great Britain and her American Colonies.” This work attracted
mach notice, in this country, and on the continent. It called forth
several keen replies in England, and in the following year a French
translation was published at Utrecht. When at Whitburn, he
likewise wrote his history of the political connection between Great
Britain and Ireland, which was published about 1780. Soon after
he went to St Andrews..

I¢ is proper to mention, that he wrote an account of the life of
Thomson, which was prefixed to an edition of the  Seasons,”
published at Edinburgh. He also was a contributor to the Edin-
burgh Magazine. Among the distinguished men who then adorn-
ed the literature of Scotland, few were more conspicuous than the
late Lord Kames. With bim Mr Baron lived on terms of fa-
wiliar intercourse. His Lordship, about this time, succeeded
in reviving the Philosophical Society of Edinburgh, originally es-
tablished by the celebrated Maclaurin. Of this Society Mr Baron
was a member. In a few years, chiefly at the instigation of Prin-
cipal Robertson, this Society merged in another on'a more extended
plan, and was incorporated by royal charter under the name of
the Royal Society of Edinbargh. Of this Society Mr Baron was
an original member. He was nominated Professor of Rhetoric
and Logic in the University of St Andrews without his knowledge.
This appointment compelled him to give up his benefice at Whit-
burn; but as a compensation for the loss of his living, the King
was, many years afterwards, pleased to confer upon him a pension
of L.100 a-year. His Lectures on Rhetoric were published in 1806.

Mr Baron was succeeded in the charge by Dr James Somerville.
He was born in Carnwath in the year 1747. He was appointed
minister of Whitburn in 1779, in which charge he laboured about
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ten years. (Vide account of Dr Sommervile in Dr Stevens’s his-
tory, also prefixed to the volume of his published discourses.)

Dr Somerville was succeeded ‘in the charge by the Rev. James
Rhind, who was admitted minister of Whitburn in 1790. His
successor was the Rev. James Watson, who was translated from
the presbytery of Orkney.

The Rev. Archibald Bruce, minister of the Associate Congre-
gation, and teacher of the theological class at Whitburn under the
inspection of the (late) General Associate Synod, was a man of
such eminent attainments in theology and literature, that his name
. deserves to be here recorded. In the year 1780, he published
¢ Free Thoughts on the Toleration of Popery;” a work of most
elaborate research, which has furnished subsequent writers upon
the subject with a rich store of materials, and which procured Mr
Bruce the friendship of Lord George Gordon, upon whom Mr
Bruce waited when in London in the year 1782, and who, a year
or two later, visited Mr Bruce at Whitburn. The following works,
among many others, issued from his pen: ¢ Introductory and Oc-
casional Lectures,” delivered in the Theological Academy at
Whitburo; ¢ A Dissertation on the Supremacy of Civil Powers
in Matters of Religion;” translation from the French of ¢ Dis-
courses on the True and False Religion, by Pictet.” - Vide sketch
of Mr Bruce in the Life of Dr M¢Crie.

Education.—There are five schools; two are endowed from a
sum of L.4250 left to the schools of this and Cambusnethan pa-
rishes. The salaries of the teachers of these two schools, inde-
pendently of the schaol-fees, at present amount to lees than L. 80,
besides free house and garden. The parish schoolmaster’s salary is
the maximum, L.34, 4s. 44d. He has also a glebe of about ten
acres, Scotch measure. He has the legal accommodation. The
amount of school-fees may be about L.20 per annum.

Libraries.—There are two libraries in the pansh one in the
village and the other at Longridge.

April 1843,



PARISH OF UPHALL.

PRESRYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

_ THE REV. GEORGE BOAG, MINISTER.

I.—~TorocraPpHY AND NATURAL HIsTORY.

Ecztent, &c.— THE extreme length of the parish, from east to
west, is 4 miles, and breadth from north to south about 8 miles.
It contains 8120 Scots acres. It is bounded on the north, by
Ecclesmachen and Linlithgow; on the east, by Kirkliston; on
the south, by Mid-Calder; and on the west, by Livingston and
Ecclesmachen.

The highest part of the parish is probably not 880 feet above
the level of the sea. Toward the north-west, however, where the
church and manse stand, it is so elevated as to have a commanding
view of the country to the east and south-east as far as Edinburgh
Arthur’s Seat, and the Pentland hills, and even North Berwick
Law, as well as the Lammermoor hills, are seen in the distance.

The parish anciently was named Strathbrock, which signifies
¢ the valley of brocks or badgers.”

IL—CiviL HisTory.

Parochial Registers.— These are chiefly records of marriages,
baptisms, and proceedings of session. Registers of marriages and
baptisms seem to have been regularly kept, andare for the most part
extant, for upwards of two hundred and forty years. Records of
the deeds of session have been regularly kept since the establish-
ment of Presbyterianism, after the Revolution. During the time
of Episcopacy, before the Revolution, a register of burials seems
to have been kept, which is still extant; but since that time,
this was for the most part neglected, till the beginning of the
year 1840, when the regular registration of burials was com-
menced. '

Land-owners.— The Earl of Buchan is the principal land-owner
and patron of the parish. The valuation of his Lordship’s pro-
perty situate in this parish, being the estate of Strathbrock, and
part of that of Amondell, is 1.8320. Strathbrock, according ta
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the account given by the late Earl of Buchan, was very anciently
in the possession of the family of Sutherland. From that family
it passed to the Douglasses about the beginning of the fifteenth
century ; then to Keiths, Earls Marischal ; next to the Earls of
Winton and the Oliphants, and sometimes called, on that account,
Strathbroke Oliphant. From them it came by purchase to Sir
Lewis Stewart, whose grand-daughter, Katherine Stewart, marrying
Henry Lord Cardross, it came by descent to the present Earl,
Henry David Erskine. The present Earl succeeded his uncle,
David Stewart Erskine, the eleventh Earl of Buchan, in 1829.*
His own father, the late Honourable Henry Erskine, that most
distinguished member of the Scottish Bar, was twice Lord Ad-
vocate of Scotland in 1782 and 1806. After a long, laborious,
and brilliant professional career, extending over a period of forty-
four years, Mr Erskine retired from public life, and spent the re-
mainder of his days in domestic retirement at his beautiful villa of
Amondell, in this parish, where he died on the 8th of October
1817, in the seventy-first year of his age. The remains of this
most celebrated barrister, as also of the late Lord Chancellor
Erskine, his brother, are deposited in the family vault adjoining
"Uphall Church.

Next to his Lordship, in respect of extent of property, is
Norman Shairp, Esq. of Houstoun. The valuation of his estate
is 1.720.

The Shairps of Houstoun have held property (varying in extent
at different periods), in the parish of Uphall, for nearly four hun-
dred years. It is said that their ancestor, whom Nisbet calls
William E’scharp, came from Normandy with David II. The
first of the family of whom history makes particular mention, is
Sir John Shairp, Knight, Advocate for Queen Mary, who acquired
most of the property, and in whose time it is said the oldest part
of Houstoun House was built. Since his time, many of his de-
scendants have distinguished themselves in battle ; and the graves
of some are on famous fields.

Thomas Shairp, Esq. of Houstoun, held a pre-eminent place
in-the opposition party in the Union Parliament, in which, along
with his brother-in-law, Murray of Livingston, he represented the
county of Linlithgow. In the time of his successor, the property
of Houstoun was the largest in the county of West Lothian.

® See Account of the parish of Uphall, st vol. of Tranncuona of the Soc:uy of
Antiquaries.
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Since that time, it has shrunk within comparatively narrow limits. -

All these facts and many more are fully authenticated by papers
in possession of the family, some of which bear as far back a date
as 1462.

R. W. Maxwell, Esq. of Middleton, is another land-owner. He
has lately purchased and taken possession of that small but beau-
tiful estate, the valuation of which is L.113.

The whole of the parish, with the exception of a very few acres,
is the property of the Earl of Buchan and these two gentlemen.

Mansion- Houses.— These are, Kirkhill House, formerly the re-
sidence of the Earl of Buchan ; Amondell, at present occupied by
his Lordship ; Houston House, the residence of Norman Shairp,
Esq.; and Middleton, the residence of R. W. Maxwell, Esq.

III.—~PoruLATION.
It appears from Old Accounts, that the population, sixty years

ago, was only 600.  Since that time, there has been a great in-
crease.

Populationin 1801, . 786
1811, . 800
1821 . 1016
1881, . 1254
1841, . 1467

The principal village is Broxburn, of which the population is
500 ; the only other village is Uphall, containing 220 ; the popu-
lation of the country part of the parish, 504. The remaining part
of the population at last census consisted of people employed on
the ra.nlway, who have now left the parish,

Of the regular population, the number of families are, 245 ;
belonging to the Established Church, 216 ; Dissenters, 24 ; Epis-
copalian, 1; Roman Catholics, 4.

IV.—INDusTRY.

The parish contains 8922 imperial acres, 8582 of which are
in a state of cultivation. There are 178 acres of plantations; 212
have never been cultivated, but are, for the most part, capable of
cultivation. What is called Drumshorlan moor contains about 200
acres of uncultivated Jand, of which the half is natural wood.

The real rental of the parish is nearly L.6000 ; and the ave-
rage rent per imperial acre about L.1, 16s.

Agriculture.—The greater part of the parish is in a high state
of cultivation, and in the hands of active farmers, who have intro-
duced many of the recent improvements in agriculture. Among

these, furrow draining has been introduced within the last ten
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years, and is progressing. The general character of the husban-
dry practised is skilful and in accordance with the modern im-
provements of the day. The soil has been greatly improved by
the application of an extra supply of manure, brought from Edin-
burgh by the Union Canal.

The soil consists generally of clay, and, to a certain extent, its
character is a loamy clay, incumbent on a close subsoil, impervi-
ous to moisture. The whole cultivated lands are divided into
fields, enclosed with ditches and thorn hedges.

The general rotation of crops is, after hay or pasture, one
crop of oats ; next, fallow or fallow crop ; then wheat succeeded
by barley or grass seed for a hay crop. In the higher parts of
the parish, little wheat is sown, but the fallow crop is succeeded
by barley or oats, and then hay or pasture.

The dairy produce is excellent. Conbsiderable attention has
been paid of late years to the breed of cows. The Teeswater
or short-horned and Ayrshire are preferred, and crosses from
these. Butter and milk, also poultry and eggs, are sent to the
Edinburgh market. The breed of horses for agricultural purposes
has been of late much attended to, and a rapid improvement has
taken place from the cultivation of the Clydesdale breed. There
are not many sheep in the parish, but recently a few of the Lei-
cester breed have been introduced ; and so far as trel has been
made, they have proved profitable.

This parish cannot yet boast of any manufactures. Coals have
been wrought in it for a long period. The colliery at present in
eperation is on the estate of Houstoun. It employs about twenty
individuals. The parish abounds with other minerals, ironstone
and freestone. The ironstone has never been wrought. But the
freestone has been wrought to a great extent. It is of an excellent
quality, much celebrated ; and of late years, by means of the ca-
nal, a great quantity of freestone has been conveyed from this
parish to Edinburgh, and used in erecting some of the principal
buildings in that city.

V.—ParocHIAL Ecoxour.

Ecclesiastical State.—The church bears all the marks of one
erected before the Reformation. It is far from being commodlous;
and is too small for the population. The bell still in use is that
brought from the steeple of the old church, and bears date 144},
The inscription on the bell is “ Campanum Sancti Nicholai de

Strathbroke.” The church was a rectory in early times. The
3
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succession of ministers since the Reformation stands thus: 1.
The Rev. James Smith; 2. Patrick Shairp; 8. Andrew]Keith ;
4. Alexander Keith ; 5. W. Mowbray; 6. George Barclay, ad-
mitted 1691 ; 7. John Wilkie, admitted August 22, 1706 ; 8.
William Gibb, admitted October 27, 1763; 9. David Ure, ad-
mitted July 14, 1796; 10. John Ferguson, admitted September
23, 1798; 11. John Ferguson, Junior, appointed assistant and
successor, April 29, 1824; 12 George Boag, admitted August
922, 1839.

In a list of ecclesiastical persons who held lands in Scotland,
aono 1296, and preserved in the Tower of London, we find the
name of  Ferquardus parsona ecclesi de Strathbroke vicecomi-
tatu de Linlidgo.” -

The present stipend is sixteen chalders of victual, amounting i
value, according to the fiars of crop 1840, to L.265. But there
are unexhausted teinds to the value of nearly L.400. The
glebe contains ten Scotch acres, which may be valued at L.25.
There is, properly speaking, no manse at present. But in place
thereof, the minister possesses an excellent mansion-house, be-
longing to the Earl of Buchan, delightfully and conveniently sita-
ated, for which the other heritors pay their proportion of rent.

Schools.—There are two schools. The parochial school is at
the village of Broxburn. About 100 scholars attend it. The
other school is at the village of Uphall. It is attended by 80
scholars. No additional school seems necessary. The parochial
schoolmaster’s salary is L.84, 4s. 4}d.; school fees amount te
L.36 or thereabouts; and other emoluments to about L.15; the
sum of L.1, 12s. is allowed him by the heritors for a deficiency of
garden.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—Particular attention is paid to the
support and comfort of the poor. . The average number regularly
receiving parochial aid is about 20 ; several get occasional relief
besides. The weekly collections in the church average about L.16
a-year ; property for behoof of the poor, invested in the kirk-ses-
sion, yields L. 40 a-year; and to make up the deficiency of what
is requisite, the heritors voluntarily assess themselves. The as-
sessment is L. 30 or upwards, varying as circumstances require.

dpril 1843,



PARISH OF DALMENY.

PRESBYTERRY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWREDDALE.

THE REV. JAMES SCOTT, MINISTER.

L—ToroerarHY AND Narurar HisTomy.

. Name.—THE ancient name of the parish, as appears from char-
ters of the twelfth century, was Dumanie or Dumanyn. In others
of a later date, it is written mdtscnmlmbely, Dummany, Dumanie,
Dalmany, or as at present Dalmeny. It is understood to be of
Celtic origin, and to signify Black heath, or gloomy spots, of which
there is reason to believe, the greater part of the parish at one
time consisted.

. Extent and Boundaries.— The parish proper, exclusive of Auld-
cathie, which was once a separate parish or vicarage, and which
lies at a distance of 1§ miles from its western extremity, (being dis-
joined from it by parts of Kirkliston and Abercorn,) is about 4
miles in length, and 2§ in breadth. It stretches along the south~
ern shore of the Frith of Forth from a burn which separates it
from Cramond parish on the east, to that of Abercorn on the
west. Its southern boundary is Kirkliston parish and the river
Almond. The name of the disjoined portion, Auldcathie, pro-
perly, Altcathaek, signifies in the Celtic, rivulet of the defile * or
battle burn.” Its length, which is one and a-half mile, is termi-
nated by the parish of Linlithgow on the west, and Kirkliston on
the east : its breadth three-fourths of a mile, by Ecclesmachan on
the south, and Abercorn on the north. The two portions toge-
ther comprise an area of 9.371 miles.

Topography, Geology, &c.—In the parish of Dalmeny proper,
which, from its proximity to the Forth, its undulating surface, and
its high state of cultivation, stands almost unrivalled for its beauty,
there are three considerable elevations, ranging at about 880 feet
above the level of the sea. Dundas Hill, on the west, runs for
three-quarters of a mile from nearly north-west to south-east, pre-
senting to the south-west a precipitous front to the height of about
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seventy feet of columnar whinstone or trap. At the foot of the
basaltic range, there was formerly a loch, which was lately drained,
consisting of moss of unknown depth, and resting at the outlet east-
ward on a bed of shell-marl, from which have been dug several oak
trees with the heart in a state of entire preservation. Southward
from this line of whinstone, towards Kirkliston, is an immense ex-
tent of freestone of the finest quality, which has been cut out in
great quantities from Humbie quarry. The same stratum of free-
stone appears also on the north of this elevation in close contact
with the whin, being separated from it only by a thin layer of in-
durated clay. This range of whin, which forms a prominent fea-
ture in the outline of the parish, extends eastward, reappearing at
a place called Craigbree in a similar form, though less elevated,
till it is again thrown upin an immense mass at Craigie-hill, where
it attains its greatest height. A line drawn from this point through
Mons-hill, Inch-Garvey, and North Queensferry, traces an almost
uninterrupted chain of this igneous rock, though within the grounds
of Dalmeny Park, where it forms an extensive and ever-varying
succession of hill and dale, it is mostly covered with verdure or
thriving wood. The strata lying within this range consist chiefly
of freestone, shale, and limestone, of from seven to ten feet in
thickness, of the finest quality, worked out by mining at an exten-
sive quarry a little to the west of Queensferry, within the water-
mark. There is also ironstone, and probably coal, though no se-
rious attempt has ever been made to discover it. The whole of
these intervening strata dip towards the north-east into the Frith
of Forth, where, for a distance of upwards of five miles, including
a part of Cramond parish to the west of the confluence of the
Almond with the sea, and within the grounds of Dalmeny Park,
they form alternately a beautiful succession of small promonrories
and bays, richly wooded to the water’s edge. In the shale or blaes
above the limestone, are found numerous vegetable fossils of the
species peculiar to that order of the carboniferous group. The
view from Dundas-hill, Craigie-hill, and Mons-hill, and indeed
from the whole elevated range from which the stratified rocks
take their slope, can scarcely be surpassed for extent, variety, and
beauty. The panorama from the top of the latter hill, whick
forms the highest point in the spacious park of Dalmeny, and over-
looks its splendid mansion, comprehending an extraordinary varie-
ty of objects that constitute the sublime and beautiful, includes no
less than sixteen different counties.
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Meteorology, §c.—The average summer temperature is 64 ;
winter, 47°. Average barometrical pressure 29.4 inches. On 6th
November 1838and 7th January 1839, during the prevalenceof very
high winds, the barometer fell to the unprecedented degree of
27.9 and 27.8 inches.

The Frith of Forth, which, as has been already stated, bounds
the parish entirely on the north, and which from Cockle Burn, a
little to the east of Lord Rosebery’s mansion in Dalmeny Park,
has numerous indentations and inlets along the shore to Linmill-
burn, its limit on the west, is often discoloured by the moss car-
ried down by the river. The shore in many places, owing to the
same cause, is covered with slime, which renders it somewhat un~
safe, especially on horseback,—varied, however, with beautiful
patches of white sand and shell. The tides rise somewhat higher
than at Leith, owing to the contraction of the Frith towards
Queensferry. There are no mineral springs in the parish except
such as contain carbonate of lime ; but the water is generally
excellent, and one well, in particular, near Leuchold, in Dalmeny
Park, is remarkable for its uncommon transparency and coolness.
The only waterfall that can be termed a cascade on a very small
scale, except at Craigiehall, to be afterwards noticed, is formed
by the Linmill-burn falling over a precipitous rock of whin se-
venty-five feet high, near Springfield, which overhangs the road
leading from Queensferry to Hopetoun House at the western ex-
tremity of the parish,

Roology.— Under this head may be noticed a kind of sprat which
appears occasionally in winter near Queensferry, resembling in its
outline the young of the herring, and averaging five or five inches
and a half in length. It is more generally known by the name of
Garvey, probably from its place of rendezvous being in the im-
mediate vicinity of the island so called. Dr Parnell states, in
bis Essay on the Fishes of the Forth, p. 168, that the sprat,
which abounds on the coast of Essex and Kent, is found in the
Frith throughout the year, frequenting the lower parts during
summer, and ascending the estuary as the cold advances where,
from the commingling of the fresh and salt water, the temperature
is considerably higher. To a common observer, their migrations,
except as to the time of their arrival, are extremely irregular, and
their numbers vary so much, asin one season scarcely to repay the
trouble of taking them, whilst in another they are caught in such
shoals as to glut the Edinburgh and Glasgow markets and the in-
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termediate towns and country, and afford a surplus, which hag
been several times used by our farmers as a cheap and rich manure.
There are two salmon-fisheries of stake net, one atthe junction of
the parish with Abercorn, and the other near the ruin of Barn-
bougle, in Dalmeny Park. They are taken, at the former especially,
in considerable quantities, and sent chiefly to the Edinburgh mar-
ket. They go up the Forth to spawn in September, and return
in March and April.
The following is a list of the land and fresh-water Mollusca :

Vitrina pellucida Helix crystallina Carychium minimum
Succinea amphibis . — fulva Planorbis spiralis
Helix arbustorum aculeata contortus
~—— aspersa ~—— pulchella Physa hypnorum
—— nemoralis —— striata Limneus pereger
~—— hispida Bulimus obscurus Ancylus fluviatilis
~—— radiata Achatina lubrica lacustris
—— alliaria Clausilia ru Paludina impura
~—— cellaria Pupa umbilicata Valvata piscinalis
— pura Vertigo edentula Cyclas cornea.

Insects—Coleoptera.— The list of coleopterous insects is rather
extensive. The following are mentioned as rare or altogether new
to Scotland :

Zpus fulvescens Spheriestes immaculatus  Nedyus sulcatus
Notiophilus tibialis —————— =neus Borraginis
—————— palustris ————— foveolatus Ceutorhynchus viduatus
Cillenium laterale Rhinomacer attelatoides  Rhinoncus Castor
Bembidium paludosum Rynchites levicollis pericarpius
Hydroporus Frater Apion subulatum canaliculatus
——————— 12-pustulatus Astragali 4-tuberculatus
Ips ferruginea Phyllobius viridicollis Gymnstron Linarie
Syntomium nij| niom  Omias pellucidus Macrocnema Hyosciami
Micralymma Jobnstone  Pissodes Pini ——————— semiznea
Aleochara Daltoni Anoplus Plantaris Cryptocephalus vittatus
Polystoma obscurella Miccotrogus cinerascens  Chrysomela marginata
Autalia impressa Orthochetes setiger Phsedon aucta,
Spheriestes ater Nedyus cyanipennis

Hymenoptera.— The locality abounds with the minuter insects
of this order. Dr Greville has in his collection 133 named spe-
cies belonging to the family Chalcidide alone, collected for the
most part in Dalmeny Park.

Lepidoptera.—Theonly rare butterfly he has observed is Polyom-
matus Artaxerzes. Among the Sphingide and moths may be enu-
merated,

Deilephila porcellus Orthosia lunoea Hadesia Cucubali
Phngmltobh fuliginosa libura Acronyctia Rumicis
macilenta Halia vacoaria, &ec,

Guphlphon eryt.hroeephah Xylophasia lithoxylea

Homoptera.— Of this order he possesses about 50species, collect-
ed in the neighbourhood of Queensferry; and of

Hemiptera, nearly as many.
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Diptera are very numerous, but chiefly the smaller kinds.
Botany.—There is nothing remarkable in the vegetatnon. The
best plants are the following :

- Galanthus nivalis Rosa rubiginosa Carex vulpina
Lonicera Caprifolium Attl'lfllul glyciphyllus Scirpus maritimus
Spergula subulata Atriplex rosea Ophioglossum vulgatum*®

littoralis
IL—CiviL HisTorYy.4

Land-owners.— The sole proprietors are the Earl of Rosebery ;
James Dundas, Esq. of Dundas; James Joseph Hope Vere,
Esq. of Craigieball and Blackwood ; and the Earl of Hopetoun.
The three former are resident in the parish, and the latter in the
adjoining parish of Abercorn. Near the south-eastern extremity
of the parish is Craigiehall, the seat of J. J. Hope Vere, Esq.,
beautifully imbedded in the vale of the Almond by the rising
grounds, which’ are richly wooded on the south and north. The
Almond or 4mon, which in Gaelic signifies a meadow, enters the
policy a little to the west of the house, and winding past its south-
ern front, forms a cascade of six or seven feet perpendicular,
whence it descends over a rocky bed, worn out into numberless
fantastic cavities, beneath a rustic bridge, from which the effect is
extremely picturesque and pleasing. This bndge, which was built
by the grandfather of the present proprietor in 1757, consists of
one arch, with a cord of 48 feet, so concealed by the ivy and wood
that profusely cover it, as to give it the appearance of a perforated
rock. Immediately above it, and overhanging the cataract, is a
grotto, containing a saloon above and a bath below, which may be
filled and emptied at pleasure by sluices from the river. There
were formerly several statues on pedestals on a walk along the
side of the river, from one of which, a Venus di Medici, a small
island, formed by the division of the stream into two parts a little
above Cramond bridge, obtained the name of Venus’s Island. The
original name of this place was Creagach, a Celtic word signifying
a craggy ridge, and afterwards softened into Craigie. John de
Craigie was one of the witnesses to the original charter of Dundas
of that Ilk in the time of King David I. One of them defended
the Castle of Kildrummy for David II. against the followers of
Edward Baliol. Margaret de Craigie, only daughter of another

Rumex sanguineus

* The above lists have been kindly furnished by Dr Greville, whose eminence ds
& naturalist is universally known, -mi are the rau.ﬂ of his own observation during a
residence of several summers within the parish.

1 For the Civil History of the parish, f.have been indebted greatly to a manuscript
collection b{ the late J. P. Wood, Esq., author of the Huwry of Cramond, nowin pos-
session of his son, from which considerable portions of it are copied, nearly verbatim,
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John de Craigie, who made a conspicuous figure about 1360, in-
herited the baronies of Craigie and Blackwood in Lanarkshire, and
married, in 1887, John Stewart, a younger son of Sir Robert Stew-
art of Durrisdeer. Their posterity continued at Craigiehall for
about 250 years, and ultimately sold it in 1643 to John Fairholm,
treasurer of the city of Edinburgh. It appears from Calderwood’s
History (fo. 515,) that Heory Stewart of Craigiehall was chan-
cellor of the jury summoned at Linlithgow in 1606, to try those
Presbyterian ministers who had been indited on a charge of high~
treason for having denied the King’s authority in matters ecclesi~
astical. Tradition says that, having been one of the majority who
found them guilty, agreeably to some prophetic intimation, his
family vever afterwards prospered ; whilst that of Mr Hope, who
defended them, and who was created a baronet by James V1., and
held the office of King’s Advocate, both under that monarch and
Charles I, notwithstanding his known partiality to the Presbyte-
rian cause, rose progressively to the affluence and importance since
enjoyed by them. The descendants of the family of Stewart, who
were also proprietors of Leuchold and Newhalls, have continued
in the parish ever since, highly respected, but are now reduced to
a single female representative, resident in Queensferry, with whom it
is likely to become extinct. Tlre present proprietor is the third in
lineal descent from Charles, first Earl of Hopetoun, who acquired
the estate in right of his lady, Henrietta, only surviving child of
William, Marquis of Annandale, who had previously come into
possession, also by marriage with the grand-daughter of the above-
mentioned John Fairholm. The family assumed the name of
Weir or Vere, on the marriage of the Honourable Charles Hope,
second son of the foresaid Earl of Hopetoun, with the heiress of
Blackwood in Lanarkshire, whose ancestors held that property by
uninterrupted succession from the time of David I, by grant from
the Abbey of Kelso.

The extensive barony of Barnbougle and Dalmeny, belongmg
to the Earl of Rosebery, adjoins the lands of Craigiehall to the
north. The spacious park of Dalmeny, in which stands the ruins
of Barnbougle Castle, and the mansion, now the residence of the
family, built by the present noble proprietor, comprehends the
whole area bounded by the road from Cramond Bridge to New-
halls on the south, and between the river Almond on the east, and
the Frith of Forth on the north. The grounds which rise from the
shore to a considerable elevation, in a constant sugcession of un-
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dulations, are tastefully ornamented with large masses of thriving
plantation, so arranged as to afford a rich variety of landscape,
and command numberless views of the Frith and surrounding
country, which cannot be surpassed for extent or beauty. Barn-
bougle, the ancient name of the castle and barony, was probably
the scene of an hostile engagement, * Bar na-buai-gall,” in
the Celtic signifying ¢ the point of the victory of strangers,”
though no tradition now remains of any event of that nature
to which it can be traced. The ancient family of Moubray
were its first proprietors. They came originally from Normandy
with William the Conqueror, and are supposed to be a branch of
the noble house of Moubray, Dukes of Norfolk. Philip de Mou-
bray was Lord of Barnbougle, Dalmeny, and Inverkeithing, in the
reign of Alexander 11., and died in 1221. From him descended
8Sir John Moubray, who, having no male issue, made a settlement
in 1511 of the lands of Cockairney, part of the lordship of Inver-
keithing, on his father’s brother, William Moubray, whose direct
posterity still enjoy that patrimony. The remainder of his pro-
perty he bequeathed to his only daughter, who, by marrying Ro-
bert Barton of Over-Barnton, transmitted it under the family
name to their great-grandson, Sir Robert Moubray, the last of
that long line who inherited these extensive possessions. Several
persons of the name of Moubray, in the humbler walks of life in
the parish, are said to be descendants of this ancient family.*
The baronies of Barnbougle and Dalmeny were sold by Sir Ro-
bert in 1615, to the celebrated Sir Thomas Hamilton, his Majes-
ty’s Advocate, afterwards created Earl of Haddington, whose
graudson again disposed of them in 1662, to Sir Archibald Prim-
rose, Bart., of Carrington, then Lord-Register, and afterwards
Justice-General of Scotland. Sir Archibald entailed his estates
on his second son Archibald Primrose of Dalmeny, who, in 1700,
was created Viscount, and in 1708, Earl of Rosebery and Lord

* There is in Chambers’s Journal, No. 4, February 1832, a curious and interest.
ing legend of a feud between Robert Moubray of Barnbougle, and Bruuntfield, laird -
of Craighouse, which arose in 1572, out of the civil war between the friends of Mary
and the adherents of the Regent. It began by the murder of Bruntfield by Moubray,
who had espoused the Protestant interest, and had taken forcible possession of the pa.
erimonial estate to the exclusion of his infant niece ; and ended in its being avenged
by the son of the former in a combat, in which he was slain by young Bruntfield,
on Cramond Island, witnessed by his mother, who had previously sacrificed her two al-
der sons in similar attempts, unsuccessfully made, to satiate her revenge. The victor
in this desperate encounter is said to have married the heiress of Barnbougle, who
was of course restored to her rightful patrimony ; but, as neither the names por the
story appear to accord with the memoranda of the family from which the above ag.
count is taken, we eaunot give it as authentic. -
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Dalmeny, whose descendant, the fourth Earl, is the present pro-
Pprietor.

Family of Rosebery.—Of the early history of the family whom
this distinguished nobleman now represents, there are some interest-
ing notices in Crawford’s and Douglas’s Peerage. They were ori-
ginally seated at Primrose, near Inverkeithing, and acquired lands
in Perthshire and Culross. One of them was principal surgeon to
King James, who died in 1615, and was buried in the Greyfriars
church-yard, ¢ Plenus annorum et plenus honorum,” as his monu-
mentbears. He was father of Gilbert Primrose, D.D., who wasone
of the ministers of the Protestant church of Bordeaux, and after-
wards of the French church in London—chaplain in ordinary to
James VI. and Charles I. ; and finally canon of Windsor in 1682,
He left several publications that testified alike to his learning and
piety. His son David Primrose had also the reputation of being one
of the most learned divines and active promoters of the reformed
religion in France. The most distinguished, however, of this ex«
cellent family, direct ancestor of the Earls of Rosebery and the
founder of their fortunes, was Archibald, the third in descent by a
younger son of the first of the lineage above-mentioned. He was
first appointed in 1641 elerk of the Privy-Council, and until dis-
charged by the Parliament, was in constant confidential correspon-
dence with the King and Court.  Adhering faithfully to the royal
cause, he was taken prisoner at the battle of Philiphaugh 1646,
tried by the Parliament of St Andrews, and found guilty of high
treason. Though his life was spared at the intercession of the
Marquis of Argyle and others of his friends, he continued a close
prisoner till a capitulation was entered into between Montrose and
the Committee of Estates, when, on repairing to Charles at New-
ark, he had the honour of knighthood eonferred on him in consi-
deration of his great services and sufferings. King Charles 11,
on coming to Scotland in 1651, created him a baronet, ¢ as a spe-
<ial mark of our Royal favour, to gratify the deservings of so faith-
ful a servant.” During the Usurpation, Sir Archibald lived in re-
tirement, but on the king’s restoration, he was in August 1660,
appointed Lord-Register of Scotland, and in June 1861, consti-
tuted one of the Senatars of the College of Justice by the title of
Lord Carrington, and afterwards Lord Justice-General. Accord-
ing to Bishop Burnett, ¢ he possessed a great measure of sagacity
and prudence, with expedients always ready for every difficulty.”

Throughont the changes of that troublous penod, he waintained
LINLITHGOW.
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so high a character for integrity and wisdom, as to have exercised
immense influence over the destinies of his country, whose. welfare
he had deeply at heart; and having acquired an ample fortune,
with which he purchased the extensive properties of Barnbougle,
Dalmeny, Ochiltree, Carrington, &c., he died on the 27th Sep-
tember 1679, and was interred in a leaden coffin in the cemetery
built by him, to the north front of the church of Dalmeny. The
plate on the mouth of the catacomb in which his remains are de-
posited, bears this inscription : ¢ Hae in capsula in spe resurrec-
tionis consignatur corpus Domini Archihaldi Primrose de Carring- -
ton militis baronetti sub augustissimo monarchd Carlo Imo Se-
erete Concilii clerici,” a resturato Carlo 240 Regni ab Archivis,
deinceps Justitiani Generalis facto functi viij kalend Decembris
setatis 63 anno domini 1679.”

The present Earl, to whose hereditary possessions have been
added the estates of Livingstone and Rosebery, in West and Mid
Lothian, was born at Barnbougle, 14th October 1788, and has two
sons and three daughters, the eldest of whom, Lord Dalmeny, is
M. P. for the Stirling burghs. His Lordship is Lord Lieutenant
of the county of Linlithgow.

Family of Dundas of Dundas.—The family of Dundas, who
hold the portion of the remainder of the parish proper, a large
and valuable demesne surrounding the elegant mansion, built by
the present proprietor in conjunction with the old baronial castle,
is by far the most ancient now extant of any in the parish.
Huttred, the first of this remote ancestry, is said, on the authority
of a charter from King David L to the Abbey of Melrose, to have
been a son of Gospatrick, grandfather of Gospatrick, first Earl
of Dunbar and March. This supposition is confirmed by the cir-
cumstance of Helias, the son of Huttred, obtaining a charter of the
lands of Dundas from his uncle, Waldevus, son of the first Gos-
patrick. This charter, which is still in possession of the family,
is one of the oldest original private writs in Scotland, and is in the
following words: ¢ Waldivus filius Gospatricii omnibus probis ho-
minibus tam futuris quam presentibus, salutem. Sciatis me de-
dissie et concessisse et hac carta mea confirmasse Helio filio Hut-
tredi Dundas pro servitio dimidii militis, illum et haeredes suos
tenendum, de me et haredibus meis, in feudo et heereditate in mo-
ris, in aquis, in stagnis, in molendinis, in pratis, in pasturis, cum
omnibus rectis et divisis et pertinentiis, concedo itaque quia volo et
precipio ut iste predictus Helias istam terram habeat et teneat tam
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quiete tam libere et tam honorifice ut nullus miles de barone tenet
liberius et quietius et honorificentius in tota terra Regis Scotie.
His_ testibus, Joanne filio Orm. Waldevofilio BaldwinRoberto de
Sancto Michaele, Helio de Hadestanden aWillielmo de Copland,
* Willielmo de Hellebes. Alano Dapifero, Gerardo Milite Joannede
Gragin.” This charter, which has no date, must have been granted
previous to 1122,in which year, Robertus de Sancto Michaele, one
of the witnesses, was made Bishop of St Andrews. The lands of
Dundas continued in the direct male line for twelve generations,
when James de Dundas died, without male issue, in 1450, and was
succeeded by his brother, Sir Archibald, whose son and successor
was several times sent on an embassy to England, and enjoyed the
confidence of King James IIL to such a degree, that he created
him Earl of Forth in 1488 ; but the patent, though signed, not havs .
ing passed the King’s seal, previous to the death of that unfortunate: .
monarch, was held to be invalid. From this period, the property
hasagaindescended in the male line direct through other twelve ge-
nerations, some of them figuring conspicuously both in the civil and
ecclesiastical history of the country, and giving rise to the collateral
branches of the families of that name, of Melville, Arniston, Dud-
dingstone, and Carron-hall. The estate had nearly again diverged
from this line of succession, on the death of the father of the present
proprietor, who perished in command of the Winterton East India-
man, on the coast of Madagascar, in August 1792, His son, James
Dundas, Esq. the present proprietor, who was born in January fol-
lowing, baving, by his wife Lady Mary Duncan, daughter of the
Hero of Camperdown, a family of six sons and five daughters,
bids fair to transmit this venerable name and inheritance to a late
posterity. '

Eminent Men.— The only person eminent as an author known
to have belonged to this parish, was William Wilkie, born at
Echline in 1721. He was first minister of Ratho, and then Pro-
fessor of Natural Philosophy in the University, where he died in
1772. His principal work, the Epigoniad, has been much and
justly admired, especially the Episode of Hercules.

Auldcathy, the portion of the parish lying to the west, as for-
merly described, appears to have been formerly part of the crown
lands, but was along with the lands of Kinneil and Larbert, be-
stowed by King Robert Bruce in 1824, upon' Sir Walter Hamil-
ton of Cadzow, ancestor of the Duke of Hamilton, and continued
a long time in that noble family.  After passing through the hands
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of various proprietors, it was sold by the first Earl of Haddington'
in 1721, to the Earl of Hopetoun, in whose family it now re-
mains.

Antiquities.— Among the antiquities of this parish, the ancient
Castle of Dundas is entitled to a prominent place. It stands in
conjunction with the modern mansion on the brow of a craggy hill
of that name, which signifies, ¢ the hill of fallow deer,” and from
which numerous bones of deer, and others of large dimensions
have been dug up. Its precise age cannot now be ascertained,
though it is supposed to have stood since the beginning of the
eleventh century. Several additions were made to it about 1416,
when it was turned into a fortalice by warrant from Robert, Duke
of Albany, and by a subsequent one, from James I. in 1424.
. Its walls, which are very massive, were at that time raised to the

.- height of 75 feet. Its apartments are all arched, and a circular

" stair leads to the top, which is flat, and surrounded by a battlement,
from which the view is magnificent. Immediately under the north
front of the present castle, there still stands a stone fountain of
tnost curious workmanship, which originally bccupied the centre of
a parterre enclosed with walls of hewn stone 12 feet, and of vast
thickness, with flights of stairs in the middle, and a banqueting
house at each corner.  T'his fountain, which was supplied by water
brought in pipes from a distance, is ornamented with numerous
figures cut in the stone, and bears on its sides a long inscription in
rather doggrel Latin, divided into stanzas, setting forth that the
purpose for which it was erected by Sir Walter Dundas, in the
year of man’s redemption 1623, and 6lst of his age, was to
perpetuate his own memory to be an ornament to his country
and family,—a gratification to his friends, and a terror to spoilers
and depredators, and that the parched garden might be moisten-
ed with the water of the fountain. Tradition relates that the
cause of this most expensive work was his disappointment at the
loss of the barony of Barnbougle, for the purchase of which he
had collected a large sum of money, when it fell into the baonds
of the Earl of Haddington. The expense of it was so enormous,
as to involve him in difficulties from which he never recovered.
Whilst it was in the course of erection, it is said that he delighted
s0 much in the noise of hewing the stones, that in a fit of sickne<s,
which confined him to his bed, he ordered the masans to perform
that operation in his antichainber. At the west end of Queens-
ferry is the ancient mouastery of the Carmelite friars, built about
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1332 by Sir George Dundas of Dundas. It consists of a square
tower with two wings, the one of which is entire, and is now the
burial-place of the family. The tower, which was the dwelling-
place of the monks, bears the marks of fire. One of the brethren
of this monastery was Symon de Cramond, son of the family of
Cramond of that Ilk, who, going abroad, rose to the dignity of pa-
triarch of Antioch. Father Hay, in his ¢ Scotia Sacra,” men-
tions that there was a monastery of the order of the Holy Trinity
at Dalmeny in 1297, and another of the same order at Queens-
ferry.

The small island of Inchgarvey, which signifies rough or rocky
island, in the middle of the Frith, between the south and north
ferries, is another of the ancient possessions of the family of Dun-
das. It was granted to John Dundas in 1491 by King James IV.
in lieu of his extensive property of Bothkenner, which had been
forfeited by his adherence to James III, with power to build a
fort upon it, of which he and his heirs were to be perpetual gover-
nors, and with the right of levying certain duties on vessels pas-
sing up the Frith. In the regency of Albany, during the mino-
rity of James V., Inchgarvey® seems to have been employed as
a state prison, to which the celebrated Secretary Panter was com-
mitted by that weak and tyrannical ruler. When Albany went to
France in 1517, he left Inchgarvey, together with Dunbar and
Dumbarton, garrisoned with French soldiers, at the charge, and to
the great oppression, of the nation. It surrendered to Cromwell
in 1651, The fortifications seem from that period to have been
much neglected, till Paul Jones appeared in the Frith in 1779,
when they were repaired and mounted with four twenty-pounders.

During the late war, when an invasion was threatened from
France, it was again repaired, and strengthened with some addi-
tional pieces of ordnance, which, together with the batteries on*
shore sweeping the whole range of the Frith, was judged sufficient
to protect the upper part of it from any hostile aggression. Among
the antiquities of this parish, not the least remarkable is the pa-
rish church, though its early history is unhappily lost in antiquity.

From the style of its architecture, which is Anglo-Norman,
and from its striking resemblance to the church of Narcoide, near
Carlisle, which was built before the time of William the Conque-

® The charter conveying this island is an autograph of His Majesty. There is al-
0 in the possession of the family a letter of James V1. inviting the then representa-
tive to the ism of his son, Charles 1., and another from the same monarch re.

questing the loan of a pair of silk stockings.
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ror, bat which is greatly its inferior in point of embellishment, wé
cannot err in referring it at the latest to the tenth or eleventh cen-
turies. It is a very elegant small fabric, all of cut stone, 84 feet
long and 25 broad, except at the east end, where it contracts into
a semicircle. The pediments of the principal doors and windows
are richly carved, resting on single columns with Gothic capitals,
and round the upper part of the building there is an embessment
of carved faces, all dissimilar and of grotesque appearance. But
the chief beauty of the church is in the interior, which has a strik-
ing effect on entering from the west, especially from the upper
part of the gallery. The body of the church is divided into three
parts by two semicircular arches, that over the chancel being so
much smaller than the other as to render the perspective peculi-

“arly pleasing. ‘They are both richly ornamented with successive

tiers of mouldings of a zigzag or starry shape. This structure
was repaired and refitted in 1816, in a manner corresponding to
its architectural beauty, though it is to be regretted that so fine
and perfect a specimen of that peculiar style of building should be
deformed externally by the addition of a modern cemetery for the
family of Rosebery, and more recently of a private room belonging
to that of Dundas. It seems originally to have formed part of the
diocese of St Andrews, and to have been granted during the thir-
teenth century to the Abbey of Jedburgh, in the reign of William
or Alexander II., to which it pertained till the annexation of the
church lands to the Crown by James VI in 1596. From the
crown-charter conveying the rights of the lands and barony of
Dalmeny, and the fortalice of Barnbougle, with the patronage or
“ capallaniz et altarts Sancti Adamani infra ecclesiam parochia-
lem de Dummany,” it would appear to *have been dedicated to
St Adaman, as the adjoining parish of Cramond was to St Co-
lumba and the Virgin Mary, the right of presenting to all these
altars, which were frequently separate endowments, being vested
in the family of Moubray. At the door of the church there is a
stone-coffin of large dimensions, cut from a single block, and co-

. vered both on the lid and sides with hieroglyphics which cannot
“now be deciphered. It was found near to its present position, in

digging a grave belonging to the Stewarts of Craigie, but nothing
can be traced of its origin.  Coffins of similar material, but of
much simpler and ruder construction, have been found in other
parts of the parish, one of which is still to be seen with its end
projecting from the bank formed by a cut through Craigiehill on
the road leading to Kirkliston, It scarcely seems to admit of
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doubt, that the great Roman military way, which proceeded from
Northumberland by Eildon and Soutra to the Pentland hills, and
thence by Ravelston to Cramond, which was evidently a maritime _
station on the Bodotria, and where numerous vestigia have been
discovered, was eontinued by Barnbougle and Dalmeny through
Abercorn to Carriden to the eastern extremity of the wall of An-
toninus, Abouta mile, accordingly, to the west of Queensferry there
were, about a century ago, remains to be seen of what was suppos-
ed to be “a Roman Speculatorium, consisting of a large carved
window, a square pillar, and a considerable quantity of hewn stones,
which, it is said, were carried to Dunkirk. There were found
here also several silver medals of Marcus Antoninus, with a vic-
tory on the reverse; also, the carved handle of a copper vessel,
and the bottom of an earthen urn, with the word adjecti, the rest
obliterated.”® At Springfield, a little to the westward of this
spot, there was discovered recently, in digging near the house, a
skeleton of large size, and a trench of considerable breadth and
depth, filled with human bones. A brass pot, and in it a pagan
idol, were exhumed near Queensferry, on the lands of Dundas, in
1738, which the workmen, through a mistaken zeal, instantly de-
molished. Not far from Dundas Castle, there was found also, at
a considerable depth between the parallel walls discovered under
ground, a Roman coin with the letters 1aN distinctly inscribed,
the rest illegible, and the handle of a vessel supposed to have been
a sympusium used by the Romans in their sacrifices. About a
mile to the west of Barnbougle Castle, on the top of a high sea-
bank, is an ancient cairn, called Earl Cairney, of a circular shape,
originally 500 feet in circumference, and 24 feet in height, though
now considerably dilapidated, which was probably a sepulchral mo-
nument.

Parochial Registers.—The earliest date of the parochial regis-
ters is 1628. They are considerably dilapidated, and sometimes
irregular, till within the last century; from which time, they have
been kept with considerable accuracy.

The patronage of the parish, which was derived in 1540 from
the abbot and convent of Jedburgh, has belonged since that pe-
riod to the barony of Barnbougle, and was vested in Sir Archibald
Primrose and his heirs, by the charter conveying to him that pro-
perty. Since the restoration of the right of patronage by the act
of Queen Anne in 1712, it has been uniformly exercised, accord-

* Old Statistical Account,
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ingly, by the Earls of Rosebery, under protest from the Earl of
Hopetoun, who claimed the right alternis vicibus, in virtue of his
.possession of the parsonage of Auldcathie, which bad been unit-
ed to the parish of Dalmeny in 1618, Lerd Binning being then
the patron of both. By a judgment of the Court of Session in
1835, the latter nobleman was found to be entitled to the alter-
nate presentation.

Ministers of the Parish.—The earliest incumbent in this parish
of whom there is any authentic record, was John Gibbisene, minis~
ter of Dalmeny, and parson and vicar of Auldcathie from 1610,
where he is said to have succeeded George Lawder of Bass, who
united the advantages of patron and parson. Mr Gibbisone seems
to have diedabout 1648, and was succeeded by John Durie, whe had
been appointed by the presbytery colleague and successor to him in
the then united parish. At his death in 16566, Alexander Hamilton
was ordained and admitted minister of Dalmeay by a call from the
heritors and elders, the aet of 1649 abolishing patronage being
then in force. He was deprived for nonconformity in 1663, re-
pooed in 1669, and transported to Edinburgh at the Revolution,
where he died in 1696, and was buried in Cramond. Charles Gor-
don, minister of a Presbyterian corgregation in Campvere, in Hol-

-land, was appointed his successor in September 1691, i virtue -
also of & call from the heritors and elders, in terms of the act 1690.
He was removed to Ashkirk in the same year, and died in 1710,
From the date of his translation to 1700, the parish seems to have
remained vacant, the rents of the ministers glebe being gifted by
the Earl of Rosebery as patron, for the benefit of the poor, and
two silver communion cups, bearing the family arms, presented by
him for the use of the parish, and now its property, furth of a part
of the vacant stipends yet undisposed of.” Between 1700 and
1711, John Steedinan held the cure. The last appointment pre-
vious to the Act 1712, was that of James Nasmyth, who was in«
ducted in 1711, and died at Dalmeny in 1774, in the binety-first
year of his age. Dr Robertson, who was a person of some learn-
ing, and furnished the previous Statistical Account of the parish,
was settled in 1775, and died at Edinburgh, 15th November
1799. In the following year, James Greig, the late minister, was
appeinted, and continued till his death in 1829, when the present
incumbent was translated from Torphichen.

I11.—PoruraTiON.
The population of the united parishes was in 1831, 1291, be-
3
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ing a decrease of 204 from that of 1821. It is almost entirely
agricultural, with the exception of about fifty families in the town
of Queengferry, (part of which belongs to Dalmeny,) and at New-
halls,—who are engaged in fishing and various domestic trades.
Amount of population in 1841, 1393.

1V.—IxbuUsTRY.

Most of the farm-houses, and several of the office-houses, are
slated ; the former generally substantial and commodious, and in
some instances elegant. The farms comprise from 80 to upwards
of 300 acres ; some of them cultivated with a degree of skill and
enterprise highly creditable.

The four rotation system is that commonly in use; but, of late
years, the grazing of cattle and the better breeds of sheep have
thrown a much larger portion into pasture than formerly,—a prac-
tice which is found not only to yield a better immediate return
than a constant succession of white and green crops, but greatly
to improve the land, and render it more productive. The parish
is now almost universally drained according to the improved mode
of placing the drains in every alternate furrow, at the distance of
thirty-six feet apart, the tenant paying, besides the carriages, a
per centage during his lease, on the outlay of the landlord. The
soil of the higher grounds, which is chiefly clay on a cold bottom,
bordering in some places on till, passes in its descent to the lower
grounds into the richest loam. One field, in particular, known by
the name of the Kirk Park, is so exceedingly fertile, as to have
acquired the distinction of ¢ perpetual soil.” The minister’s gar-
den, which is of the same quality, and immediately adjoins it, is
said to have produced abundamt crops of potatoes and other ve-
getables, for six or seven years successively, without manure.

The number of acres in the parish is about 5850 imperial,
of which about 1000 beleng to the ‘estate of Craigiehall, 2600
to that of Dalmeny, 1600 to that of Dundas, and 650 to that
of Hopetoun. This last portion is chiefly in the disjoined part,
called Auldcathy, of which the Earl of Hopetoun is the sole
proprietor. The portion of it actually under the plough, which
may be stated at 4000 acres imperial, is let on leases of nineteen
years, at a rent of from L.1, bs. to L.8, averaging L.2, 8s. 6d.,
payable for the most part in money and grain. The pasture,
which may amount to 1000 acres, about 700 of which are within
the grounds of Dalmeny Park, is let annually at from L.2 to
L.2, 10s. per imperial acre. There are under wood about 850



106 LINLITHGOWSHIRE.,

acres, including that on the extensive policies of the respective
proprietors, and the double hedge-rows of trees that line most of
the parish roads, and subdivide several of the farms, adding much
to the richness and beauty of the landscape, though perhaps not to
its productiveness. The wood consists principally of oak, ash, elm,
plane, and beech and fir, of about eighty years’ growth ; though
some of it, which is of large dimensions and of the finest quality,
may have stood upwards of two centuries.

The gross rental of the portions of the parish under cultivation
may be estimated at L.8700, and in pasture at L.2250. The
valued rent is L1..9598, 10s. 10d. Scots, thus allocated :—

The Earl of Rosebery, . L4004 2 7
Mr Dundas of Dundas, . 2190 8 6
Mr Hope Vere of Craigiehall, 1905 12 7
The Earl of Hopetoun, . 1066 13 4} Both now
Earl of Rosebery, . . 390 18 0§ Hopetoun.
Queensferry Acres, &c. . 4012 6

The produce may average three quarters wheat, five quarters
barley, and six quarters oats; a large propertion of the land on
each farm being regularly under turnip crop, which is partly eat off
by sheep, and partly used for feeding cattle.

V.—ParocHiaL EcorNomy.

Villages.— There are no villages of any extent within the parish,
the greater part of the population, not purely agricultural, or ate
tached to the establishments of the large proprietors being resident
in the two ends of the town of Queensferry amounting to nearly
400.

The small village of Dalmeny, which is delightfully situated
nearly in the centre of the parish, on the road leading westward
to Dundas, and commanding a view of the Frith of Forth, counsists
only of about a dozen of cottages, besides the church, manse, and
and school-house, with a green in the middle.

- Roads, &c.—The parish roads are generally excellent; the
Great North Road from Edinburgh, unequalled perhaps in Brie
tain for its width and condition, entering it at Cramond Bridge,
an elegant structure erected at great expense over the Almond,
in the year 1821. It terminates at Newhalls, where there is a good
and commodious inn. From this place the steam-passage-boats
sail to North Queensferry every hour between sunrise and sunset,
returning from the opposite side at each intermediate balf-hour.
The fares, which are generally considered high, are, for each
passenger, 6d.; for a horse, 1s.; a two-wheeled carriage, 2s. 6d. ;
a four-wheeled do. 7s. 6d.; and for cattle, 6d, a-head ; and foy -
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sheep, 2s. per score. They are let by public roup at present for
three years, at a rent of L.1900,—a sum which has been gradually
increasing, notwithstanding the general establishment of steam
conveyance to Dundee and Aberdeen, but which will probably
suffer a diminution, should the plan now projecting, of building a
deep water pier at Burntisland, in conjunction with that lately
erected at Granton, and communicating with a railway north-
wards, be carried into effect. At present, the North Mail, the
Defiance to Aberdeen, the Coburg to Perth, and the Antiquary
to Dunfermline and Crieff, from Edinburgh, cross and recross
daily.

Ecclesiastical State.— The church is convemently situated for
the parish proper, and is seated for about 360 persons. There
is also a Dissenting meeting-house in the west end of the town of
Queensferry, in connection with the United Associate Synod,
which draws its supplies to the amount of about 500, from five
adjacent parishes. Of these there are between twenty and thirty
families belonging to the parish of Dalmeny. The rest are, or
profess to be, in communion with the Church. The number of
actual communicants is in summer about 250, and in winter some-
what less. The attendance may be termed good, though the.
church is considerably too small for the amount of the population.

The stipend, which was allocated in 1823, consists of 17 chal--
ders victual, half barley and half oatmeal, at the Linlithgow fiars.
prices, with L.8, 6s. 8d. Sterling for communion elements.  Ori-
ginally, the teinds of the parish, as given up at a judicial court of
the abbey of Jedburgh in 1626 were 20 chalders victual, whereof
were to be paid to the minister two chalders and 400 merks.

Education.—There is a Sabbath school taught in the church
during the summer months by the clergyman, while a number of
the people attend as hearers; and another at Cramond Bridge
throughout the whole year, supported by the Christian liberality of
a lady not immediately connected with the parish,—and taught by
one or other of the agents of the Edinburgh Gratis Sabbath School.
Society.

The parochial school, which is the only one in the parish, is
well attended. It has long been celebrated as a healthful and de-
sirable place for boarders, of whom the present schoolmaster still
receives a limited number. The salary is the maximum of L.34,
4s. 8}d., with L.300 Sterling mortified by Lady Grizell Semple
in 1723. This sum is vested at the instance of the Earl of Rose-
bery and the minister for the time being, as trustees for behoof of
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the school, and the annual interest paid to the schoolmaster on
eondition of his teaching gratuitously as many poor children as the
trustees or kirk-session may choose to send. Lord Rosebery is also
in terms of this grant entitled to present to the office when it be-
comes vacant. The fees are 2s. 6d. for reading, 56s. for other
branches, and 7s. 6d. for Latin, Greek, French, and mathematics.
The school-house and dwelling-house are commodious and com-
fortable. T'he manse and offices are in good repair ; the latter
neatly built for the present incumbent ; the former nearly a cen-
tary old, of plain coustruction and moderate dimensions.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—The two ends of Queensferry, as
may be supposed, contain almost all the pauperism of the parish,
which, from the causes above-mentioned, is in large proportion to
the amount of the population. The average number of paupers
on the parish roll receiving supply regularly or occasionally is 35,
In the summer months, several of them are cut off, and the annual
expenditure for this department is L.90 Sterling. The funds are
derived from collections at the church-door, amounting to from
L.20 to L.30 yearly; rent of land held in perpetual lease by the
Earl of Rosebery to a similar amount, according to the Bars’ price
of oatmeal; a sum of L.135, lent on bond ; and a veluntary as-
sessment by the beritors for what may be short of the sum requir-
ed for the poor and other parochial expenses. Besides this regu-
lar provision for the poor, those of them who live in the suburbs
of the parish of Queensferry are entitled to a share of the annual
produce of a large bequest of L.5000 by a Mr Meek, a native of
that place, who left it for the commen behoof of both parishes, un-
der the management of the kirk-session of the latter. There is also
the interest of a sum of L.200 Sterling, bequeathed by James Da-
vidson, Esq. son of a former schoolmaster of Dalmeny, not inter-
mized in any way with the parochial funds, but distributed at the
instance of trustees named in his deed of settlement. To these
henefactions, the Earl of Rosebery adds yearly the liberal sum
of L.20, to be laid out in the purchase chiefly of coals and meal
during the winter, with an unlimited discretion to the minister of
expending, at his Lordship’s charge, whatever more may be needful,
to provide for unforeseen contingencies,—an example which reflects
the highest credit on the benevolence of that distinguished noble-
man, and which, if. generally followed throughout the country,
would greatly enhance the comforts, and elevate the character of
the deserving poor.

April 1843,



PARISH OF ECCLESMACHAN.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. JOHN SMITH, MINISTER.

I.—ToroGraPHY AND NaTUrAL HisTORY,

Name.— THe name of this parish, so far back as can be traced,
has been written Ecclesmachan. It is usually pronounced Inch-
machan, a custom, apparently, of considerable antiquity ; for in a
list of parishes existing in 1581, and contained in ‘¢ the Booke of
the Universal Kirk,” it stands Inchmachame. Of this name, va-
sious Celtic etymologies have been proposed, but none of them
appear satisfactory. The most probable is that assigned in the
former Statistical Report, viz. Ecclesia Machaui, or, in Gaelic,
Eaglais Machan, * the Church of Machan.” .In Keith’s Calen-
dar of Scots Saints is mentioned a St Machan, whoe, it is said,
died about the middle of the ninth century. What connection he
had with this part of the country, it is presumed, cannot now be
ascertained.

Eaxtent and Boundaries.— The parish is divided into two un-
equal portions, distant about one mile from each other, and se-
parated by an outlying district of Linlithgow parish. The west-
ern division is about 24 miles long, and 1} broad; the eastera
division is 1§ miles long, by 1§ broad; and the extreme points
are pearly 5 miles from each other. The extent in square miles
is 3.83, or 2458 imperial acres. The outline is very irregular.
It is bounded on the. north by the parishes of Abercorn and Lin-
lithgow ; on the west, by Bathgate ; on the south, by Livingstone .
and Uphall; and, on the east, by Kirkliston and Auldcathie, a
detached portion of Dalmeny parish.

Topographical Appearances.—The two sections are each com-
posed of a ridge of land. That on the west is the higher, as-
cending, perhaps, to the height of 600 feet, intersected in several
places by shallow ravines, and sloping chiefly to the south. The
eastern ridge is lower, having on its southern edge a pretty steep
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acclivity, called the Tar Hill, or perhaps the Tor Hill. The
climate in the upper district is cold ; but in general it is salubrious,
and, so far as has been observed, is not marked by any epidemical
peculiarities. Several small streams, tributaries of the Almond,
flow eastward through the parish. '

Geology.—The district is on-the edge of the great Lothian
coal-field, and it appears that coal was formerly worked in various
places on the north. Sandstone occurs on most of the farms.
The most prominent rocks are of trap, which seem to have dis-
turbed greatly the strata in this neighbourhood. In the vicinity
of these are found immense beds of indurated clay, interspersed
occasionally with seams of clay-ironstone. The upper soil, which
is chiefly formed from decomposed trap and indurated clay, is
heavy, and highly retentive of moisture. From the trap rocks of
the Tar Hill issues a spring, weakly impregnated with sulphuretted
‘hydrogen. It is called the Bullion Well, and, though formerly
visited by invalids, is now neglected.

From the uniform nature of the soil, and the extent of tillage,
the vegetation of this parish, though repeatedly examined, has
been found to exhibit nothing peculiar. On the western heights,
some of the subalpine mosses, such as Zrichostomum canescens,
and T. heterostichum, occur.

' II.— Civir. HisTory.

Eminent Men.—Mr Alexander Hamilton, the first minister of
this parish after the Revolution, was a man of distinguished talent
and courage. It is said, that when a student, he took down the
head of the celebrated James Guthrie from the Netherbow Port
of Edinburgh, where it had stood a public spectacle for many
years ; and numerous stories are still current among the old people
here about his skill as a swordsman, before he became a minister.
‘He was translated first to Airth, and subsequently to Stirling, and
was deeply involved in the ¢ Marrow Controversy.”

The estate of Bangour gave designation to William Hamilton,
‘Esq. a celebrated Scottish poet, in the early part of the last cen-
tury. He was descended from one of the ancient families of the
name of Hamilton, once numerous in the county of Linlithgow ;
but whether he was born in this parish, or indeed resided in it,
the writer has not ascertained. In his youth he distinguished
himself by numerous songs, and among these, ¢ the Braes of

Yarrow,” published in the “ Tea Table Miscellany.” He is said
. 4
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"to have been a man of elegant accomplishments, and of amiable -
manners. His poems are thus charactetized by no mean judge,
the late Lord Woodhouselee :  Hamilton’s mind is pictured in
his verses. They are the easy and careless effusions of an elegant
fancy and a chastened taste ; and the sentiments they convey are
‘the genuine feelings of a tender and susceptible heart, which per-
petually owned the dominion of some favourite mistress, but whose
passion generally evaporated in song, and made no serious or per-
manent impression.” Having entertained Jacobite predilections,
he was engaged in the Rebellion in 1745; but, after a few years
of exile, contrived to make his peace with the Government, and
returned home. In 1754, he died at Lyons, in the fiftieth year
of his age, leaving behind him, besides some unpublished pieces,
a volume of poetry, which has been repeatedly inserted in collec-
tions of the British Poets. His patrimonial estate is now in the
possession of his great grandson, James Hamilton, Esq. of Ban-
gour and Ninewar, in East Lothian.

The late incumbent of this parish, the Rev. Henry Liston, de-
serves to be noticed among its few eminent men. He had a strong
natura) turn for mechanics and music. He was equally distin-
guished for his scientific and classical attainments, and was in
many other respects a man of genius. With talents adapted for
a far wider sphere of usefulness, he spent his whole ministerial:
life of more than forty-two years in this secluded spot, endeared
to his numerous friends by great warinth of heart and simplicity
of character. His son is now a celebrated surgeon in London.

Parochial Registers.—These exist in nearly unbroken sequence
from 1662. The oldest, which is written in a fair hand, is en-
titled ¢ Episcopall Discipline exercised by the Kirk-Session of
Ecclesmachan.” On the 28th of March 1683, it is minuted,
¢ Mr John Moubray, according to the appointment of the pres-
bytery, preached, and thereafter gave institution to Mr William
Smairt to the mibistry in this place, and the rest of the brethren
off the presbytery gave the said Mr William the right hand off
fellowship.” The only other noticeable peculiarity is a commis-
sion from the Bishop of Edinburgh, in exercise of the civil power
now vested in presbyteries, to certain ministers, authorizing them
to visit and report on the manse and kirk of Ecclesmachan. The
registers, subsequent to the Revolution, are kept in the usual
ferm, and contain nothing remarkable.

Land-owners.—The proprietors are, the Earl of Hopetoun j
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James Hamilton, Esq. of Bangour; Robert Warden, Esq. of
Blackeraig ; the Earl of Buchan also possesses a small pendicle
of land. There is no country seat, nor any resident heritor in
the parish. -

' IIL. —PoruLaTION.

The population has probably diminished during the course of
the last century, chiefly on account of the union of small farms,
and the decay of the villages. There is now scarcely an individual
in the parish who is not directly or indirectly employed in agri-
culture. The following table will show the variations at the se-
veral dates. We cannot account for the smaliness of the number
in 1792,

The pagulation in 1755, according to Dr Webster, was 330
1792, former Statistical Account, 215
1801, Government censun,

181 l Do. . 267
1821, Do. . . 803
Ieal Do. . 299
1841, Government cem:, 03

The last amount was partially increased by an influx of railway
labourers. A private census in 1839, which ascertained only 263
inhabitants, gave the following results : Persons under fifteen : years
of age, 103 ; between fifteen and thicty, 76 ; between thirty and
€ifty, 55; between fifty and seventy, 19 ; above seventy, 10. The
.oumber of unmarried men above fifty, 6; number of unmarried
women and widows above forty-five, 10. There are 51 fami-
lies. The average number of children in families where there
are any, is 3. The number of inbabited houses is 50; uninha-
bited, 4. For the last three years, the average number of births
is seven annually ; of deaths, two; of marriages, one. In these
three years have been born three illegitimate children.

Forty-one families and 220 individuals belong to the Established
Church ; ten families and 43 individuals are attached to the Dis-
senters. Of these are eleven farmers, three blacksmiths, two ear-
penters, one mason, one tailor, two weavers, and ten day labourers.
The rest of the males, and many of the females, are employed in
agriculture. For many years past, there has not been a public-
house in the parish.

IV.—INDUSTRY.

Agriculture.—The whole parish has been enclased mostly by
bedge and ditch, and only a few acres in it have never been sub-
Jjected to the plough. The whole surface employed in tillage and
pasture, little of which is permanent, may be estimated at 2310
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imperial acres. On many of the farms, the most improved sys-
tem of husbandry has been introdueed ; much, however, remains
to be done in the way of draining. In the western district of the
parish, where, on aceeunt of the elevation, wheat is seldom or
never grown, the usual rotation of crop is the following : oats
green crop .ot fallow ; barley or oats; hay ; pastare for one or
two years, In the lower district, on heavy land, the crops are
usually arranged thus: fallow, wheat, beans, barley, hay or pas-
ture, oats; and, on the drier soils, thus, oats, turnip, barley,
hay or pasture. In general, the tenant is restricted only to the
extent that he is not permitted to take two green crops in sueces-
sion without manuring each of them. Throughout the whole of
this country, there is an inclination to diminish the green crop,
and to return to the old fallow system.

With the exception of two or three, the farms are all under
150 imperial acres. They are all let on leases of nineteen years.
The maximum rent is about L.2'the Scotch acre, and the mini-
mum, L.1, 5s. The average rent is about L.1, 10s. the Scotch
acre. On the Earl of Hopetoun’s property, the rent is paid
chiefly by the valae of grain, ascertained from the annual fiars of
Linlisthgowshire. The gross average rental of the parish is about
L.2845. It may be worth while to add, that the annual value of
real property, as assessed by Government in 1815, was L.3051.

Lire-Stoek.—The rearing of cattle is not pursued to any great
extent ; but a few short-horned bulls have been introduced, and
between them and the Ayrshire breed, a valuable cross has been
obtained, which is likely to be cultivated with success. Most of
the grass is depastured, and the green crop censumed by Highland
or Angus-shire oxen, purchased at the northern fairs, or by black -
faced sheep procured from the same quarter.

Produce.—The following may be taken as an estimate of the
gross value of prodacts from land in ordinary years:

Graia, B . . L.5225
Green crop, including beans, 1100
Hay, . . . . 765
Pasture, . . . 870

L.7960

Plantations.—There are about 130 imperial acres of growing
wood. It is mostly young, and little or none of it has ever been
brought to the market. A considerable part of it was planted by
the late Robert Warden, Esq., who thereby greatly improved and
adorned his estate of Blackcraig. Shelter is still wanted in some

quarters of the parish.
LINLITHGOW. H
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V.—ParocuiaL Economy.

Villages.— There is scarcely a village in the parish, the hamlet
at the church containing only eighteen houses.

Post-Office.—The nearest post-office is at Uphall, which is dis-
tant little more than a mile.

Market- Towns.—The markets frequented by the farmers are
those of Linlithgow and Bathgate, which are about five miles re-
spectively from the centres of the two districts of the parish.

Means of Communication.—The road from Edinburgh to Fal-
kirk passes through the northern extremity for about half a mile,
and the middle Glasgow road nearly touches the southern border.
The parish roads are kept in excellent repair.

Ecclesiastical State.—The parish church is situate in the south-
ern corner of the smallest section of the parish; but in the most
convenient position possible for the generality of the inhabitants.
It was in a great measure rebuilt in the beginning of last century,
and having undergone a thorough repair in 1829, it is at present
in excellent order, and is neat and comfortable. It is provided
with 153 sittings, which might easily be increased, if required, to
about 200. It is about four miles by the road from the most dis-
tant house. Considering the smallness of the population, the at-
tendance is generally good. The manse is supposed to have been
built about 1606 ; but an addition was made in 1800 ; and though
the accommodation is not extensive, it is, on the whole, sufficiently
comfortable. The glebe and garden contain about four and a-half
Scotch acres of good ground. The stipend consists of 58 bolls,
8 firlots, 8 lippies of oatmeal ; 58 bolls, 3 firlots, 3 lippies of bar-
ley ; and L.146, 11s of mouney. In the Report of the Religious
Instruction Commissioners, it is valued at L.256, 11s. 8d., from
an average of five years previous to 1836. The same report va-
Jued the unexhausted teind at L.140, 11s. 1d,

Education.—The parish school and school-house, recently re-
built, are in good order. The teacher has the maximum salary ;
but the fees are small, and sometimes not well paid. The average
attendance may be about 50 scholars, who are instructed in read.
ing, writing, and arithmetic. On the extreme border of the pa-
rish, where it meets those of Uphall and Livingstone, a school
was erected by the late Robert Warden, Esq., to whom the pa-
rochial institutions were, in many respects, beholden. Though
highly useful in the locality, its attendance has fluctuated much ;
and it would be greatly benefited by an endowment. In summer,
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it is used as a preaching station in the Sabbath evenings. Every
person in the parish, of suitable age, is able to read. It is not
ascertained that they can all write,

Poor and Parochial Funds.— At present there are three paupers
on the roll ; viz. an aged woman, who receives 5s. a month, an il«
legitimate child, and a lunatic confined in a private asylum.. The
heritors support the latter by private assessment. A few re-
eeive occasional assistance. The ordinary collections amount to
about L.11, and there is, besides, the sum of L.2, 12s. per annum,
the interest of bonded money. Hitherto, there has been no legal
assessment ; but, it is feared, that one may at length become ne-
cessary, from the demand of aliment for illegitimate children, to
which this parish, owing to the shifting habit of its youthful po-
pulation, and other unfavourable circumstances, is much exposed,

April 1843,

PARISH OF LIVINGSTONE.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW,; SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE,

THE REV. JAMES M. ROBERTSON, MINISTER.
THE REV. JOHN LAING, Assistant and Successor,

I.—TorocraPHY AND NaTURAL HisTORY.

Extent, §c.—THE length of the parish is between 4 and 5 miles
from west to east, and it is nearly 1} mile in breadth at each end,
but cootracts in the middle to about half a mile. It contains
4463 Scotch acres. It is bounded on the north-west by Bath-
gate and Ecclesmachan ; on the east, by Uphall and Mid-Calder ;
on the south-east, by Mid-Calder ; south, by West Calder, from
which two parishes it is separated by the Ammon and the Briech
waters ; and, on the west, by Whitburn,

Topographical Appearances.—The surface of the parish, though
much varied, does not rise into any very distinct eminence, except
one in the north-east corner, in the lands of Knightsridge, called
Dechmont Law, or Knightsridge Hill. Though only 686 feet
above the level of the sea, it commands a very extensive prospect.
The climate, though rather moist, is favourable to health.

The Ammon (which rises in the upper parts of Lanarkshire,
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and after a circuitous and somewhat rapid course in a north-easter-
ly direction, falls into the Frith of Forth at the village of Cramond, }
is, in this parish, except for the purposes of mills, a very insignifi-
cant stream in general, but when flooded, rises so as to be almost
magnificent, and increases in breadth to the great injury of its
banks.

Guology and Mineralogy—The Briech water has in its course
gradually made several deep sections of the circumjacent strata.
These are of the coal formation, such as clays, slate-clays, &e.
In the bed of the river quantities of boulders appear. The most
striking natural feature of the parish is the eminence commonly
called Dechmont Law, which, with the surrounding ridges, of
which it is the apex, are of the trap-rock formation. The green-
stone of the summit is succeeded by compact basalt lower down,
and at the foot of the eastern side, fine blue shale appears. Coal
and limestone abound at its eastern side, and thus, from its close
connection with strata of the coal formation, it bears a striking ana-
logy to the larger trap formation of Arthur's Seat, &c.

A lake-stone rock, in the western part of the parish, is supposed
to be fifty feet thick, dips one in every three feet to the north-
west, and rises to the south-east. The lime, coal, and sandstone
near it dip with equal rapidity, and in the same direction as the
lake-stone. Sandstoue is to be found in various directions, and
from twelve to twenty feet thick.

Lime, coal, and whinstone abound over almost all the parish,
but hitherto they bave not been very successfully worked. -

Botany.—Dechmoat Law is in summer beautifully adorned with
the yellow mountain-violet (¥iola lutes,) and white saxifrage (Saxri~

fraga granulata.) In a wood west from Livingstone village, the
elegant lesser winter-green ( Pyrola minor) occurs. On the banks of
a small stream half a mile above it, the great leopard’s bane (Do-
ronicum Pardalianches) is met with ; aud in the woods to the north,
Habenaria bifolia, Listera ovata, and Hyperm hirsutum are
frequently seen.
II -—-vau. Hisrory.

Eminent Men.— Patrick Murray, Baron of Livingstone, well de-
serves to bave his memory recorded. Living about the middle of
the seventeenth century, this young nobleman, in possession of an
ample fortune, turned his attention to the study of natural history,
and, not eontented with forming at his own country-seat a botanie
garden consisting of one thousand species of plants, a great col-
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lection in those infant days of the science, he traversed foreign
countries with a view to increase it. Having gone over the whole
of France, he was, on his way to Italy, cut off by a fever, much -
to the prejudice of natural history in Scotland, and deeply
regretted by those friends who could estimate the worth of charac-
ter displayed by a youth, who, in the uncontrolled possession of an
abundant fortune, could steadily devote himself to a praiseworthy
pursuit.

Patrick Murray had been the friend and pupil of Sir Andrew
Balfour, who, after his death, had his plants transported to Edin-
burgh, where, joining them to his own, Sir Andrew laid the foun-
dation of the first botanic garden in that city.

Land-owners.—These are, the Earl of Rosebery; John Pit-
cairn, Esq., Nether Dechmont; William Wilson, Esq., Dech-
mont ; Alexander Gray, Esq., Knightsridge; Misses Burd, Sea-
field ; William Erskine, Esq., Blackburn House ; Robert For-
syth, Esq., Redhouse ; Thomas Balfour, Esq., Murrayfield; Heirs
of William Baird, Westwood ; Heirs of the Rev. Mr Kennedy,
Briech. :

Parochial Registers.—Pardrhial registers were begun in 1696,
and have been regularly kept since, but, owing to the smallness of
the parish, are not voluminous.

Antiquities.— The house, or, as it wasanciently called, the peel
of Livingstone, was a fortified castle surrounded by a wet ditch
about thirty feet wide, having a rampart of earth.within ; more than
three-fourths of this ditch and rampart remained entire till nearly
the middle of last century. The more modern house of Living-
stone was pulled down by the present proprietor, the Earl of Rose-
bery, soon after his purchasing the principal part of the barony. -
About half a mile north-east of its site is the farm-house of New-
Year Field : here, within these sixty years, stood the remains of
a square tower, said to have been ahunting-seat of the Kings of
Scotland, and frequented by them while Linlithgow was their
stated residence, not only for amusement, but for the benevolent
exercise of their prerogative of touching for the scrofula, for which
disease the water of a spring-well adjoining was considered a spe-
eific, when applied by a royal hand upon the morning of New
Year's Day before sunrise. As no cures are recorded, may not
we cobjecture that the real benefit was inducing both monarch and
subjects to practise early rising and morning ablutions, though as-
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suredly the substituting midsummer for the New- Year would seent
to be an improvement on the plan.

A field, called Maukes Hill, which, being intersected by the
Ammon, is partly in that and partly in Mid- Calder parish, is con-
sidered as a battle-field of long past years, but, as the tumuli con
taining stone-coffins, skeletons, and all that gives verisimilitude to
the conjecture, have mostly been found in the part belonging to
Mid-Calder, the elucidation of this somewhat obscure matter be-
longs more properly to the account of that parish. '

III.—PoruLATION.

The former Statistical Account gives the population in 1755 to

be 598. The state of the population afterwards is as follows :
1801, - 551

1811, - 879
1831, . 1085
1841, - 1004
IV.—INDUSTRY.

Agriculture.—The whole of the parish is cultivated or in pas-
ture, except about 500 acres. There are not 200 acres of moss
which may yet be drained and planted. From 250 to 300 acres
are under wood, viz. spruce, larch, and Scotch fir, with a few hard-
wood trees intermixed. Great attention is paid to the manage-
ment of the plantations, particularly upon Lord Rosebery’s estates,
where likewise they are most extensive, and where the yearly thin-
nings are found very profitable.

Rent.—The rent of land is believed to be about L.1, 4s. per
acre,

The Ayrshire and Teeswater milch cows are commonly kept,
often crossed with other breeds. The general character of the

- husbandry is a regular rotation of white and green crops, and then
the land is laid down for pasture. Nineteen years is the dura-
tion of the common lease.

Quarries and Mines.—There are lime, whmstone, and sand-
stone quarries. The lake-stone quarry, on the property of James
Scales, Esq. in the vicinity of Blackburn village, which bas been
wrought for many years, is much famed for supplying excellent
floors for ovens, It has hitherto given employment to six men in
hewing and quarrying, and is sent to all parts of the country for
nearly thirty miles round. Quarry now given up for encroaching
on the public road. The limestone on the same property is six
feet thick, and lies upon a bed of slaty sandstone, called by the
workmen ¢ blaes,” four feet thick above the coal, which is like-
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wise four feet in thickness; but the working of the coal and lime-
stone have been given up for a number of years, the dip being so
great as to make it unproductive. - :

Manufactures.— There is a cotton spinning-mill at Blackburn,
which employs about 120 men, women, and children above ten
years of age.

V.—ParocHiaL EcoNomy.

There is no market-town in the parish. The nearest is Mid-
Calder, at the distance of two miles. There are two villages, Li-
vingstone in the east, and Blackburn in the west of the parish.

Ecclesiastical State.—The church is situated on the border of
Mid-Calder, about balf a-mile from the eastern extremity of Li-
vingstone parish. It is very inconveniently situate for at least
three-fourths of the population. The church was rebuilt in 1732,
and is in very tolerable repair. It affords accommodation for about
800 people. The only free sitlings are at the communion-table,
which remains standing along the length of the church. '

The manse was built in 1808, at the accession of the present
incumbent, and, being substantially built, has since received only
trifling repairs. The glebe consists of six acres of land, valued at
L.8 per acre. The amount of stipend, as allocated by the Teind
Court, is 10 bolls bear, and 23 bolls meal, and L. 188, 5s. 14d.;
but, owing to some part of the teind being claimed by Whitburn,
formerly a part of this parish, the stipend is not fully paid.

There is a Dissenting chapel in the village of Blackburn, be-
longing to the Independent persuasion. The minister is paid from
the seat-rents and collections at the door. It is but thinly attend-
ed, and is believed to have only 11 joined members.

Three hundred and fourteen males, and 322 females, are con-
sidered as belonging to the Established Church. The number
regularly attending is too fluctuating to be exactly ascertained.

One hundred and eighty-nine males, and 180 females, belong
to the United Secession; 4 males, and 5 females, to the Church
of England ; 9 males, and 12 females, to the Church of Rome.
160 is the average number of communicants in the parish church.

Education.—Number of schools, 2 ; 1 parochial and 1 unendow-
ed. The payochial teacher has the maximum salary, with the legal
accommodations of dwelling-house, school-house, and garden.

A Sabbath school and parish library was set on foot in the vil-
lage of Livingstone four years ago. It consists of nearly 300 well
selected volumes, and is supported by subscription, and much

prized by the population.



120 LINLITHGOWSHIRE.

. Priendly Society.— A Friendly Society was established in Black-
burn in the year 1799, which has been of much benefit to its
members, whose numbers are 80 at present, and their stock amounts
to L. 125 Sterling.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—There are 27 persons on the roll
of poor. The average weekly allowance is 1s. 6d.

Inns—There are five public-houses in the parish, and three
small shops in which spirits are retailed.
. Puel—The fuel in general use is from Benbar coal-work, about
four miles from the western extremity of the parish. The coal is
of first-rate quality, and costs 5s, 6d. per ton on the bill,

April 1843,

PARISH OF BORROWSTOWNNESS.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. KENNETH MACKENZIE, MINISTER.

L —TorograPHY AND NaTUrAL HisToRY.
. BorrowsTowNNEss has become the prevailing name of the unit-

ed parishes of Kinneil and Borrowstownness, although Kinneil was
the original parish, and the other existed as a separate parigh, only
twenty years.

Name and Situation.—The town of Borrowstownness, commonly
pronounced and written Bo’ness, owes its name to its locality, be-
ing situated on a point of land, or ness, projecting into the Frith
of Forth, and about three-yuarters of a mile north from the village
of Borrowstown, formerly Burwardstoun.

Extent, Boundaries, &c.—The parish is of a triangular form,
extending about four miles from east to west, the medium breadth
from north to south being about two miles. The superficial ex-
tent is about 4§ square miles. It is bounded on the north by the
Frith of Forth; on the east by the parish of Carriden; on the
south and west by the parish of Linlithgow, and by the river Avon,
which separates it from the parishes of Muiravonside and Polmont.

Topographical Appearances.—The surface of the parish is un-
even, excepting the Carse of Kinneil. The highest partis in the
south-east angle, which rises to an elevation of about 520 feet
above the Frith. From this eminence, called Irongath Hill, or
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Gilour o’er ’em, the surface slopes graduvally to the banks of the
Avon, on the south and west. On the north the slope terminates
abruptly in a steep bauk, which extends the whole length of the
punsh, varying in elevation and in its distance from the shore, and
is beautifully wooded from Kinneil House to the Avon. From
the top of Glour o’er ’em, the admirer of nature may enjoy one of
the finest views in Scotland.

Meteorology.— The climate, though variable, is remarkably sa~
lubrious. _

Hydrography.—The Frith of Forth is about two miles and a-
half broad between Bo’ness and Culross, and about three miles
broad between the mouth of the Avon and Culross, In the middle
of the channel between these places, the depth is from five to nine
fathoms. Between Bo’ness and Preston Island, the depth is about
four fathoms and a-half, and gradually increases to seventeen and
upwards towards Queensferry. Above Bo’ness the depth of mid-
channel diminishes to three fathoms towards Grangemouth. Pres-
ton Island lies near the north shore ; and the south side of the
channel being free from rocks, the navigation is safe, and the an-
chorage is good off the Port of Bo’ness, Between Bo’ness and
Grangemouth the Frith is shallow, and, at ebb-tide, the water re-
cedes to a considerable distance from the shore, leaving a great
extent of muddy surface, through which the stream of the Avon
passes in a channel which is variable. There is a rise of not less
than 25 feet of water in the middle of the Frith at high spring
tides. At Bo’ness it is full and changes about three o’clock ; and
it is high water nearly eight minutes later than at Leith.

The influence of the river Avon, and other tributaries, on the
water of the Frith, is perceptible in the production of salt,-as might
be expected from the diminution obspecific gravity.

Specific gravity of surface water, taken from the middle of the

Frith, off Bo’ness, after a long continuation of rain:

High water, specific gravity, 1.0206, at 574° Fahrenheit.
Low water, specific gravity, 1.0190, at 57° Fahrenheit.

Specific gravity of surface water after a long duration of fair

weather:

High vuer, specific gravity, 1.02329, at 56}° Fahrenheit.
Low water, specific gravity, 1.02234, at 564° Fahrenheit.

The river Avon, which forms the western boundary of the pa-
rish, and has its sources in the high parts of the parishes of Fal-
kirk and Slamannan, is a considerable-stream, having a copious
supply of water, and a considerable fall between Linlithgow Bridge
and its discharge into the Frith. Several mills have been erected
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on its banks, but three only are in operation at present in the pa«
rish, and belong to the Duke of Hamilton. Two of these are
grain-mills; the third was erected for grinding malt for the brewers
in Bo’ness, but is employed at present for grinding flint for the -
pottery. .

The Dean or Den Burn, and the Gil Burn, two streamlets
running in ravines near Kinneil House, add to the beauty of the
scenery, but are too small for any mechanical advantage.

The number of coal-pits sunk in the neighbourhood has ren-
dered the supply of water in the town scaoty; but there are se-
veral good springs in the landward part of the parish. One of
these, at a small distance from the town, affords a copious supply
of excellent water, part of which is conveyed to the town in pipes.*

Geology and Mineralogy.—The strata in this parish are all of
the coal formation. They lie with considerable regularity, and
in general dip to the west, at the rate of from oue in six, to one
in ten. There is no appearance of trap dikes passing through the
seams of coal, except at the south-east corner of the parish, where
Irongath Hill, or Glour o’er ’em, appears protruded through thew,
There is a great quantity of apparently trap rock lying in beds in
the strata ; and though there is a considerable number of dikes ar
slips in the strata, almost all running nearly east and west, these
slips seldom alter the quality of the coal.

A general section of the strata at' the Spab, a site lately
spoken of as the best for a uew winning of the coal-field (the pre-
sent being considerably exhausted), may be stated as follows :—

Thickness Thickness Thickness Thickness
of seams of earthy of seams of earthy
of coal.  strata. of coal.  strata.

From surface, Feet. Fath, From surface. Feet. Fath.
Sandstone and shale, Secuonbroughtfomrd 304 187
(} 15  Coal. (red,) . 0
le locnl name - Shale, sandstone, and
(Monthunger,) 3} 0 ironstone, 16
Sandstone and shale, Coal, local name (foul,) 55 1)
about . . 0 35 S-ndnone and shale, O 12
Coal, (splinty ) 3 0 Coal, (Easter Main,) 5 0
Sandstone and shale, O 11 Shale and sandstone, 0 12
Coal, (Corbyhall,) 5 0 Coal, (smithy,) . 24 0
Sandstone-and shale, O 8 Shale, . 0 2
Coal, (seven-foot,) 6 0 Coal,—(Caum]a) 2 0
Sandstone and shale, 0 11 —_— —_—
Coal, local name ( l.ntle,) 2 0 484 179
Sandstone and shale, 8 Add thickness of coals
Coal, (Wester Main,) ll 0 to stoney strata, RS
Shale and sandstone, 0 49 ————
—_— — 0 187N
304 137

8 The mineral water mentioned by Sir Robert Sibbald is at present scarcely no-
ticed, although it has given the name Well o' Spa to a locality near the west end of

Bo'ness.
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No coal has ever been found in this district under the Caursay
coal ; aud as these lowest correspond clasely with the lowest seams
in the Fife strata, it may be safely inferred, that there are no
workable seams below this one. It is remarkable, however, that
the limestone, which, on the Fife side, makes its appearance about
85 fathoms under the lowest seam, does not appear in Carriden,
where these lowest seams crop out to the surface. .

Above the strata mentioned in the section, to the west of the
Suab takes on one or two inferior seams of coal, which were par-
tially wrought in former times, when the duty was on the salt, for
the salt-pans. And further to the westward (at Craiginbuck,)
takes on a seam of limestome, which at one time was wrought, af-
fording an excellent building mortar. This seam appears to be
the same as that on the opposite side of the Forth, at Blair House,
which was wrought three years ago.

Some fine specimens of petrifaction have been fuund in a bed
of sandstone, on the east bank of the Avon, near Inneravon.

A remarkable bed of shells has long been known to exist in the
bank near Inneravon. By recent excavations in various parts of
the bank, between Inneravon and Kinneil House, the bed of shells
appears to be continuous between these two places. It consists
chiefly of oyster shells. A species of muscle shell is seen in some
places ; and in one place, part of the mass is petriﬁed

Large trees have been found deeply imbedded in the mud in
the Carse ; and horns and bones of deer and other animals have
been found about twelve feet below the surface, in the excava-
tions for the bridge lately built across the Avon.

Botany.—Bo’ness parish, although of limited exteut, exhibits
rather a numerous Flora, including a large proportion of the whole
plants of Linlithgowshire, some of Wblch appear to be confined
within its limits.

On taking a general view of the botany of the county, there is
not perhaps much, excluding the Cryptogamia, which has not been
found in the rich neighbouring district of Edinburgh ; while many
of the more interesting plants of the coast disappear westward,
and. those of the higher range of the Pentlands are not met with
on the less elevated hills of Linlithgowshire. Partaking, however,
of the same advantage of situation upon the Frith of Forth (an
arm of the sea, it may be observed, which, besides being remark-
able for the many rare plants found on its shores, would seem,
by its influence upon the climate and scenery, to enrich the:
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botany of the whole valley of Forth;) possessing also the im-
portant reqmsne of every variety of soil, this county is far from
being deficient in a botanical point of view. If the observation be
directed to that part of it which comprehends the parish of Bo’ness,
although promising in its general features, it would scarcely be ex-
pected, on a more particular inspection, to be the best locality for
plants. The maritime species, which, as said before, gradually di-
minish in numbers as the shore of the Frith is traced upwards, will
be seen, on reaching this, to have almost entirely disappeared,
owing to the great accumulation of mud, and perhaps, also, the
diminished saltness of the water. Besides this, there is no ground
sufficiently elevated for producing the plants of high situations.
The Flora of the parish is thus so far wantiog in variety. There
are, however, certain ‘favourable citcumstances which account for
the large number of plants, on the whole, to be met with. The
scenery is finely diversified with woods and plantations, which shel~
ter in abundance their peculiar species. The river Avon, alse,
forming the boundary on the west, appears to have brought down
the rarer plants which are found in ascending its higher course.
The deep rocky dens at Tod’s mill accordingly abound with such,
and Scirpus sylvaticus, Melica nutans, Chrysosplenium alternifolium,
Eupatorium cannabinum, Trollius europeus ; and plants by no means
commonly met with may there be gathered in abundance, if the .
romantic beauty of the scene, as the river winds amidst its steep
and wooded banks, may allow the eye to rest upon the humbler
vegetation around. The flowering fern, Osmunda regalis, is also
seen in this spot, but does not extend higher up ; although frequent
enough on the west coast, it appears in Scotland to shun the
sharper breezes of the east; and the station just mentioned is
probably the nearest to Edinburgh. 7Zortula rigida, a small spe-
cies of moss, which is chiefly confined to the south of England,
also grows abundantly by the river side at Inneravon. The pre-
sence of these two plants, especially the fern, seems to indicate a
certain approach to a western climate, or is owing to the highly
sheltered situation. The flowering fern becomes more frequent
in Stirlingshire. 1

Among the few maritime plants within the bounds may be
mentioned Seirpus maritimus, and Aster tripolium, which are seen
in the summer months plentifully covering the brackish marshes
below Kinneil. The aster is not a rare plant, and is mentioned
chiefly because it was found in the same place by Sibbald nearly

3
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one hundred and eighty years ago; and what is more deserving of no-
tice, as connected with the gradual changes which take place in es-
tuaries, he also observed growing on the shore, Thalictrum minus,
and Arundo arenaria, a strictly maritime plant, and so well known
to bind the loose sand of the sea shore ; neither of which are now
to be seen ; a circurnstance of some importance, as it confirms the
supposition derived from other observations, that there has been a
great increase of the sleeches since Sibbald’s time, and in some
spots even a change from a comparatively sandy to a muddy beach.
On searching the shore eastward, the same plants do not begin to
appear for several miles, until the shore changes its character.

The patural copse wood of Kinneil, the only oue in the county,
affords, as might be expected, some rather peculiar plants, among
which may be reckoned Betonica officiralis, very rare in this part
of Scotland, and Habenaria albida, for which it is a singular sta-
tion, that being a plant of hilly pastures. It is chiefly in this wood
that the additions to the Scottish Cryptogamia were found, and
which will be afterwards specified. Geranium pheum, Listera Ni-
dus- Avis, Arum maculatum, are a few of the rarer flowering plants
to be met with in the woods. In regard to the comparative pre-
valence of natural orders, the Graminiz are the most numerous
in species, the Orchidize somewhat deficient. The common reed
fills the ditches and wet places of the carse lands. Poa aquatica,
and Festuca elatior, grasses of highly nutritive properties, are
abundant by the side of the Avon.

Of the Cryptogamia, the Musci are not uninteresting. Hyp-
num murale and Tortula revoluta are frequent in old stone walls
about Kinneil. TZetraphkis Browniana and Jungermannia furcata
occur in fruit; the latter very rare in the Dean plantation. Di-
eranum flexuosum covers the entire bank at Tod’s Mill in abun-
dant fructification. Hypnum piliferum is cornmon, but not in
fruit, although it may be obtained in that state about Hopetoun
woods, in the parish of Abercorn.

Of the Lichenes and Alge, there is nothing particular to be
said. The marine are very scarce, from the vature of the beach.

The Fungi now remain to be notieed, which, as they have not
been so extensively investigated in Seotland, as other plants, may,
on that account, be expected to afford greater novelties. The
agarics are particularly numerous. In this parish two localities
for these may be distinguished as abounding in kinds of generally
different forms and qualities. .In the rich old pastures of Kinneil
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those of fragile and delicate appearance often dissolving in decay
may be looked for, while the surrounding woods and plantations bhar-
bourthe larger species, which are usually acrid or tufted. Among the
latter, Agaricus Piperatus, Volemum, Flezuosus, Vellereus, Adustus,
although not generally common, are abundant under Kinneil copse.
Of the former A. Sowerbei, a curious species, may be mentioned
as growing on the baok by the shore. The following list of Fungi
of different genera, gathered in the woods immediately around Kin-
neil, are allowed to be additions to the Scottish flora; the first nine
are likewise quite new to Britain. 'I'he names are chiefly those
of Fries and Berkeley.

Several species, apparently undescribed, were met with § but, as
they have notyet been sufficiently examined, it is not judged proper
to publish them in this place. Although Fungi are obscure plants,
and little regarded, the subjoined list may be useful as a guide to
those who attend to such things in other parts of the country, be-
sides appearing necessary to complete this botanical view.

Agaricus saccharinus Agaricus grammopodius  Agaricus collinitus

algidus reme woneeere DULYTACEUS plumosus
Arcyria fusca ovenpoems o~ CAMPptophyllus erinaceus
Stemonitis typhoides glyciosmus puS——— T, {1} ]
Didymium costatum capillaris Iris

clavus p—— ) (7 Cantharellus sinuosus

Diderma lepidota PR——— 7. T T [ove— 1" )1
Cribraria fulva arpesmeeeoncee PteTigENUS Merulius pallens

argillacea pU——"_ T[] Hydnum oebnoeum
Agaricus albo-brunnius rhodopolius

fulvus reticulatus Distillaria qmsqulluns

columbetta pRE—— T Didymium cinereum
crneonnccecee fEtEDS UR———— 1 farinaceum
covemocennes fITIOBUS sanguineus Doratomyces neesii corda
avescscese e blemniug radicosus Diochia elegans®

As the various species of fungi are more generally distributed in
temperate regions, to which they are chiefly confined, than plants
of higher rank, owing, perhaps, to their greater simplicity of struc-
ture, it is very probable that all of the above might be found
throughout Britain wherever those circumstances chiefly required
for the production of the order, shade, and moisture exist. The
fungi of the continent, indeed, are in a great many cases iden-
tical with those of this country. To this law of comparatively ge-
neral distribution, there are, however, exceptions, and some of the
species appear to be very local, their diffusion depending upon
causes which are not understood. There is also a peculiarity con-

* MrJ C. Bauchep, who communicated this article on botany, submitted
speeimem of nenrly all the Fungi to the Rev. Mr Berkeley, the beu:uthomy on
the subjoct in this country, who confirmed or determined the namos of the species.

4
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nected with the stations of fungi: while some species are equally
constant to these as the higher tribes of plants, there are others
very uncertain in this respect, disappearing for a succession of sea-
sons together, seemingly without any relation to the more obvious
intluence of moist weather. The causes of this would appear to
be obscure as the plants themselvés, but the fact probably points
to a field of investigation in some measure peculiar to them, al-
though, in regard to the more general views of botanical geogra-
phy, they may have less claim upon the attention.

The following is a general list of a few more of the rarer plants :

Hippuris vulgaris Orthotricum diaphinum  Agaricus mutabilis
Veronica montana Hookeria lucens titubans
Viburnum opulus Hypnum pl - vaginatus
Fedia olitoria Gnmmu tncophylla fuliginosus
Aira cristata um - flaccidus
Milium effusum Bnum iegnhtum - parasiticus
Festuca bromoides - réstratum ~ cochleatus
Sagina maritima Jungermannia crenulata  Cantbarellus cornucopioides
Adoxa moschatellina ———————polyganthos lutescene
Origanum vulgare Marchantia conica Radulum orbicura
. Hieracium umbellatum Calocera viscosa
Carex eurta Fun~er. Helvella elastica
Agaricus ceraceus Leotia lubrica

Muscr, &e. in fruit. — confluens Pezeza macropus
Gymnostomum Heimii clavus Physarum sinuosum
Didymodon trifarum = scaber Geoglossum cucullatum

heteromallum.

Ornithology.—The only bird at all rare is the fauvette (Sylvia
hortensis.) It seems to be as common some seasons about Kin-
neil as the black-cap, and is probably generally so throughout
Scotland, although overlooked from its similarity to others.

IL—CiviL HisTory.

Parochial Records.—The parochial records consist of, 1s¢, five
volumes of minutes of session, regularly kept from 1694, and af-
fording interesting information regarding the state of morality and
religion in the parish in former times ; 2d, six volumes of registers
of births, baptisms, proclamations, and marriages ; the oldest vo-
lumes are imperfect ; the earliest entry is dated 1648; 3d, two
volumes recording deaths, the first from 1736 to 1783, the se-
cond from 1808 to the present time ; 4k, several volumes relating
to the management of the poor’s funds.

Antiquities.—The Wall of Antoninus, commonly called Gra-
ham’s Dyke, traversed this parish. This celebrated rampart, in
its course between the Friths of Forth and Clyde, crossed the
river Avon, the western boundary of the parish, near Inneravon,
and proceeded in an easterly direction towards Carriden or Aber-
corn ; and its tract is still visible at various places along the high
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grounds of the parish. Traces of the military road on the south
side of the rampart have been recently discovered near Inneravon,
and also in two different fields east from Kinneil House. It is ge-
nerally supposed that a station existed at Inneravon, and proba-
bly there was another at Kinneil. The wall was constructed, not
by one, but by several individuals, at different periods; and they
seem to bave terminated the work at different places.* Hence
has arisen some diversity of opinion regarding the site of the place
whose name Bede and Nennius have so particularly recorded, and
near to which, according to them, was the eastern termination of
the rampart. T'he notices of ancient historians, aud the researches
of modern times, point to one or the other of two localities,t viz.
to Kinneil in this parish, and to Weltoun in the parish of Carri-
den, as the place referred to by Bede and Nennius., Perhaps the
name or names mentioned by these authors refer to botht places,
and not to one of them exclusively. Cenail,§ (which Nennius
mentions as Scottish, i, e. Celtic, indicating an earlier period,)
may refer to Kinneil, || where the earliest termination of the wall
is generally supposed to have been; and Penguaul, Penfahel, and

® The situation of Kinneil, commanding so extensive a view of the Frith of Forth,
was most suitable for a watch-toger, and especially for one terminating the line of
forts erected between Forth and Clyde by Agricola. The wall afterwards construct-
ed by Lollius Urbicus might advantageously have terminated at this watch-tower ;
and the situation being one of importance, dnd probably mueh frequented, a vil
might spring up in its vicinity at an early period. And though aRerwards, on dife
ferent oeeufom, addicional forts or towers were erected, and the wall was repaired.
and extended farther east, yet the village in the vicinity of the original termination of
the rampart would retain its name, even th:n:ﬁh another station might be erected near
the more recent termination, and a name of similar import given toit. A village
near the eastern termination of the wall of Severus was cllletlenﬂaend.

+ The termination of the wall, according to Gildas, was near Carriden, about two
railes weet from Abercorn ;—according to Bede, about two miles west from Aber-
corn, at a place called Penfahel or Pecneltun ;—according to Nennius, at a place cal-
led Penguaul, or Peneltun, or Cenail ;—and, according to Fordun, near Carriden.
1t was the opinion of Sibbald, one of the earliest antiquarians who considered this sub.
ject, that Penvahel or Peneltun of Bede was the very same as Walltown or Weltoun.
near Carriden. Yet more recent and abler antiquarians have considered Cenail, Pen-
vahel, and Peneltun of the more ancient authors the same as Kinneil.

1 Regarding Nennius, Ritson remarks, ¢ He had slready coufounded the wall of
the real Severus with that of Antoninus, and now confounds another Severus with
somebody else.” Perhaps in this instance he has confounded two names which, though
of similar import, refer to two different localities.

§ Cenail is evidenly Celtic, and may be derived from Cean, ¢ head” or * end,” and
Jal, “sod,” *¢ turf,” *¢ wall,” or ** fence”——the possessive case of which is fhail, having
Jh perfectly quiescent.  Cenail may thus signify “ end of the turf wall” or * wall.
end.” Penguaul or Penvahel is Cambre-British, signifying « wall-head” or  wall-
end ;" and Peneltun has the same signification, with the addition of the Saxon ter.
mination ** tun **

_ | Cenail, mentioned only by Nennius, (who does not specify distanee nor mention
Carriden or Abercorn,) corresponds with Kinneil, at lcast in pronunciation ; whilst,
in respect of both pronunciation and distance, Penvahel and Peneltun of Bede cor-
respond better with Weltoun in Carriden than with Kinneil.
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Peneltun, (Cambro- British, and Saxon, indicating a later period,)
may refer to Weltoun,* which is farther east than Kinneil, and
which, probably, is not far from the place to which the wall was
finally extended.

Near the farm-steading of Upper Kinneil, and a little south of
the Roman wall, there was a small tumulus or cairn, locally known
by the name of the Laughing Hill. On its being opened to ob-
tain stones for drains, four stone-coffins and four urns were found.
The coffins contained black mould; and the urns, which were
full of human bones, were inverted and placed upon flat stones.
Probably the bodies were burned, and, after the calcined bones
were collected and put into the urns, the remaining ashes were
put into the coffins. The bones, when first discovered, were al-
most white ; but, when exposed to the air, they very soon became
black, and crumbled to dust. Several pieces of charcoal were
found amongst them. -

A stone coffin and an urn, similar to those already mentioned,
were found in the north side of an eminence called Bell’s Know,
immediately above the town of Bo’ness.

A curious battle axe, coins, and other antiquities, have been
found in different parts of the parish. One of the coins last found
is a large silver piece of James VI

Near Inneravon, there is an old tower, with traces of consider-
able ruins connected with it. Sibbald calls it a Roman watch-
tower; but it has not the aspect of a Roman tower. In the
Auchinleck Chronicle of James IL, it.is mentioned, that, in the
beginning of Mareh 1455, ¢ James I1. kest down the Castell of
Inveravyne, and sine incontinent passed till Glasgow,” on an ex-
pedition against Douglasdale; &c. The old ruin at Inveravon is
most probably one of the corner towers of the Castle of Ionera-
von, built on the site of the Roman station.

Below Kinneil House, upon the coast, there was formerly a cas-

® It is not surprising that Penguaul, Penfahel, and Peneltun should ultimately be-
come Weltun or Weltoun, through the prevailing influence of the Saxon language.
The omiesion of the initial syllable is not without example. Edinburgh was, and
still is, Dun-Eiden in Celtic ; Imcuningham is now Cunningham ; Linlithgow is oe-
casionally written Lithgow, even in important documents. The interchange of gu,
w, and f in pronunciation, may be traced, even to this day, in different parts of Scot-
Jand. Weltoun seems to have been a locality of some notoricty nearly 200 years be-
fore Sibbald wrote his Account of Linlithgowshire. Alexander Hamilton in le
Grange, had a charter, undcr the great seal, of the lands of Weltoun in Linlithgow-
shire, of date 8th February 1524. Two important requisites of a Roman station ex-
ist ut Weltoun, viz. an emi e,and a good supply of water. These might have
rendered it an eligible site for a station, although the wall, probably, did not termi-
nate at that place, but in its vicinity, and nearer to the Frith.

LINLITHGOW, 1
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tle, named Castle Lyon. It was built by a lady of the house of
Glamis, and was probably the jointure house of Lady Margaret
Lyon, daughter of Lord Glamis, and widow of John, first Mar-
quis of Hamilton. A path leading from the high ground towards
the shore, still called the Castle Loan, and some remains of a wall,
called the Castle garden wall, indicate that the site of Castle Lyon -
was near the Snab. _

Kinneil House.—Kinneil House, one of the family seats of the
Duke of Hamilton, is the most remarkable building in the parish.
The barony of Kioneil is one of the most ancient possessions of
the house of Hamilton, and is associated with some interesting
events in the history of that noble family.

According to ¢ Ffrier Mark Hamiltonis Historie,” King Ro-
bert the Bruce gave all the landseof Kinneil to Sir Gilbert Ha-
milton, ¢ for his trew service and greit manheid,” and especially
for having slain ¢ the greit Lieutennant of Yngland upon Kyn-
nale Muir.”* From the same authority we learn, that this Sir
Gilbert had been' with The Bruce in the field of Bannockburn,
and was one of the seven knights that kept the King’s, person.
For Sir Gilbert’s exploit upon Kynnale Muir,  King Robert

~gaif till him his armis till weir in Scotland, thre sinkfuilzies
in ane bludy feild.” The descendants of Sir Gilbert have
held the lands and barony of Kinneil by various charters from
the kings of Scotland. One of the earliest is dated July 28th
1323, granted by Robert L., in favour of Walter, the son of Gil-
bert. A charter of the lands and barony of Kinneil was granted
to James, the first Lord Hamilton, who, in 1474, married the
Countess of Arran, which event connected the house of Hamilton
with the royal family of Scotland.

When the Duke of Charterherault was Regent, he made large
repairs upon Kinneil House. Considerable alterations were made
upon it by Duchess Anne and Duke William, who, according to
Sibbald, greatly embellished it. Probably, at this period, the old
eastle or keep was modernized in the front, but not in good taste,
The battlement was converted into a ct:rnice and balusters; the

® fo a place formerly known as Kirneil Muir, a remarkable stone lay near the
road which used to be a thoroughfare between Linlithgow and Falkirk, or Stirling.
It was seven feet long, five feet broad, and three fect thick. Its upper surface bad
been roughly dressed, a groove had been cug roynd the border, and a croes in the cen.
tre. It hlt{ a monumental appearance ; but there is no vestige of tradition regard-
ing it. Excepting theachievement of Sir Gilbert, there is no remarkable event associat-
e;l with the locality. About twenty years ago, the stone, being an obstruction to the
plough, was blown to pieces and removed.
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windows were enlarged, and a staircase was erected at each end.
A wing projecting eastward was erected on the north ; and, appa-
rently, a corresponding wing was intended to have been placed on
the south, so as to form three sides ofa square.

Kinpeil House is built on the edge of a bank, about sixty feet
above the level of the sea, and is surrounded with a considerable
quantity of patural wood. The approach is from the east, along
a beautiful avenue of aged trees. From the roof of the main build-
ing, which is flat, and covered with lead, there is an extensive and
beautiful prospect. The admirable situation of Kinneil House, -
and the natural beauties connected with it, warrant Sibbald’s mag-
nificent description of this ¢ princely seat.” But the hand of time
has changed the scene ; the natural beauties of the place remain,

- but those of art, which Sibbald so much admired, have been ef-
faced, and the internal decorations are gone. The numerous and
spacious apartments of Kinneil House are at present uninhabited.
Though in former times it was the abode of nobles, and the re-
treat of kings, the present generation will regard it rather as the
favourite residence of the philosopher and philanthropist, The
celebrated Dugald Stewart resided here about twenty years; and
from this plaee he has dated most of those works which are the
imperishable monuments of his genins,, The removal of Mrs and
Miss Btewart, who were the last occupants of Kinneil House, was
much regretted by every inhabitant of the parish; and the active
and extensive benevolence of that family will be long and grate-
fully remembered.

Celebrated Characters.— Other names besides Professor Stew-
art’s may be mentioned, as connected with both Kinneil and the
University of Edinburgh. Principal Wishart was the son of the
last minister of Kinneil ; and Principal Buaird, whose name will ever
be associated with the cause of education in the Highlands and
Islands of Scotland, was a native of this parish.

. A considerable number of clergymen might be mentioned as
connected with this parish by birth or residence.” One family has

" produced four clergymen of the Church of Scotland, all of dis~

tinguished excellence, though perhaps the editor of the last edi-
tion of Wodrow’s Church History is best known to fame,

The celebrated James Watt matured some of his improvements
on the steam-engine, during his residence at Kinneil House. In
1769, Mr Watt, on the recommendation of Dr Black of Glasgow,
entered into an engagement with Dr Roebuck, of Carron Irone
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works, a man equally eminent for kindness of heart, ability, and
enterprise. Dr Roebuck at this time rented the coal-works on the
estate of Kinneil. Under the superintendence of Mr Watt, a
small steam-engine was constructed at Kinneil House. The cy-
linder was made of block tin, and was eighteen inches diameter.
The first experiment was made at one of the coal-mines, and the
action of the engine far surpassed even the sanguine expectations
of the proprietors. Indeed, so great was Watt’s success, that he
procured a patent “ for saving steam and fuel in fire-engines.”
Another place, however, was destined to be the field of his pros-
perous career. ‘The pecuniary difficulties in which Dr Roebuck
became at this time involved, checked the proceedings at Kinneil ;
and soon afterwards, Mr Watt formed a connection with Mr
Boulton, under the celebrated firm, Boulton, Watt, and Co. Soho,
Birmingham.

The building at Kinneil in which Watt constructed the im-
proved engine still remains.

There are several circumstances connected with this parish, and
referring to the troublous times before the Revolution, which are
worthy of being noticed. Many of them are recorded by Wodrow.

Mr William Wishart, the last minister of the parish of Kinneil,
was amongst the earliest yictims of the persecution which com-
menced in 1660. In the month of July be officiated at Kinneil,
and io September following, he was imprisoned in Edinburgh.
On an application from the presbytery of Linlithgow in 1661, he
was freed from confinement ; but in 1675 letters of intercommun-
ing were issued against him. He continued in prison till 1685,
when a sentence of banishment was pronounced against him ; but,
owing to the death of the King, this sentence was not carried into
effect, and he was liberated under bhond to compear when called.
He was residing at Leith in 1691. He had three sons who attain-
ed to great distinetion, Sir George Wishart of Clifton Hall,
Rear-Admiral Wishart, and Principal Wishart of the University
of Edinburgh. “The admiral, having no children, left his fortune,
amounting to L.16,000 or L.20,000, to the Principal. :

Mr John Wauch was the first minister of the parish of Bo’ness.
He, too, suffered in the persecution, having been denounced. in
16738. He probably retired to Ireland, as did some of the other
members of the presbytery of Linlithgow.

During Episcopacy, the inductien of Mr James Hamilton in
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- 1678, and also that of Mr William Thomson in 1685, are noted
in the parish record.

On November 30th 1687, the brethren of the presbytery of
Linlithgow met at Bo’ness, ¢ and having called upon the name of
God, they did constitute themselves in a presbytery.” This was
probably the first of the regular meetings of the presbytery after
the liberty. And on December 7th they met again at Bo’ness, * in
order to the settling of Mr Michael Potter to be minister unto the
Presbyterian congregation of the Ness.”

This Mr Potter had been subjected to the most rigorous per-
secution. In 1678, he passed his trials before some Presbyterian
ministers, arid soon after was privately ordained upon a call from
a gweat body of Presbyterians in the parish of St Ninians. At
the instigation of the Bishop of Dunblame, a violent persecution
was raised against him, which compelled him twice to retire to
Holland. He was at last apprehended in his own house in Bo’ness
in 1681, and imprisoned in_Edinburgh, and afterwards sent to the
Bass. In 1685, his confinement in the Bass was altered into an
act of banishment. But circumstances preventing his going once
more to Holland, he remained in secrecy till the liberty in 1687,
when he was settled in Bo’ness. In 1698, he was called to Ec-
clesmachan, and afterwards to Dunblane, where he died. His son
was minister of Kippen, and afterwards Professor of Divinity in the
University of Glasgow.

Mr Robert Hamilton, afterwards Sir Robert, (son of Sir Tho-
mas Hamilton of Preston and Fingalton), who was very promi-
nent and zealous in the cause of the Covenanters, resided at Bo’-
ness for some time previous to his death, which took place in 1701.

The following names are recorded amongst the worthies who
experienced the violence of persecution. Belonging to Kinneil,
Mr Robert Hamilton, son of the' Chamberlain of Kinneil, regard-
ing whom there are still some traditional recollections, was impri-
soned and tortured, and Andrew Murdoch was banished. Be-
longing to Bo’ness, Archibald Stewart, William Gougar, William
Cuthill, and the intrepid and devoted Marion Harvey, were exe-
cuted. :

John Gib, a sailor in Bo’ness, was the leader of that remarkable
sect of fanatice who appeared a short time before the Revolution,
and assumed the name of * Sweet Singers,” but were generally
called Gibbites.

The memory of Mr John Henderson, shipmaster, is held in
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high estimation in this place. He was born in 1686, aed died in
1758. He was a man of singular humility, benevolence, and
piety, spending much of his time in divine meditations, which he
was in the habit of committing to writing,  to keep his heart from
wandering, and fixt it upon divine and spiritual subjects.” A
small selection from these meditations was published after his
death, and forms a composition remarkable for the regularity of
its structure, and for the simplicity, spirituality, and fervour of its
devotional sentiments,®
HI.—PoruraTiON.

Kinneil was a considerable town long before any pepulation had
collected at the Ness. In the year 1661, there were 559 “com-
municable” persons in the parish of Kinneil, the greater part of
whom resided in the town of Kinneil. Probably the increase of
trade at the Ness, and other causes, withdrew the population from
the town of Kinneil ; so that in 1691, it was almost wholly demo-
lished; a few families only remained. But the great improve-
ments in agriculture, since the middle of the eighteenth century,
have in some measure restored the population of the barony, al-
though the town of Kinneil has wholly disappeared.

In 1755, the population of the parish was 2668
1795, town, 2613 ; country, 565 38178

1801, exclusive of 214 seamen, 2790
1811, do. 184 do. . 2768
1821, do. 158 do. . 018
1831, . . . 2809
1841, . . 2347

The town of Bo’ness, notwithstanding its unpromising external
appearance, is remarkable for the healthiness and longevity of the
inhabitants. By a table, constructed with much care from the
register of deaths for a period of twenty-five years immediately
preceding 1834, it appears that the number of deaths was 1342 ;
that during that time, 167 persons died between 60 and 70 years
of age ; 227, between 70 and 80; 119, between 80 and 90; and
11, upwards of 90.

* The following notices refer to the commotions in 1745. Instructions and war-
rants were sent on different occasions, through the Custom-House here, to the She-
riff of Linlithgow, the Magistrates of South Queensferry, and “ the baillie of this
town,” regarding suspected persons and ships.

The Custom-House was robbed by the rebels, who carried off a number of broad-
sword blades, cutlasses, &c. which formed part of a shipment from Germany, made
by an armourer in Glasgow, on a Treasury warrant.

A troop of dragoons, brought to protect Kinneil House, accidentally set fire to
some of the seats which remained in the old church of Kinneil. Kinneil House
had, on former occasions, been ex to violence. In December 1559, durin,
pop}lh_r commotions, it was pil , and in February followinﬁ:t was burned ; an
lhg:‘l!.n it was burned, in 1570, by some of the English army who had invaded Scot-
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The inbabitants of Bo’ness are in general shrewd, intelligent,
and enterprizing ; and, as many of them are early trained to the
sea, natives of the parish may be found in the most distant parts
of the world. The farmers on the barony of Kinneil are a most
respectable and exemplary part of the community. The general
character of the colliers has improved much of late years.

IV.—InpusTry.

The Duke of Hamilton is proprietor and superior of the whole
parish, with the exception of a farm of 169 imperial acres, morti-
fied for behoof of the minister.

Agriculture.—Excepting the patural wood near Kinneil House,
the wooded banks of the Avon, and various stripe of planting in-
tersecting the parish for ornament or shelter, the whole surface is -
arable. The average rental may be stated as follows:

430 acres of carse land, at L.3, Se. per acre, .- L1854 10 0
2230 acres of dry field, at L.1,16s. do. . . 4014 0 O
270 acres under plantation at 12s. do. . 162 0 0

2930 Total, . . . 1.5530 10 O

The whole valuation of the pnrlsh stands in the cess-books of
the county at 1.8559, 8s. Scots.

The carse land is of excellent quality. The dry-field consists
of various kinds of soil. The greatest part is thin, lies on a tilly
bed, and requires extensive draining, which has been, and still is,
carried on to a considerable extent on modern principles, and with
beneficial results.

The rotation of crops for carse land is that called the six-shift
course; lst, oats; 2d, summer-fallow; 3d, wheat; 4k, beans;
5th, barley ; and, 6¢h, clover-grass, which is cut for hay. The
rotation for dry-field is the same, where the land is stiff, and on a
retentive bottom; but where the land is free, and not retentive of
moisture, a green drilled crop is substituted for summer fallow.
In this case, the ground remains in pasture a year or two after the
removal of the hay crop.

Leases, §c.—Although a few are for a shorter period, the leases
are usually for nineteen years, by which means the farmer is en-
couraged to employ his capital in the improvement of his farm,
and his industry is stimulated. The farms are generally let upon
corn rents, convertible according to the fiars prices of the county
for the crop and year for which the rents are payable. By this
_mode of adjusting the rents, agricultural distress may be said to
be unknown in the parish.
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Coal.— The outcropping of seme of the seams of coal in this
neighbourhood must have attracted notiee to this mineral at an
early period. About the middle of the fifteenth century, Pope
Pius IL. expressed his astonishment at ¢ black stones” being given
in alms to the poor of Scotland. Even as early as 1291, a char-
ter was granted in favour of the Abbets of Dunfermline, giving
the right of digging coals in the neighbourhood of the convent.
The seams of coal in this neighbourhood are, generally speaking,
of good thickness, and excellent quality ; and most of them appear
to have been wrought at a very early period, in different places,
and [requently to a great extent. When the salt-works (consist-
ing of sixteen pans, producing about 87,000 bushels annually,)
were in full operation, the average quantity of coal raised in twelve
months might be about 44,000 tons.  For nearly forty years past,
however, no pit has been in operation in this parish, the coals be-
ing raised in the neighbouring parish of Carriden. But lately, ow-
ing to a serious irruption of water, the works there were interrupted,
when an old pit was re-opened in Bo'ness, and was wrought for a
short period. At the hill, the great coal was then sold at 10s.
per ton, and the chews at 6s. per ton. The great coal was shipped
at 9s. per ton, and the cketos at 7s. per ton.

The neighbourhood of the Snab has been proposed as the most
favourable situation for a new winning of the coal-field. The es-
tablishment of a collery at this place is expected to be of consi-
derable advantage to the town.

Ironstone was formerly wrought to a considerable extent, but is.
wrought only in small quantities at present, along with the coal.

Quarries.—From the trap rock or whinstome quarries are nb-
tained stones for building, and excellent metal for the roads.

There are several freestone quarries in the parish, the best of
which is at Craigenbuck. The stone whieh it yields is of excel-
lent quality, and is much used for hearths and ovens.

The limestone, which is more suitable for mortar than for ma-
nure, is not wrought at present.

Fisgheries.—The inhabitants of this place turned their attention
to whale-fishing about sixty years ago. At one time eight whale-
ships belonged to Bo'ness. But this branch of industry, though
attempted at different penodc has pot been presperous, and only
one vessel is employed in it at present. There are two beiling- -
houses for preparing the whale-oil ; one of which has been repmnd'
lately, and made very complete in its arrangements.
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Herrings seldom appear here in great quantities. In 1794-5,
there was a very successful fishing, but there has been ‘none here
since.

The establishment of a salmon-fishery at the mouth of the Avon
has been proposed, but not yet carried into effect.

Haddock, cod, and skate, are found in the Frith; but little at-
tention is paid to fishing, owing, probably, to the want of bait.

Small quantities of trout and flounders are oecasionally taken
with hand-nets, in the stream of the Avon.

Manufactures.— Tambouring was formerly a very profitable em-
ployment to a great number of females in this place. This branch
of industry now affords but a small remuneration, although a con-
siderable number is still employed in it.

The Bo’ness Pottery commenced on a small scale in the year
1784, and has been earried on by various individuals since that
time. The present proprietors have greatly enlarged their pre-
mises, and extended their works. 'They manufacture almost every
variety of stone and earthen-ware.

The Bo’ness Foundery is generally well employed. The che-
mical has lately been much enlarged.

At the east eud of the town there is an extensive bonded wood-
yard, and an open woedyard on the Links. Connected with them,
and driven by steam, is a saw-mill, containing both circular and
vertical saws, and a very ingenious and efficient planing machine.
The same steam-engine moves machinery for preparing bone
manure. .

There is a rope-work on a small scale on the Links.

The Bo’ness distillery, at the weat end of the tewn, is an exten-
sive establishment ; but the present proprietor is working it on a
limited scale, producing only spirit of superior quality. The re-
venue paid to Government, including malt duty, is sometimes con-
siderably above L. 300 per week. The farmers obtain a large
supply of excellent manure from the’distillery, as there is connect~
ed with it extensive accommodation for feeding cattle.

Besides the grain malted and used at the distillery, a conside-
rable quantity is malted elsewhere, and sent out of the parish,

At this port there is an extensive grain trade, foreign and Bri-
tish. The grain merchants have accommodation for warehousing
15000 quarters. Almost all the granaries have been used as
bonded warehouses.

Shipping.—In the course of the 17th century, Bo’ness became
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the great emporium of coummeree with Holland and the Baltic.
Probably it profited much by the declaration of Parliament in 1672,
that burghs of regality and barony were entitled to the same free-
dom of trade as royal burghs. The strict regulations of the En-
glish customs laws, introduced at the Wnion, proving a great re-
straint upon the trade of Scotland, the Scottish merchants turned
their attention to the English colonies, then opened to them, and
a great trade in tobacco, and other colonial produce arese, by which
the merchants of this place acquired much wealth. Between 1750
and 1780, Bo’ness was one of the most thriving towns on the east
coast, and ranked as the third port in Scotland. But since the
opening of the Forth and Clyde Canal, and especially since the
erection of Grangemouth into a separate port, the commerce of
this place has decreased, and at present it is in a very languishing
condition.

Table of Registered vessels belonging to the Port of Borrows-
townness, (including all the creeks,) and of the amount of duties

received at different periods. .
Years.| Total [ '2relgn | Cost | pighery,
- L84 4
E] :g g |8 Z &
1760, | 55 42 19102 52
1770, {117 93 41385 4' 45}
1780, |140] 116 56255 o' 0
1790, (1781 183 2| 719 !
1800, |134) 87 11 easjo! o
Duties Received.
Inward. |Exwarehouse.| Outward. |Coastwise. I':::Ih Dunies
' year,
£ s d|l £ o d | £ s d|£ s d £ s 4
1805,°{17211164 46313 38 4
1810,°|154| 9051 90485 17 0}
1815, {184] 7887 8835 6
1820, |129] 8196 1818 11 9
1825, | 91{ 5799 5318 12 10,
1830, {1231 891€} 668 17 352 9 63752 2 7815 5| 4846 18 7
1835,1{121| 8452{1420 16 4| 2057 13 8| 311 1 3787 11 6
1839,4]101{ 6521{1425 1 3190 12 5| 208 9 4824 39 7 |

* The ships and duties of 1805 and 1810 include those of Grangemouth. At this
period the inward trade consisted chiefly of timber, deals, iron, flax, blubber, grain,
bark, madder ; and the outward trade, of grain, salt, coals, earthen-ware. The out-
ward and inward trade is similar at the present time. The flax is imported into the
creeks on the north side, and conveyed to Dunfermline.

Duties on coals were reduced in 1834,
Of these, 14 ships, measuring 1732 tons, belonged to Bo’ness, and the rest to the
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V.—ParocuiaL Economy.

1t appears from the recollection of Sir R. Drummond of Meid~
hope, referred to by Sir R. Sibbald, that, about the year 1600,
there was but one house where Bo’ness and the other villages east-
ward to Carriden now stand. And about-the year 1700, accord-
ing to Sir R. Sibbald’s own observation, ¢ from the Palace of
Kinneil, for some two miles eastward, are almost continued build-
ings upon the coast ; and above it, upon the sloping ground from
the hills of Irongath, there are several seats of the gentry, and
several villages well peopled, because of the frequent coal- pits all
over the ground.” To this period, therefore, we may refer the ori-
gin of Bo’ness and the neighbouring villages. And the great and
rapid change which took place between 1600 and 1700, may he
ascribed to the extensive trade with the low countries, which
sprung up during that interval. The merchandise brought from
Holland, Bremen, Hamburgh, Konigsberg, and Dantzic, was land-
ed on the south shores of the Frith, and conveyed to Linlithgow,
Stirling, Glasgow, and all the west country. Blackness was the
only place on the south side of the Frith where ships could lie
safely ; but causeways or gravelled roads are said to have been
made on the beech, by which carts might be brought alongside of
vessels at low water, for the purpose of landing or shipping goods.
The Ness, on which the town now stands, presented a situation
favourable for such operations ; and, most probably, the compact
piece of causeway, which was discovered about twenty years ago,
at the depth of several feet below the sill of the dock-gate, was part
of the original landing-place at the Ness.

The abundance of coal in the neighbourhood, as well as the
local convenience of the Ness, probably attracted shipping to it at
an early period ; and the prosperous trade, which commenced in
the beginning of the seventeenth century, induced many rich mer-
chants, ship-owners, and others, to acquire property,* or to reside
here ; so that the town and population rapidly increased.

Town.—The town of Bo’ness is situated in the north-east cor-
ner of the parish, close to the harbour, Jand nearly on a level with
the sea. It is uncertain when it was erected into a burgh of re-

creeks of Limekilns and Inverkeithing. In 1794, 23 ships helonged to the town ;
whereof 17 were brigantines, 11 of them engaged in the Baltic trade, and 6 under
contract to sail regularly once every 14 days, to and from London.

® Sir John Hamilton of Grange, and Sir Jobn Hamilton of Beircrofts, had sa-
sines of various housus and tenements in Bo'ness, from the Marquis of Hamilton, in
1620 and 1623.
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gality ; but it was made a burgh of barony when the Jurisdiction
Act was repealed : and it is governed by a bailie appointed by
the Duke of Hamilton. Bo’'ness is a post-town, having two arrivals
and two departures of the mail daily. A weekly market is held on
Monday. There is an annual fair in July, which is observed now
chiefly by the colliers and carters, who then choose the office-
bearers of their friendly societies, and ride in procession, gayly

* decorated with ribbons, feathers, and flags.

Harbour.—The harbour is formed by two piers carried out into
the Frith, The western pier, which was first erected, has its ex«
tremity bent towards the east. The eastern pier extends as far as-
the other; so that the harbour is completely protected from
storms, and is one of the safest and most accessible in the Frith.
A double wall, forming a broad road, has been run across the har-
bour, between the two piers, so as to form a basia on the land side
of the harbour. Fhis basin is allowed to fill with the flowing tide,
and at low water it is emptied by opening four sluices, through
which the water flows with a rapid current, so as to clean and
deepen the harbour with very little trouble or expense. A smalt
jetty has been run out from the middle of this wall, and parallel
with the piers, which increases the accommodation of the harbour ;
and at the west end of the wall is a gateway, (the gate or lock
has lately been removed,) throngh which vessels are admitted to a
patent slip, which has been laid down at the west side of the ba-
sin, 'The breadth of the harbour, or the length of the basin wall
and dock-gate between the two piers, is 240 feet; the length of
the west pier from this wall is 568 feet. A part of the east pier,
386 feet long, was built in 1733 ; and an addition, 180 feet long,
was made in 1787. The depth of water in the harbour at spring
tides may be from 16 to 18, or even 20 feet.

The improvements of the harbour have been effected chiefly

. by an impost on ale and beer, and on anchorage duty le-

vied by an Act of Parliament, which has been repeatedly renew-
ed. By the last act, (of 1816, for twenty-five years,) an assess-
fnent of 1s. per pound is levied on all buildings within town,
along with the old impost of 2d. Scots on the pint of ale or beer,
and an anchorage duty of 21d. on coasters, and 31d. on foreign
vessels.

The impost, duty, and assessment of the town and harbour are
under the management of fifteen trustees, elected from the mer-
chants and shipmasters.
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It is a remarkable circumstance, that no shere dues or wharfage
on goods are levied at this harbour; gnd it is much to be regret-
ted, that, during the last lease of the colliery, almost all the coals
from the Duke of Hamilton’s property were shipped, not at Bo’-
ness, but at Bridgeness in Carriden. These circumstances have
praved exceedingly disadvantageous to the funds of the town. But
it is hoped, when the Act of Parliament, and the lease of the coal-
works, shall be renewed, these serious disadvantages will be
avoided.

Owing to the deficiency of funds, the trustees have not only
been prevented from undertaking various desirable improvements
in the town and harbour, but have also incurred a heavy debt, as
will appear from the following statement :

Avnua) revenye ; average for ten years. Expenditure for same period.
Anchorage duty, and harbour Interest of borrowed money, L.80 12 8
dues, . . L.111 12 10 Repairs of harbour, wages, &c.161 17 0
Impost on ale, . 1817 0
Assessment collected, . 46 17 6
Sale of manure, . 3610 0
sbare of slip, . 79 2
L216 6 6 42 9 3

The debt due by the trustees in the year 1823 was L.1769.
At one period the debt was above L.2000. At present, however,
it is less.

The petty customs are the property of the Duke of Hamilton,
the superior.

Port and Custom- Houses,—Before the Union, the magistrates
of royal burghs collected the greater customs belonging to the
Crown, as well as the petty customs belonging ta the burghs, and
they accouunted for the former to the Exchequer; but at, and
probably for some time before, the Union, the greater customs
were taken out of the hands of magistrates, and let to tacksmen,
or farmers of the revenue, as appears from the minutes of the
Commissioners of the Union. The King’s duties were collected
at Blackness, for the goods imported in this district. By the
treaty of Union, the English customs laws were extended to Scot-
land, and custom-houses were then established at the principal

-ports. The influence of the Hamilton family procured the Cus-
-tom- House to be established at their own town of Bo’ness, instead
of Blackness, and the first ledger of the ¢ Port of Borrowstoun
Ness” commences on 26th December 1707. The district of this
port embraced both sides of the Frith of Forth, from Dumbrissle
Point and Cramond Water, upwards to the boundaries of Alloa.
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On 1st December 1810, Grangemouth, previously a creek of this
port, was erected into a separate port. .

The establishment of the port consists, at present, of one col-
lector, one comptroller, and one tide-waiter at Bo’ness, and eight
other individuals at the creeks, &c. connected with the establish-
nient.  In 1795, the establishment consisted of forty-four indivi-
duals. *

Ecclesiastical State.— According to the ¢ Taxationes Ecclesia-
rum,” quoted by Sibbald, Kinneil was in the diocese of St An-
drews, and deanery of Linlithgow, about the year 1176, and was
rated at twenty-five merks. It had been given to the canons of
Holyrood in the twelfth or thirteenth century, and was confirmed
to them by the' Bishop of St Andrews in 1240. The canons en-
joyed the revenues, and the cure was served by a vicar. In 1633,
the parish of Kinneil was in the diocese of Edinburgh.

The ruins of the old parish church, and the burying-ground of

Kinneil, are still to be seen a little west from Kinneil House.
No records remain ; but the inhabitants of the barony still observe
some old customs connected with the ancient parish ; and there
.are a few relics which they hold in veneration, and preserve with
great care. The communion table linen, and part of the com-
munion table, and some other articles, are in the possession of
Mr William Thomson, farmer, Upper Kinneil.

About the year 1634, the inhabitants of Bo'ness, induced by
the increasing prosperity and importance of the place, and consid-
ering the parish church at Kinneil at an inconvenient distance
from the town, built a place of worship for themselves. The
minister of the parish, to accommodate the-inhabitants of the town,
preached in this place of worship, as well as in the parish church
of Kiunneil,- till the year 1649, when a petition was presented to
the Parliament of Scotland for a disjunction from Kinneil, and a
separate minister. Parliament granted the prayer of the petition,
and, after several visitations, the presbytery of Linlithgow found

* Much information, especially regarding the port, has been communicated by
John Mackinlay, Esq. Collector of Customs, Bo'ness.

t Sir David de Hamilton, Lord of Cadzow, mortified to the see of Glasgow,
¢ pro ealute anime sum,” an annuity of ten merks Sterling yearly out of his barony
of Kynnele, anno 1361. In 1512, John Stirling granted L.10 Sterling yearly from
his lands of Easter Crackey, to a chaplain for performing divine service at one of the
altars of Kinneil Church. .

1 The inhabitants of the barony have ceased to inter at Kinneil, as burying-ground
has been provided near the Bo’ness churchyard. In the latter are several e
sively sculptured monuments, some of which were erected by families now extinct,
whose names have been obliterated to give place to others.

4
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it necessary, that Bo’ness should be erected into a parish by itself,
bounded on the south, by Graham’s Dike; on the north, by the
sea ; ‘on the east, by Thirlestone ; and on the west, by the castle
wall, commonly called ¢ Capie’s Wall.” Some objection appears
to have been made to the measure, as it was effected whilst James,
Duke of Hamilton, the sole proprietor of the lands and teinds of
the parish, was detained in England. However, in December
1669, William and Anne, Duke and Duchess of Hamilton, ob-
tained an Act of the Scots Parliament, declaring the church built
within the town 'to be ‘ the kirk of the hail barony of Kinneil
and Bo’ness.” From that period; the parishes have been united,
and considered as one.

The following have been the ministers of Bo’ness after Mr M.
Potter: Mr John Brand, ordained 3d January 1694; Mr William
Brand, erdained 1739 ; Mr Patrick Baillie, ordained 14th May
1747; Mr John Morton, ordained 10th May 1792 ; Dr Robert
Rennie, ordained 9th April 1795 ; present incumbent, admitted
18th February 1834. A

The parish church of Bo’ness, at the period of the disjunction
from Kinneil, was a long narrow building, with round-topped win-
dows. Having become the church of the united parishes, an act
of Parliament was obtained for repairing it, in the year 1672, and
the Duke of Hamilton added a large aisle for himself and his ten-
ants. In 1775, according to am agreement between the Duke’s
commissioners and the town, the aisle was taken down, and the
church nearly rebuilt, of an oblong figure, 69 feet by 48, within
the walls, In 1820, the south wall, and part of the east wall were
rebuilt, and the galleries were reconstructed and made uniform ;
so that the church is now a plain, neat, substantial building, and
in good repair.*

The church is seated for the accommodation .of 950, but might
accommodate 100 more, if the vacant spaces in the galleries were
seated.

The Duke of Hamilton has 80 pews, containing 169 seats, oc-
cupied by ‘his tenants, and by the colliers connected with his
works. The representatives, who manage the church-funds, let

* Several curious memorials of the frequent intercourse between Holland and
Bo'ness still remain. ‘The pulpit was brought from Holland, and is a curious speci-
men of ancient art and taste ; and the oldest pulpit Bible is an Armsterdam edition of
the Geneva Bible, reprinted from an Edinburgh edition of 1610, having several of
the usual maps and figurative illustrations. The New Testament is an English

translation, by L. Tomson, of Beza’s version. The volume is clasped and arnamented _
with brass. ’
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10 pews, containing 88 seats ; and 45 pews, containing 279 seats,
are private property, but pay an annual feu into the church funds.
From L.20 to L.30 per annum are realized from these seats.
There are 46 pews, containing 274 seats, which pay no fen, being
the free property of private individuals ; and 14 pews, containing
99 seats, are the property of different societies. Many of the seats
belouging to the societies, and of those which are the property of
private individuals, are let, at the will of the proprietors, at rents
varying from 1s. to 4e. perannum. There are fourteen free seats
before the pulpit. - .

The church, being in the town, issituated near the eastern ex«
tremity of the parish ; yet the farmers, even in the most distant
parts of the parish, are remarkably regular in their nttendanqe at
church.

The manse was built about thirty years ago, and, though not
well planned or neatly finished, is a good house, and in tolerable
repair.

‘The glebe consists of about six acres of excellent land, about
L.20 yearly value ; and the grass glebe is let at L.4 per annum.

When the parishes of Kinneil and Bo’ness were united in 1669,
the act of Parliament appointed the old stipend of Kinneil to be
added to the stipend given by the town, and the whole to be the
constant stipend of the minister serving the cure of the united pa-
rishes. According tothe act of erection in 1649, the stlpend of
Bo’ness was 800 merks, with a glebe, and the rent of the minis-
ter’s house. A stock of 10,000 merks was invested in land, and the
annual rent of this mortification was designed for the stipend, but
not amounting to 800 merks, the Act of Parliament appointed the
inhabitants of the town to be stented 200 merks, (L.11, 2s. 2§d.),
and representatives were to be chosen annually to fix and levy the
assessment. The farm of Muirhouse, in which the stock was in-
vested, is about two miles south from the town, and consists of
169 acres. As it was not very productive at first, the assessment
was frequently levied during the first century after the disjunction
of Bo'ness from Kinneil, but this has long since become unneces-
sary, as the farm has been greatly improved, and its value and
yearly produce have been much increased.

The rent of this farm, together with a bond of L.6, 18s. 11d.
by Duchess Anne Hamilton, and the seat-rents formerly meation-
ed, constitute the funds of the church of Bo’ness. These funds

- are chargeable with five-sixths og the expense of all repairs of the
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church and churchyard wall, the Duke of Hamilton being charge-
able with one-sixth. After deducting the expense of repairs on
the church, and of the management of the funds, the free surplus
is payable to the minister. This destination of the surplus funds
was determined by a decision of the House of Lords in the year
1806. The church-funds are under the management of the re-
presentatives, who are chosen annually on the first Wednesday of
January by the heritors, portioners, householders, and heads of fami-
liesin the town, in conjunction with the minister and kirk-session.

The management of the church funds, in which the Dissenters
take a part, is conducted in a manner most creditable to the comn-
munity, without regard to party views or private interest.

The average sum of surplus paid to the minister is about L.185
per annum.

The stipend payable as from the parish of Kinneil is six chal-
ders victual, the greatest part oats and barley; L.5 are allowed
for communion elements; and caals are furnished to the minister
by the family of Hamilton, conform to use and wont.

The sacrament of the Supper is dispensed in the parish church
twice in the year. Number on the general roll of communicants,
644 ; number of male heads of families, communicants, 182; ave-
rage number of actual communicants, 450.

There is but one Dissenting congregation in the parish, whlch
ix connected with the United Secession Church. Their place of
worship will accommodate about 400, and is well attended.

Contributions for Religious and Charitable Purposes.—The peo-~
ple of this parish are very liberal in their contributions for religious
and charitable purposes. Last year the sum of L.24, 12s. was
raised by a parochial association in aid of the General Assembly’s
schemes.

There is also a Bible and Education Society, in the support and
management of which Churchmen and Dissenters unite. By the
annual contributions to this society, about 25 poor children re-
ceive a plain education ; and the Scriptures, the Shorter Catechism,
and school-books are supphed to the poar gratuitously, or at re-
duced prlces

There is an Association of Ladies for the purpose of supplying
the poor with clothes, meal, and coals in winter. The farmers ge-
nerously aid this work of benevolence by carting the coals gratui- -
tously. The contributions obtained by the ladies, and the value

of the services of the farmers, may amount in some years to L.30.
LINLITHGOW. K
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A small sum is occasionally collected for defraying the expenses
of the Sabbath schools under the superintendence of the parish
session. Besides the sums already mentioned, which may be con-
sidered as regular contributions, sums are occasionally collected at
the parish, church to the extent of L.8, L.10, or L.12, for rellglous
and charitable purposes.

Friendly Societies, &c.—The following is a statement of the sums
of money paid at Bo’ness from Trinity House, London, and. by
~various institutions in Bo’ness, in the year 1834 :

Date of Receiving .
Name of institution, institution. Members. aid. Sums paid.
Trinity House, . . . 19 L70 6 0
Sailor’s society, . . 1634 15 4 25 0 0
Landman’s Society, . . 1659 10 3 9 00
Friendly Society of Shipmasters, 1757 13 4 26 0 0
Bencficent Society, . . 1781 50 40 46 8 0
Shipmaster’s Society, . 20 9 1310 0
L1900 4 0
- Paid to residenters in the parish, L.I31 9 4
non.residenters, . 58 14 8
L1980 4 O

There is a Provident Union Society, which divides its funds
yearly. In 1834, there were 422 members, the payments in the
course of the year amounting to 1.59, 5s.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—The inhabitants of the barony still
observe some customs of their forefathers, which have a reference
to the old parish of Kinneil. This appears particularly in the
management of their poor, which is quite distinct from that of Bo’-
ness. The inhabitants of the barony put their church-door col-
lections for the poor into the old ladle of Kinneil church, whilst
the inhabitants of the town.put theirs into a different receptacle.
After the poor belonging to Kinneil are supplied, the remainder
of the funds that can be spared is distributed to the poor of the
town.

The following statement of the expenditure and receipts of the
poor’s funds of the barony and of the town respectively, is the
average of three years, 1835, 1836, and 1837 :

Ezpenditure.
Annual aversge of
On perma- Occa- each ort per- Total ex-
nent roll.  sional, maaent roll. penditure,
Kinneil, . . . 8 91 Ll14 7 L2216 8
Bo'ness, . 176 50 285 25 0 1

Highest rate in Bo'ness for one
individual or family, . . - 610 0
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A Receipts.
Kinneil. Bo’ness,
Collections at church doers, . . L1617 9 L45 2 6
Rent of landed property, 0 00 32 8 0
Interest of bond, moncloth dues, proclamauonl, 12 756 3718 7
Average annual clency paid by the Duke of Hamilton, 0 0 0 10911 0O
L29 5 2 L2255 0 1

The Kinneil funds, which are occasionally augmented by vo-
luntary contributions from a Hearse Society connected with the
barony, are always more than sufficient for supplying the poor in
the barony. Indeed, the greatest part of the Kinneil funds is
given to the poor of the town in occasional relief; and this ae-
counts for the great number of occasional poor in the Kinneil list.
The large deficiency in the Bo’ness funds is made up by the Duke
of Hamilton. .

Education.—For several years past there have been about ten
schools in the parish. There is but one parochial school, which
is very ably conducted by Mr John Stephens, who has been pa-
rochial schoolmaster here upwards of forty years. He has the
maximum salary, L.34, 4s. 4,4d. His house, which was the first
in this Presbytery built under the act 1803, contains more than
the legal accommodations ; but the garden ground is rather defi-
cient in size, for which he receives an equivalent in money. The
schoolmaster is also session-clerk, the fees of which office are about
L.14 per annum. The average of school-fees is at present under
L.40 per annum. The average of scholars, for upwards of thirty
years, was considerably above 100 ; these last three years it has
scarcely exceeded the half of that number.

There is a school at Upper Kinneil, supported by the tenantry,
for the convenience of children in the barony. That the school-
fees may be moderate, the Duke of Hamilton allows the teacher
a small salary.

The Dissenters, for three or four years past, have supported a
school, which is numerously attended. This and the other schools
in the town are not endowed, and most of them are taught by fe-
males.

Library.—A subscription library has existed in the parish above
thirty years. It contains about 1250 volumes, many of them va.
luable works, ;

MisceLLANEoUS OBSERVATIONS.

A great part of Kinneil Carse has evidently been reclaimed
from the Frith, and, being under high-water-mark, is preserved
from its encroachments by strong embankments, It is uncertain
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when or by whom these embankments were made; probably they
were effected by James, first Lord Hamilton.*

Between Bo'ness harbour and the mouth of the Avon, about
1000 acres of a muddy surface are exposed at low water. These,
if reclaimed from the sea for agricultural purposes, would be a va-
luable addition to the Carse of Kinneil. This part of the Frith
is becoming shallower, owing to the accumulation of mud brought
down by the Avon and Carron, and especially by the Forth; and
the beach is assuming more of a fluviatic character. Sir Robert
Sibbald says, ¢ These shallows have the name of the Lady’s Scaup.*
The Dutch did offer some time ago to make all that scaup good
arable ground and meadow, and to make harbours and towns there
in convenient places, upon certain conditions, which were not ac-
cepted.”

It has been the general opinion that the eastern termination of
the Forth and Clyde Canal should have been at Bo'ness, as this
town and harbour possess important advantages which can never
be obtained at the mouth of Grangeburn. The merchants and
inhabitants of Bo’ness, perceiving that this canal (commenced in.
1768) would put an end to their trade with Glasgow, hitherto
carried on by means of pack-horses and carriers’ carts, in order to
retain at least a share of it, proposed to make a branch from the
great canal to the harbour of Bo'ness. Two Acts of Parliament,
and subscriptions to the amount of L.10,000 were obtained; the
canal was cut from the river Avon eastward, within a mile of the
town, and an aqueduct across the Avon was nearly completed ;
but, after an outlay of about L. 7500, the work was abandoned,
when not half-finished. The circumstances which prevented the
accomplishment of this desirable undertaking need not be stated ;
but they were, and still are, deeply regretted by the inhabitants of
this town, especially on seeing their trade turned into another chan-
nel.  Much of it passed by the canal direct to Glasgow, and the
larger vessels discharged at Grangemouth, which was only a creek
of this port, but then became its rival, and was eventually erected
into a separate port.

® About the year 1470, a charter, under the great seal, was granted, ** Jacobo
go?:nodl.!;) ll;n':'nylm. de terris infra mare lucrandis, versus terras de Kinnele et
l-lr l;:)rinerly. there was an abundant supply of excellent shell ish near this place.
In 1808, the Newhaven fishermen came. hitherin a large fleet of boats, and almost
wholly removed an extensive scalp or bed of muscles. A few individuals belonging
:). ét.'.l;:m;mn pursued them in boats, and recovered part of the plunder, but did not

in restoring the scalp, as the test part of the muscles was cast into deep
water, and those which were replaced did not thrive.
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When this place was much frequented by shipping, ship-build-
ing, for which the beach and the patent slip afforded great conve-
nience, was carried on to a considerable extent. The names of
Hart and of Boag were well known, even in Greenock. Very few
wvessels are built here now ; but the patent slip has been frequently
-employed of late.

. As shipping and commerce now find more direct and easy ac-
cess to various parts of the country than formerly, there seems to
be but little prospect of any great return of trade to this place,
except by the establishment of manufactures; and few places pos-
sess greater advantages for this purpose. A harbour, the safest
and most accessible in the Frith,—a ready communication with"
all parts of the country by land and water,—an abundant supply
of coal,—and a large population, having at present but irregular,
or inadequate employment,—present unusual advantages for the
investment of capital in manufactures.

April 1843

PARISH OF BATHGATE.

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. SAMUEL MARTIN, MINISTER.

I.—TorocrApruy AND NaTurAL History,
Name.—IN a grant by Malcolm IV. to the monks of Holyrood,

this parish is named Batket. In other charters and deeds of the
twelfth, thirteenth, and fourteenth centuries, the name is written
Bathket, Batket, Bathcat, and Bathkat. The etymology the
writer is unable to explain. The modern name is a manifest cor-
ruption of the original appellation.

Exztent, Boundaries, and ‘Figure—The greatest length of this
parish, which is in a line running nearly from west-south-west to
east-north-east, is 7} miles ; its greatest breadth at right angles to
its length, is 4 miles. It contains 17.58 square miles: 8921.72
Scotch, or 11214.6 imperial acres.*

* Any one who takes the trouble to compute them, will find that these statements

are not exactly, though very nearly, equivalent. They are tuken from Forrest’s large
map of Linlithgowshire, and the writer belivves them all to be beyond the truth.
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The figure of this parish is nearly that of a parallelogram, of
5% miles by rather less than 3}, with a projecting branch running
a mile more to the west, a similar one, extending about two-thirds
of a mile to the east, and a larger protuberance on the north. It
is bounded on the north, by Torphichen, and a small portion of
Linlithgow ; on the east, by Ecclesmachan and Livingston; om
the south, by Livingston and Whitburn; and on the west, by
Shotts and Torphichen.

Hills and general aspect of the Parish.— The cebtre of Linlith-
gowshire is composed of a somewhat elevated plateau, surrounded
on all sides by hills of considerable height. The south-west cor~
ner of this bounding range, which has no general name, forms the
north-eastern portion of the parish of Bathgate, covering nearly
ene-seventh of its whole extent. Close upon the boundary be-
tween Bathgate and Torphichen, the range attains its highest ele-
vation in the hill of Cairnapple, or Cairnpapple, which is said, ia
various maps, to be 1498 feet above the level of the sea. This,
it is apprehended, is considerably beyond the truth. There are
two eminences within the boundary of Bathgate, one named the
Knock, and the other Reiving Craig, which are not more than from
20 to 30 féet lower than Cairnapple. The western, and to some
extent, the southern slope of the hilly mass is rather steep, but
contains in it the best land in the parish. The tract at its foot
is the lowest ground in the parish, is naturally marshy, and
appears once to have been, to a considerable extent, covered with
water. The surface water is now removed, and the wetness of
the soil somewhat corrected by draining. Beyond this, the rest
of the parish, both south and west, is very level, though having on
the whole a gentle and continuous rise towards the boundary line
in these directions. On the southern half of the west boundary,
however, the ground again sinks into a deep moss, which extends
between this parish and that of Shotts.

Our climate is rather moist, and vegetation is about a fort.
night later here than it is nine or ten miles to the east.

_ Lakes, §c.—The only lake is a small one of about eleven acres
in extent in the park of Balbardie. It is partly artificial, and has
an average depth of five feet, though in one place upwards of
twelve. It forms a very pretty object in that beautiful and well-
wooded park. There is no stream of importance connected in
any way with this parish, except the Amond, which forms the
boundary for little more than a mile between Bathgate and Whit,
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burn. Springs abound in this parish, The water from them is
in many places tinged with iron. One, on the estate of Couston,
seems to resemble very much in quality the celebrated Dollar
water.

Geology and Mineralogy.—The dip of the strata is universally
to the west and north-west. The inclination is exceedingly vari-
ous, ranging from 5° to as much as 45°% The latter is found,
however, only where some violent disruption of the strata has taken
place. Almost the whole of this parish forms part of the great
central coal field of Scotland. In regard to every part of it except
the east and south-east, it has been ascertained from working sand
from recent borings, that coal is to be found, and generally in
workable seams. Whinstone dikes are of frequent occurrence,
deranging the seams and oft spoiling the coal. There are also
frequent dislocations of the strata, elevating or depressing the beds,
sometimes as much as several fathoms, without any intervening

* dike at all. Above the coal, and so far as has been ascertained,

beneath it too, beds of freestone occur. The crowning points of
the hilly part of the parish are all formed of secondary trap rocks,
such as basalt and whin or greenstone. These give place on the
western ridge and slope to coal, as already mentioned, and to thick
beds of sandstone, and mountain limestone. These beds are oc-
casionally intersected by a bed of trap, taking sometimes the form
of basalt, and amygdaloid, and are all rich in organic remains. In
the coarse sandstone, and among the intervening beds of shale le-
pidodendra have been found, and grasses in the finer grained sand~
stone. The limestone is supposed by some geologists to be of two
distinct formations, the one a marine, the other a lacustrine depo-
sit. The workings in these supposed different deposits are not
half a mile asunder; and if the strata are continuous, which has
been ascertained only partially, they must lie within a hundred
yards of each other. In the one, various species of corallines, am-
monites, and other marine shells of every kind, the pecten, nautilus,
mytilus, anomia, orthoceras, &c. abound. They often form, in
fact, to a great extent, the mass of the stone. The principal stra-
tum of this formation is about forty feet thick, including seams of
flint of varying thickness. Many fissures occur in it, and the lower
portion of it may be called cavernous, as it occasionally presents
openings into which a man may enter to unknown depths. Vari-
ous spars occur in the fissures, and stalactites in these openings.
This ¢ limestone is associated with hornstoue ; this mineral form-
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ing in it numerous contemporaneous imbedded masses, containing
in some places silicified madrepores.” (Cunningham’s Geology
of the Lothians, 7th Vol. Mem. Wern. Soc.) The other, the
supposed lacustrine formation, has been described by Dr Hibbert
in the Appendix to his valuable memoir on the Burdiehouse Lime-
stone. He states that its mineralogical character indicates that it
was elaborated under a very powerful chemical action: and he
specifies the separation of the miscellaneous earthy matters which
compose it into thin laminee, some of them of remarkable tenuity,
and their assumption of a striped (rubané, as it is termed,) dispo-
sition,—the blistered appearances, as if from heat, exhibited by the
mized ferruginous and carbenaceous layers which are found in the
limestone—the singular wavings which the strata show, not only
on the large scale, but even in hand specimens—and the botryoi-
dal and mammillary structure, which ether portions present, as all
¢ tending to the hypothesis, that the calcareous beds of Kirkton
were elaborated under the action of great heat, or, in other words,
that they had their origin in deep fissures, intimately connected
with a volcanic focus.” He remarks, indeed, that this is no more
hypothetical matter. For,  an interposed mass of voleanic tufa
of a green colour, which occasionally assumes the compactness of
greenstone, is developed among the higher beds of the deposit.”
This limestone, with its accompaniments, Dr Hibbert pronounces
“one of the most unique formations of which Great Britain can
boast, indicative of thermal waters belonging to the carboniferous
epoch.” This limestone, says Mr Cunningham, ¢ contains the
usual plants of the coal series, and also fossilized wood.” Speci-
mens also have been discovered of a erustaceous animal of very
large dimensions. Dr Hibbert has identified them with the Eu-
rypterus of North America, described first by Dr Harlan, and re-
ferred by him te the class Crustacea, and order Braachiopoda.
The Kirkton specimens, however, are of a different species from
those found in North America, and are distinguished by their ex-
traordinary size.*

In the limestone beds, lead is found in small, and often interrupt-

_* Ina note to his paper on the Geology of the Lothians, already quoted, Mr Cun-
mingham says, * to those who are inclined to consider the limestone of Kirkton as of
fresh-water origin from the statements of Dr Hibbert in the 13th Vo). Trans. Roy,
Soc. Ed. * that a decidedly fresh-water limestone is these exposcd, which is character-
ized by the absence of all marine shells, coral, &c." we may mention, that the fact of
its being so characteriged fs incorrect, in as much as we have found in it specinvess
of the productus.” s
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ed veins, exhibiting also traces of silver. One lime-work retains
the name of Silver mine from silvet ore having for some time been
wrought in it.  After yielding a considerable quantity of silver, the
veins became so small, that the produce would not repay the ex-
pense, and the lime alone is wrought now. Traces of zine (brown
blend) are said to have been observed. Iron pyrites is frequently
found, disseminated in its crystalline forms. Iron bands are ob-
served in the Kirkton formation. In connection with the coal
strata, iron ore is sometimes found. Formerly this ore was wrought
on the estate of Couston, by the Carron Company. Kk was found
in masses like rolled boulders, imbedded among clay, and was a
very rich ore. Thin beds of mineral pitch are found in the limestone.
Calespar is, of course, plentiful; heavy-spar, pearl-spar, and Ly-
dian stone, are occasionally found, and, but more rare rarely, chal-
cedony. In the hilly part of the parish, whinstone, greenstone,
and basalt are the prevalent rocks; in the level parts sandstone.
The rocks, except on the hills where they frequently crop out, are
covered with earth to the depth of 80 or 40 feet. The general
subsoil is a wet tenacious clay. Beds and knolls of sand and
gravel are, however, of frequent oecurrence ; and the general sub-
stratum of the south-east part of the parish is deep gravel. On
this, peat-moss is in some places superimposed. Peat abounds in
the parish, and is sometimes of great depth. Fire-clay is also
abundant. In all the mosses, trees—generally oaks,—are found im-
bedded in considerable numbers. Mr Weir, Junior, of Boghead,
is in possession of a fine specimen of the head and horns of the
red-deer, which were found in a meadow on his property in 18386.
The antlers measure respectively 3 feet 2 inches, and 3 feet 3
inches.
There are four limeworks in this parish ; and a fifth (Kirkton)
_recently suspended, besides older workings. One of these works,
on the East Mains of Ballincrieff, is wrought in the great stratum
already mentioned, to the depth of about 25 feet, including a si-
licious bed about 5 feet thick, which is not worth burning. The
tirring is here from 12 to 40 feet. The covering consists first of
earth, then indurated slaty clay, or shale, freestone, and flint.
The freestone is often wanting. Another work is carried on &
little farther south, on the same property. It is in the same stra-
tum, but more advantageously situated for working, being partly
on the crop of the bed. The part of the stratum wrought is here
somewhat thicker, and contaios between 3 and 4 feet of matter not
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fit for burning. Close by this work, on the property of Balbar-
die, a third one is situated in the same stratum. Between them is
interposed a whinstone dike, the effect of which is very great.
It changes the dip from 10° to 45°. The thickness of the work-
able bed is here about 40 feet, with the same proportion (3 to 4
feet) of waste. The tirring here is only about 15 feet, and be-
tween thesurface earthand the lime, nothing but a little loose sand-
stone is interposed.  Dikes of very variousthicknesses, it should be
added, occur very frequently in this lime, often within every hun-
dred yards. The Silver mine work, opened originally in the pa.
rish of Torphichen, has, in the course of time, extended into that
of Bathgate. It has been wrought as a lime-work about 100
years. It lies higher in the hills, and is wrought in a different
stratum, or, at least, cut off from the other by a wide mass of whin.
The bed of lime, which dips to the north-west at the rate of 1 in 8,
is about 55 feet thick. Of this 40 feet are wrought, the other 15
feet being generally so much coarser as to be neglected. The
tirring is from 60 to 70 feet, consisting chiefly of blaes, with 8 feet
of very hard freestone. Toads have been found in this lime.

The lime produced at all these works is good.

Coal has been wrought long and extensively in this parish. Ou
the western slope of the hills, and round the town are many old
workings, which have been abandoned for a considerable time.
Of works at present open there is, 1. Barbauchlaw. The earth
is here about 24 feet deep, succeeded by common freestone, a black
blaes, (bituminous shale,)} faikes, (thin beds of friable sandstone,
intermingled with shale and clay), twenty inches of red sandstone,
grey blaes, (common shale), very coarse ironstone, 18 inches of
coal, fire-clay, grey blaes, 6 to 8 feet of freestone, fire-clay of va-
riable thickness, averaging 3 feet, but sometimes wanting altoge-
ther, and then at the depth of 16} fathoms the main coal, 4 feet
thick. 2. In the Hardhill coal-work, the. first workable seam is
found at-the depth of 16 fathoms. There is nothing between it
and the surface earth but faikes. The coal seam presents first 3
feet 2 inches of coal, then 3 inches of clay, and then 10 inches
more of coal. The next seam of coal presents 2 feet 10 inches
of coal, 4 inches of dlaes, and 9 inches of coal. It lies 4 fathoms
deeper than the first seam, and between them lies some excellent
and very white sandstone. From 4 to 6 fathoms deeper lies a par-
vot coal, which is not yet wrought. The coal here dips to the north»
west, at the rate of about 1in 14. 8. Inthe Colinshiel coal-work,
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-after 6 fathoms of earth, freestone appears, succeeded by a seam of

coal 2 feet thick ; freestone very bard and white, lies between this
and the coal now wrought, which is.8 feet 10 inches thick, and -
-sitvated 12 fathoms from the surface. 11 fathoms deeper it has =
been ascertained that another seam occurs, 2 feet 4 inches thick.
Four works have been recently given up.

Roology.— On the banke of Bathgate water, a small stream, which
draining the lands east and south of the town, flows past it, and runs
towards the north-west, till it joins the Barbauchlaw water, the otter
was a few years ago rather abundant. Though its numbers have
been very much thinned, it is still occasionally seen and killed
there. In the Barbauchlaw water, which is an affluent of the
Avon, trout are plentiful. Salmon come up it to spawn in the end
of autumn, and return in spring. The following birds are found
in the parish :* Grasshopper warbler (Salicaria locustella). Mr
Weir found a nest of this rare bird in a thick furze bush on the top
of Bathgate hills. ¢ This,” he states, * is, I believe, the only nest
of this bird which has as yet been discovered in Scotland.” Sis~
kin or aberdevine (Carduelis spinus). In 1834, a nest of the sis-
kin was discovered in this parish. As the representations of na-
turalists respecting its habits differ, it may be important to state
that the nest was on a spruce fir in the middle of a strong hawthorn
hedge, and about 5} feet from the ground. The birds fed on the
ripe seeds of the dandelion. In winter small flocks of them are oc-
casionally seen on Bathgate hills, feeding on the seeds of the knap-
weed, Centaurea nigra. The kingfisher (Alcedo ispida) is a re-
gular winter visitant of Bathgate water. In severe seasons, it often
seeks its food almost under the wheel of a mill on the streamn,
although people are constantly passing and repassing. The night-
jar or fern-owl (Caprimulgus Europeus),—several of these curious
birds breed here every year. White’s minute and interesting ac-
count of their habits agrees exactly with the observations made on
them here. The crossbill (Loxia Europea, Macgillivray,) has late-
ly been seen in considerable numbers. Their food has been chiefly
the seeds of the larch, which they obtain by separating the scales
of the cones with their powerful bills. The European dipper
(Cinclus aquaticus,) and the sandpiper ( Tvtanus hypoleucos) build

® This account of the birds is abridged from a communication furnished tothe wri-
ter by his friend, Mr Durham Weir, who has paid much attention to this department
of natural bistory, and who has procured within the parish specimens of nearly all the
birds mentioned.

t Montague states thatthis bird is extremely early in its singing. It is so also in its
breeding. On April 25, 1834, its first brood was found by Mr Weir to be ripe.
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"on the brink of the Barbauchlaw water. A few pairs of the ring-
ouzel (Merula torquata) breed every year about the rocky ground
on the top of Bathgate hills, The black-headed gull (Larus ridi-

" . bundus), the coot (Fulica atra), the gallinule or water-hen (Galli-
.nula chloropus), and wild-duck (Anas boschas) breed about the
banks of Balbardie loch, and Bathgate water. The same si-
tuations are visited during autumn andewinter by the redshank
sandpiper (Zotarus calidris), the heron (Ardea cinerea), the teal
‘(Querquedula crecca,) the wigeon ( Mureca penelope), the crested
grebe (Podiceps cristatus), the little grebe (Podiceps minor), and
the bittern( Botaurus stellaris). The great cinereous shrike (Lanius
excubitor, Linn.) the ruff ( Machetes pugnaz, Cuvier,) and the kite
(Milvus regalis) have been occasionally observed. Golden orioles
{Oriolus galbula) were once observed, and the turtle-dove (Columba
turtur) once killed in the parish. Most birds that are reckoned
game are found in this parish. Black and red grouse, pheasant,
and partridge® all breed in it. The golden plover (Charadrius
pluvialis) appears in large flocks during winter, and a few breed
with us.  Small flocks of the dotterel (Ckaradrius morinellus) an-
nually visit our hills in April and May. The quail has also been
seen. The common snipe, carlew, and lapwing breed with us.
‘Woodcocks, jack-snipes, fieldfares, and redwings visit us in winter.
So do also flocks of snow-buntings, mountain finches, and starlings.
In summer we have the spotted fly-catcher, the redstart, the wheat-
ear, the whinchat, the sedge warbler,the black-cap warbler, (rare,)
the greater and lesser pettychaps, the white-throat, &c.+ There
are two rookeries in the parish ; one, which is extensive, in the
wood close by Balbardie House ; the other, which is but the scanty
remains of a large one, is on the estate of Boghead.

* A few years ago partridges were very abundant. The inclemency of the last
two or three seasons has thinned their numbers to such an extent that there seems a
danger of their beoommg altogether extinct. In the very cold and wet summer of
1836, several pairs were found dead in the fields with their broods under their wings
—a striking proof of the strength of their parental affection. There are at present
two to be seen on the estate of Barbauchlaw with beautiful white wings.

1 It is impossible to notice the more common birds. From Mr Weir's notes
however, the follovmg facts may be added : Goldfinches have repeatedly bailt their
nests in trees in the town of Bathgate. On one ion, a pair selected for this pur-
pose a poplar growing on the side of one of the most frequented streets. They be-
came 50 tame, as to alight in the gutters with the sparrows in quest of food. A fo-
male goldfinch was known, twice at least, to pair with a male linnet in the wild state.
The produce from this union were not admired as songsters. It is well known that
bullfinches commit great devastation among the buds of fruit trees and bushes. Mr
‘Weir caught a male and a female on their nest in the act of feeding their young ones.
He foumf their mouths full of small maggots. Tt is not improbable, therefore, that
in destroying the buds, the birds are in fact destroying a far worse plague to thegar-
dener than they themselves are imagined to be.
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Among rarer insects, the humming-bird moth (Macroglossa
stellatarum), and the death’s head moth (Acherontia Atropos) may
may be mentioned as having been met with.

Botany.— Of the rarer species of plants found in this parish, the
following may be mentioned :

Paris quadrifolia Orchis bifolia Iris pseudacorus
Adoxa moschbatellina Polygonium bistorta Asperula odorata
Cistus helianthemum Antb hum od Glycoma hederacen
Erysimum alliaria Pinguicula vulgaris Saxifraga granulata
Solanum Dulcamara Senecio saracenicus Ranunculus ficaria
Malva moschata Hippuris vulgaris Linum catharticum.

The Geranium pheum and Saponaria officinalis bave been found
growing wild : but it is not certain that they are indigenous.
IL—Cuvit HisTory,

There is little of historical interest connected with this parish.
The barony of Bathgate formed part of the dower of Marjory
Bruce,  the lass who brought the sceptre into the Stewarts’
house.” A castle on it, situate in the low grounds south of the
town, which must then have been a morass,* was from this date
occasionally inhabited by the royal family. Here Walter Stewart
himself died in 1328. Hardly a vestige even of the foundations
of the castle is now to be discovered. Kitchen utensils of brass,
have, however, sometimes been found about it ; and coffins, formed
- of flat stones, have been torn up by the plough in the neighbour-
ing grounds. Some of the inhabitants of this parish suffered
hardship and loss in the time of the Covenanters. Oue maun, by
name James Davie, was shot by one of a party of dragoons, who
dispersed a congregation assembled in a hollow on the farm of
Blackdub, in the western part of the parish. The worshippers had
escaped across a strip of deep moss, which interposed an effectual
obstacle to the progress of their mounted pursuers. But while
they stood on the other side gazing at their enemies, and thinking
themselves quite safe, the troopers fired their carbines at them
across the moss. The only shot that took effect killed Davie.
His body lies in the old churchyard of Bathgate,t with this in-

® Some remaius of the causeways, by which access was obtained to the castle
thi h this morass, still exist.

1 There are two grave.yards in this parish. The old is a full mile to the south-
east of the town. It surrounds the crumbling walls of what was once the parish
church. When this church was built, and when abandoned, is utterly unknown.

. ‘There was at least one other church between this ancient ove and the present church,
No feasible conjecture occurs to accuunt for the adoption of a site for the church so
far from the town, and so inconvenient for almost the whole inhabitants of the pa<
rish, except this, that it might have been originally the chapel connected with the
Stewarts’ castle. The new churchyard is in the centre of the town, surrounding the
present church.
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scription, ¢ Here lies the body of James Davie, who was shot at
Blackdub, April 1678, by Heron, for his adhering to the word of
God and Scotland’s covenanted work of Reformation, in opposi-
tion to Popery, Prelacy, perjury, and tyranny.”

Eminent Men.—Dr Fleming, the celebrated naturalist, and
now Professor of Natural Philosophy in King’s College, Aberdeen,
is a native of this parish.

Land-owners.—The chief land-owners are the Earl of Hope-
toun; Colonel Swindel Norval of Boghall; Mr Marjoribanks of
Marjoribanks ; Mr Hart of Kirkton ; Captain Sandilands of Cous-
ton, &c. ,

Parochial Registers,— The registers of this parish are somewhat
voluminous. They had been well kept, except about the com-
mencement of the present century. Portions, however, have been
lost. The register of births begins in 1672, and, with a blank
between 1684 and 1687, and another between 1694 and 1721,
continues to the present time. The register of proclamations
also begins in 1672, and is perfect with the. omission of but two
years to 1767 ; from that date to 1789, a record is possessed only
for six years; from 1789, the register is complete. The register
of deaths begins 1698, and continues to 1710. From 1710 to
1769, a record is preserved only for eighteen scattered years.
From 1769, the register is complete. Of the Records of the
Kirk-gession’s Actings, Vol. I. embraces the period from 1633
to 1645, and from 1647 to 1650; Vol. ii. from 1672 to 1689.
In other three volumes, the record is complete from 1694 to
1792. From that year to 1820, only some loose scrolls of mi-
n;:tes are in existence ; but from 1820 to this day they are com-
plete.

Antiquities. — ¢ Near Bathgate,” says Penney,* ¢ are me-
morial remains of Druid worship.” The writer of this notice
gives the statement as he finds it, but dees not know to what it
refers. In the stone coffins already referred to, some copper
coins were found. There have also been turned up, in different
parts of the parish, coins of Edward L, Queen Elizabeth, and
Charles I

Modern Buildings.— Building goes on steadily in the town of
Bathgate. The principal recent buildings are the Academy, a
distillery, brewery, and gas-work. Freestone, either from the

* Account of Linlithgowshire, by John Penuey.
4
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quarries of the parish, or from those in the neighbourhood, is al-
ways employed. .
IIL—PoruraTION.
The population of this parish bas been steadily increasing, as
the following table will show :
In 11755, the population was . 1594

1, 2325
01, . . . . 2518
1821, . . . . 828
885, . . . . 36i0
1841, . . . . 8927

The increase in the last ten years being 817, or less than tenm
per cent. on the whole, seems to be nothing more than might be
expected in the natural progress of population. Of the above
number, 2809 resided in the town of Bathgate, 103 in a small
village, and 1015 in the country part of the parish.

The yearly average of births it is impossible to state accurately. -
Many parents will not be at the trouble or expense of registration.
Estimating from the number baptized in the parish church, the num-
ber of births will be about 97 or 98 per annum. The average of
deaths for the last seven years previous to 1838 has been 73, of which
19, or 26 per eent. were above seventy years of age, and 9, or 12.33
per cent. above eighty. Taking the population during these seven
years as averaging 3700, the annual mortality was 1.973 per cent.
This very low rate proves the general healthiness of our climate
and situation. It may be also partly attributed to the copious
supply of excellent water brought into the town from the high
gounds above. The yearly average of marriages for the same
period was 28.

This parish has few resident heritors. Only five or six families
of independent fortune reside in it. There are connected with it
nineteen proprietors of land of the yearly value of L. 50 and up-
wards.

IV.—InpusTrY.

Agriculture.—The number of imperial acres, either constantly
cultivated or occasionally in tillage, is 8712; those which have
never been cultivated, and which remain constantly waste or in
pasture, amount to 803 ; under wood, 506, of which only 2 or 8
are natural. The rest of the area of the parish is occupied by
the site of the town with its gardens, by fences, and roads. Pro-
bably one-half of the waste land might be reclaimed at a profitable
rate. The only thing like common occurs in the case of two pieces
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of ground ; one of four or five acres, over which a number of peo-
ple have the right of feal and divot (taking turf for putting on the
ridges of houses thatched with straw ;) the other of four acres, on
which the burgh has the right of holding the anuual fairs. The
trees that are chiefly planted are larch, silver, spruce, and Scotch
firs, oak, elm, ash, and plane. The management of the planta-
tions is in general good.

Rent— Wages.—The rent of land varies exceedingly, according
to situation and quality. Inclosures round the town are sometimes
let as high as L. 8, 8s. per imperial acre. On the other hand,
there is land let at very little more than 7s. The average per im-
perial acre may be 16s. 6d.

Husbandry.—Sheep are hardly kept in this parish at all. The
only pure breed of cattle found here is the Ayrshire. Mixed
breeds are very numerous. The husbandry is fully more pas-
toral than arable, the vicinity of the metropolis, and the nature
of the soil, making the dairy a very profitable part of the farmer’s
arrangements. Most of the late improvements in husbandry are
finding their way into this parish, in so far as climate and soil will
admit of them. The improvements most required are draining
and planting. In regard to the latter, some proprietors have of late
done a good deal. Mr Weir, Senior, of Boghead, has been the most
extensive improver in this way, having, in the course of twenty
years, planted 86 acres. But many properties continue almost
destitute of wood, though its shelter is in this district very valu-
able. In the way of draining and reclaiming waste land, a great
deal has of late been done by the resident proprietors, who farm
their own land, and by tenants. Some tenants have put drains in
every field of their farms. The ordinary duration of leases is nine-
teen years. Rents generally are fixed in money. The terms of
leases are commonly fair to both landlord and tenant. If the sti-
pulations of a lease are strict, yet deviations from them are never
challenged, if the proprietor sees that the tenant is doing justice
to the land. Farm-houses and buildings have latterly been con-
siderably improved. In very many cases, however, they are much
inferior to what they should be. This, with want of capital, and,
in some cases, want of encouragement by the proprietors, are the
greatest obstacles to improvement in the agricultural state of this
parish.

Quarries, §c.—Besides the lime and coal-works already noticed,
there are several freestone and whinstone quarries. Of the for-
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mer, only one is constantly wrought. It is in the park of Balbar-

die, and affords a very excellent and beautiful building stone. The

whinstone quarries are chiefly wrought for materials for the roads.
Produce.—

The produce of grain cropl averages in value. as nearly as can be as-
certained, . L.7541 5 8
Potatoes, turnips, &e. . . . . 5448 5 0
Hay, . . . 1892 0 O
Land employed in puture, . . . . 13160 0 0
Mines and quarries, . 6000 0 O
Other produce, gardens, woodl, &c. at least . . 50 0 0
Total, . L34541 10 8

Manufactures.— The mass of the town population is manufac-
turing. There are about 500 handloom weavers, all supplied with
work from Glasgow, except a few employed by an Edinburgh
shawl-manufacturer, and a few engaged with customer-work. 122
women and girls are employed in tambouring, and 33 in sewing
webs. The wages of weaving, though occasionally good, have,
on the average, afforded but a scanty remuneration to the work-
man for years past. Tambouring and sewing webs have, for a
considerable period, been very inadequately paid. Two brick and
tile-works afford occupation to several hands. A distillery has
been in active operation for a bumber of years. A considerable
brewery was established somewhat later.

Associations.— There is an Agricultural Society here, which has
an annual show, at which premiums are distributed. Its influence
has been decidedly beneficial. A Horticultural Society bas been
in existence for six years.

V.—ParocHiaL Ecovomy.

Town.— The town of Bathgate had in 1841 a population of
2809. It was originally a burgh of barony, a baron baillie being
appointed by the proprietor of the estate of Bathgate: In 1824,
with the consent of the late Mr Marjoribanks of Balbardie, who
was then superior of the town, an Act of Parliament was obtained,
by which it was erected into an independent burgh of barony, and
all provision made for the government, police, &c. of the town.
It is now governed by a provost, three baillies, treasurer, and twelve
councillors, the provost, two baillies, treasurer, and four council-
lors being elected yearly by the burgesses. The burgh funds con-
sist of road money, customs, common good, .and an assessment li-
mited by the act to 1s. a-pound on the valued rent of the houses
in the burgh ; from these funds the  paving, lighting, and im-
proving the burgh, and establishing a police thereiy,” are defray-

LINLITHGOW. L
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ed. Much has been done in the last four years to improve the
pavements and causeways ; and, a gas-work having been establish-
ed, the principal streets are now tolerably lighted. The chief
employment of the inhabitants is, as already mentioned, manufac-
turing. There is a weekly corn-market, held on Wednesday, at
which considerable quantities of grain are sold. It is by much
the most important market within the county. The National
Bank of Scotland and the Glasgow Union have each a branch
here. At the last revision of the roll of electors for the county,
the number of electors deriving qualifications from property in the
town was 72. In the landward part of the parish, the number
was 61; total, 133.

There is only one place deserving the name of a village, viz.
Armadale, two miles west from the town of Bathgate.

Means of Communication.—The post-office here receives letters
twice a-day from the east, and once from the west. But the dis-
patch of letters is not so convenient, the letter-bags being all made
up at night. The communications by roads are on all hands very
commodious, and the roads i general well kept. The turnpike-
road from Borrowstownness towards Lanark runs for about four
miles and a-half through the parish, and the middle Edinburgh
and Glasgow road for a trifle more than seven. On the latter
there. travelled for some years from twelve to eighteen stage-
coaches daily. All have been given up since the railway was open-
ed. Good bridges are found wherever bridges are needed. The
fences consist chiefly of thorns, with here and there a considera~
ble mixture of beech. Much attention has been paid to them ;.
and generally they are in pretty good order. An act has been ob-
tained for a railway from Bathgate to the Slamanan Railway ; but
there is little likelihood of its being soou acted upon.

Four mills in the parish, two provided with steam-engines, af-
ford all facility for making flour, meal, and pot-barley.

Ecclesiastical State.— The parish church is situated in the town
of Bathgate, and stands very near the centre of the parish, being
very little more than four miles from the western, and about three
miles and a-half from the eastern end of the parish. Only two
families are above four miles from it. Though built in 1739, it
is in very good repair. But, built when the population was not
much more, if more at all, than one-third of its present amount,
it has become totally inadequate to the number of inhabitants. It
is seated (at the rate of 18 inches a-sitting) for 719 persons. Ac-
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cording to the ordinary method of procedure, the sittings, with the’
exception of the communion seats, which are free to every one,
and the minister’s seat, were divided among the heritors in pro-
portion to the valued rent of their lands, and by them allotted to
their tenants. From this arrangement it results, that the whole
inhabitants of the town can have right te sittings only in the seats
pertaining to the Bathgate property, on which the town is built.
and even these must be shared with the rural population on that
property, so that the provision for 2664 persons is just 100 sit-
tings. Though this is much the worst case, it is not a solitary in-
stance of inadequate supply. In 1836, when these calculations
were made, the estate of Barbauchlaw had dwelling on it 217 per-
sons, while its proportion of sittings is only 83 ; that of Couston
145 persons, and 36 sittings ; that of Boghead, 86 persons and
27 sittings. One or two other estates, it should at the same time
be stated, have more than a needful amount of sittings, The utter
inadequacy of the accommodation has occasioned a number of dis-
putes about seats, and has compelled some persons to join Dis-
senling congregations, who otherwise would not have left the Esta-
blished Church.

The manse was built in 1828. The glebe is about 11 acres in
extent, and worth, on an average, about L.19. The stipend con-
sists of L.76, 18s. 2}d., 45 bolls, 1 firlot, 1 peck, 2 lippies of
meal, und 19 bolls, 1 peck of barley.

There are three Dissenting chapels in the parish. Two belong
to the Relief and the Associate Synod, and the third is at present
in connection with no religious body. The ministers of all are
paid by their congregations. '

With the Established Church are connected 2185 persons ;*
with the Relief, 674 ; with the Associate Synod, 198 ; and with
the other congregation, 267. With congregations out of the pa-
rish are connected 78 persons, (of whom 14 belong to the Esta-
blished Church, 5 are Episcopalians, and 7 Roman Catholics,)
leaving 858 not belonging to any congregation, or whose religious
profession was not ascertained at the time of making the census.t
In none of the places of worship is the attendance on divine ordi-
nances what it should be. In the Established Church it varies from

* All the statements here made refer to August 1836, when they were given in
evidence before the Religious Instruction Commissioners.

4 This number is much larger than that returned by the writer, many having re-
presented themselves to him as Dissenters, whom the Dissenting ministers did not
acknowledge as belonging to their congregations.
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about 500 in summer to 300 in winter. In the three Dissenting
chapels, which contain 1569 sittings, the average attendance was
stated by the ministers to be 780, and the number of sittings let
630; but as these congregations embrace 392 persons beyond the
bounds of the parish, the proportion, allowing both classes to be
equally exemplary, would give an attendance from the parishioners
of 603, and 487 sittings rented by them. The number of persons
who have been admitted to the communion of the Established
Church, and bave not been cut off from that privilege, nor have
joined themselves to any other congregation, is about 660 ; but as
this includes old people who cannot attend, some careless people
who will not attend, and some whose necessities keep them back
from the house of God, it is greatly above the pumber who join
at any given communion. In winter, about 320, and in summer
about 350 communicate.

There is no religious society in the parish. The collections in
the Established Church for religious and charitable objects, inde-
pendent of the ordinary collections for the poor, have averaged an-
nually L.20, 5s. 6d.

Education.—Besides two schools exclusively for sewing, there
are three schools in this parish, viz. one parochial, one endowed, and
one unendowed. In-the unendowed school, only English, writing,
and arithmetic, with a little geography, are taught. The parochial
schoolmaster, though qualified to teach classical literature, French,
and mathematics, is seldom required to teach anything more than
the teacher of the unendowed school. The endowed school is
an institution known by the name of the Bathgate Academy, es-
tablished under the will of Mr John Newlands. Mr Newlands was
a native of the parish, who, after being bred a carpenter, left Bath-
gate at an early age and proceeded to Jamaica, where by degrees
he amassed a considerable fortune, and ultimately became a
wealthy planter. He died in that island in 1799, leaving by his
will the bulk of his property to certain trustees,* * to erect a free
school in the parish of Bathgate.” The will, however, was chal-
lenged by friends of the testator in Scotland, and the claim of the
trustees opposed by the executors in Jamaica. The trustees took
alarm at the prospect of being involved in heavy law expenses, and
would probably have abandoned the trust, had not one of them,

* When the will came to be acted on, a number of the inations to the office
of trustee fgll. from misnomers, &c. The only nominations which held, were those
of Mr Marjoribanks of Balbardie, Lord Polkemmet, Colonel Gillon of Wallhouse,

and the minister of the parish. The eldest sons of the three first, and the succussor
of the last, are the present trustees.

1
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the late Mr Marjoribanks, given his own personal security to his
co-trustees, that they should not be put to expense in the matter.
After a litigation which lasted till 1814, the will was almost en-
tirely set aside. Only L.14,500 were received by the trustees, in-
stead of 1..60,000 or L.70,000, as the testator intended.* Asthe
remittances reached this country, the trustees began to salary the
teachers in the parish, and to employ others, till they had five
schools with six teachers in different parts of the parish, to all of
which the children of the inhabitants had gratuitous admission. In
1831, the funds having considerably increased, the trustees com-
menced the erection of a building to the south-east of the town,
which was opened as the Bathgate Academy in the autumn of
1883. It is a handsome structure, consisting of a centre and two
wings connected by two colonnades. In each wing are two class-
rooms 36 feet by 24. Behind one of the colonnades is the room
for writing and arithmetic, 36 by 29. The centre, and the part
of the building behind the other colonnade, are occupied by the
library-room and a very good house for the rector. There is a full
acre of play-ground in front. There are, at present, four masters
in the Academy: a rector, who takes charge of all the pupils who
learn Greek, Latin, or French, and who also has classes for draw-
ing, music, and composition; a master for writing, arithmetic, and
mathematics ; and two for English. The rector and two English
masters also teach their own pupils geography. A sewing mistress
was added to the establishment a year ago.

At these three schools, above 600 scholars are in steady attend-
aunce; and from 60 to 80 more may be entered in the course of a
twelvemonth, At the last examination of the Academy, which
was in August, there were 537 attending, of whom 6 studied -
Greek ; 47 Latin; 71 French; 178 geography; 71 drew geogra-
phical sketches ; 75 practised English composition, and were train-
ed in drawing, and the elements of musical composition; 368
learned writing ; as many arithmetic; and 8 mathematics.

The parochial schoolmaster has the legal accommodation and
the maximum salary, and receives about L.26 in fees. The rec-
tor of the academy has a free house, garden, and a salary of L.140
per annum ; the other three masters each L.105. The unendow-
ed teacher receives about L.26 from fees. The rate of fees in the
parochial school is, for English, 2s. 6d. a-quarter; English with

* The testator's meaning could be proved ; but the language of the will was de-
clared not to express what he meant it to express,
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writing, 3s. ; amd with arithmetic, 3s. 6d.; Latin or French, 5s.;
practical mathematics, 5s.

There is hardly a house in the parish so situated as to make it
a matter of much hardship for a child of six or seven years of age
to attend some school. The numbers-in actual attendance, com-
pared with the population, show that the people in general are
alive to the benefits of education. The Academy being free to
the children of all parishioners, no additional school is needed in
this parish, though an additional teacher in the Academy would
be of great advantage. But the funds do not at present admit of
the addition.

Literature.—Connected with the Academy, there is a library
for the use of the pupils, containing above 700 volumes, chiefly
suited to youth. There is also a subscription library in the town,
recently begun, and now containing above 280 volumes.

Friendly Societies.—There are seven such societies in the pa-
rish ; one, still the largest, instituted some years previous to 1734 ;
the others respectively in 1759, 1792, 1799, 1806, 1809, and
1810. They are all supported by annual payments from the
members, who amount to 969. They are all intended for the
support of the members in sickness and old age. Some of them
also pay a certain sum for the funeral charges of the members.
These societies are of vast benefit to the members; and though
it may well be doubted whether they promote industry, they help
to cherish among them a spirit of independence.

Savings Bank.—There has been a savings bank here since
1827. A view of its operations for the last six years shows these
results :

1837, 1888, 1839, 1840. 1841. 1842,

Deposited, . L.160 L74 L2I0 L2I8 L2888 L2772
Drawnout, . 130 211 252 333 A5 18

At the last balancing of the books, there was in the bank L.629,
10s, The investments are chiefly made by servants, weavers,
mechanics, &c.

Poor and Parochial Funds.—The poer are not more numerous
than might be expected in such a population as that of Bathgate,
though it must be acknowledged that unwillingness to apply for
parochial relief is on the decline, and that relatives in many in-
stances seem to feel little annoyance at those near to them becom-
ing the objects of public charityé
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With their Total expensc,
On the  families they Occasional  including ma-
"sroll. amounted to poor. nagement,
There were in 1835, P°°’"‘7 . 86 . 82 . L2 7 5}
1896, 45 N 19 . 185 17 10
1887, 39 . 65 . 29 . 23618 O
1842, 70 . . 45 . 908151

There was besides an expense for two lunatics, in 1835, of L.3,
19s. 2d.; in 1836, L.39, 9s. 10d.; in 1837, L.16, 0s. 6d.
~ 'The lowest allowance to an individual pauper was 2s, a-month;
the highest, 3s. 6d. a-week, being an allowance to a widow and
family. To meet this expenditure there was received

In 1835. 18396. 1887. 1842,
From church ocollections, L.48 17 0} L47 7 L42 1 74 L3919 6}
contrib. from herit., 101 19 1 89 10 188 010 217 7 8}

int. of lent money, 4 0 O 4 00 4 0 O 5310 0
otherfunds, . 2615 7 78080 1016 7n o0
Tota), . Loll 11 8} LiI88 0 24 L279 3114 L3Is 8 3

The proprietors of three-fourths of the land being non-resident,
the ordinary funds could not be expected to be-adequate to the
support of the poor. The heritors made a voluntary contribution
for that end ; and to make their contributions equal, they, are just
according to the valued rent of their lands. The great increase in.
1842 is chiefly to be ascribed to the depression of trade. The
interest is the produce of L.1100, which was left to the poor of
Bathgate by Henry Calder, Esq. of Edisto Island, Carolina, a
native of the parish, in 1820, but was only recovered by the pre-
sent minister in 1828, The other funds arise from dues on procla-
mations, mortcloths, &c.

Prison.—Bathgate is a sheriffdom by itself, a distinction which
it probably owes to its ancient connection with the royal family of
Scotland. Practically, however, the Sheriff of the county is now
always appointed Sheriff of Bathgate too. Sheriff-courts are held
at Bathgate four times a-year. There is a small prison, compris-
ing three strong cells for criminals, and a debtors’ room, the whole
government of which is in the magistrates of the burgh. It is
much too confined to be a very healthy place of confinement.
During last year (1838) there has been no person confined in it
either for debt or police offences, but upwards of twenty deserters
or persons charged with military offences, mostly for a single night,
on their route either to Glasgow or Edinburgh.

Fairs, §c.—There are seven fairs for the sale of cattle and
horses beld annually in Bathgate, the principal of which take
place on the Wednesdays after Whitsunday and Martinmas, O. S.
There are seven inns in the parish ; and, altogether, 31 persons li-
censed to retail intoxicating liquors. This excessive multiplication
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of licenses, and the facility with which they are granted, have
proved very injurious to the econowmical and moral babits of many
of the population.

Fuel.—The fuel used in this parish is almost entirely coal. The
use of peat has, almost universally, given place to that of coal.
The price of the latter varies from &d. to 10d. a-load. Many of
the parishioners, however, get coal, not from any of the pits in the
parish, but from Sir William Baillie’s coal-work at Benhar, parish
of Whitburn, which yields the best coal in this part of the country.

MisceLLANEoUs OBSERVATIONS.

Very great changes have taken place in this parish since the
former Account was published. The middle road between Edin-
burgh and Glasgow, which is by much the most frequented line
between these two cities, and which passes through the town of
Bathgate, was not at that time even contemplated. No direct
road to the east and west existed, except parish roads, the lines,
levels, and keeping of which, were all extremely bad. Increased
" facility of communication has been of material service in helping
forward the other improvements, to which the gradual progress of
the country has been leading. Considerably more than double
the number of acres is now regularly under the plough; and, from
draining, better modes of culture, &ec. the produce is even more
than proportionally augmeuted. Dairy-farming is now followed
to a much greater extent than formerly, and has in considerable
measure taken the place of the feeding of cattle. A very large
quantity of milk and butter is sent to Edinburgh and Airdrie every
week.

The greatest change, however, has been effected by the intro-
duction of the cotton manufacture into the town. The increase of
the population previous to the publication of the former Statistical
Account, was ascribed mainly to the increase of the coal-works.
The coal-works then were situated close by the town, and the
colliers were chiefly resident in it. The working of coal is pro-
bably as extensive now as it was then. But the old works having
been abandoned, the collier population is now more numerous.iu
the country than in the town. Yet the whole increase of popula-
tion in the rural part is but 100, while the town population has
very nearly doubled. One-half of the whole inhabitants of the pa-
rish are now, in one way or other, dependent on manufactures.
We share, of course, in both the good and the evil of such occu-
pations.

April 1843,



PARISH OF LINLITHGOW.*

PRESBYTERY OF LINLITHGOW, SYNOD OF LOTHIAN & TWEEDDALE.

THE REV. ANDREW BELL, D. D., MINISTER.

L.—Torocraray aND NaTuraL HisTory.

Name.—THE earliest form in which the name of the parish ap-
pears, is in the charter of David L to Holyrood, where it is spelt
Liolitcu. From the time of that prince, the orthography is very
various, changing with the fashions of different times, and the taste
of different writers; thus it appears as Lioliscu, Lynlitbkon, Lin-
liscoth, &c. till it assumes its present form, Linlithgow, popularly
contracted Lithgow. The etymology of the name is variously
given ; some ascribe to it a British origin, its component parts be-
ing traced to words in that language, which siguify the lake of the
expansive hollow; others derive the word from the Gaelic, and
render it, the lake of the grey dug, supporting this opinion by
a reference to the armorial bearings on the common seal of the
burgh, which represent a dog tied to a tree,—referring, as is said,
to the old legend of such an animal being discovered bound to a
tree on the island which adorns the east end of the lake. An-
other, and perhaps the most probable etymology, is that which de-
rives the word from the Saxon, in which language, Linlithgow sig-
nifies the lake of the sheltered valley, an appellation descriptive
of the situation of that beautiful sheet of water, which, being the
most remarkable object in the scenery, would naturally determine
the name of the town and district.

Eztent, §c.—The mean extent of the parish is, from east to west,
about 5 miles, and about 3 from north to south. Its boundaries are,
onthenorth, Borrowstownness, Carriden, and Abercorn; ontheeast,
Abercorn and Ecclesmachan ; on the south, Uphall, Ecclesma-
chan, and Bathgate; and on the west, Torphichen and the river
Avon, which divides it [rom Muiravonside in Stirlingshire. The
surface of the parish is very unequal ; towards the east and north-
east it is level, but it rises toward the south, where it is crossed

* Obligingly furnished by the Ruv. W. S, Smart, Linlithgow.

~
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in its whole extent by that range of hills which runs obliquely
through a considerable part of the county. Several of the emi-
nences in this range within the parish attain a considerable eleva-
tion : the most remarkable are the heights named Cocklerue and
Binny-Craig, the former of which rises morethan 600, and the other
600 feet above the level of the sea. Nearer the centre of the range
there is a lower set of heights, named from the now nearly ex-
tinct village of Riccarton, and connected with the former series by
lateral rising grounds, which slope down towards the town of Lin-
lithgow. On the north side of the lake, there is another hill,
which, though not so elevated as those already named, from its
neighbourhood to the Frith of Forth, commands a very extensive
aund beautiful prospect. All of these heights are either cultivated
or in pasture ; some of them are wooded, and the acclivity is gentle.

Metearology.—No regular register has been kept in the parish.
It may be stated, however, that the prevailing winds are from the
west and south-west 3 that the climate is good, and excedingly fa-
vourable to health. Ouly a few years back, an individual died in
the town, considerably above 100 years of age. Several persons
now living in the parish are above 90 ; while 80 and upwards is ro
uncommon period of life, There are no diseases peculiar to the
parish : It has often escaped the ravages of those severe epidemics
which have, from time to time, desolated other parts of the coun-
try. In 1646, the Scottish Parliament held its meetings in Lin-
lithgow, when the plague was prevalent in the metropolis.

Hydrography.— The parish abounds with springs, furnishing a
copious supply of the purest water. A well at Carubber was for-
merly resorted to, as possessing similar properties to the Moffat
Spa ; it is now totally neglected. Even the site of it is known to
few.

There is only one loch in the parish—that, on the north bank
of which the town and palace of Linlithgow are situated. This
fine lake is about one mile in length, about a-quarter of a mile at
its greatest breadth, and covers 154 Eoglish acres ; in some places
the depth is cousiderable. Several springs well up from the bot-
tom, which, with a rivulet toward the east end, and the surplus
water from the town, are its feeders. It discharges itself by a
rivulet, named the Loch-burn, which, after a short course, emp-
ties itself into the Avon. Embosomed amid rising grounds, some
of which are finely wooded, with the gardens to the north of the
town stretching along its shore, and overlooked by the noble
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ruins of the ancient palace,—the scenery of this lake is very
lovely, and from several points where the town is not seen, it
bas much the appearance of a sheet of water in some seques-
tered Highland vale. There is no river properly belonging to the
parish. The Avon bounds it for several miles on the west, and,
during that part of its course, presents some very pleasing scenery,
the effect of which is now much heighteued by the aqueduct which
carries the Union Canal across the valley, and the viaduct which,
at a lower point, conducts, over the same valley, the Edinburgh
and Glasgow Railway. :
IL—Civir HisToRyY.

With the exception of the account in the last Statistical Ac-
count, no history of the parish has been published. Copious no-
tices of it are, however, to be found in the histories of the county,
published by Sibbald and Penny. A MS. history of the town,
by Crawford, author of the history of Renfrewshire, is said to
exist. It may also be stated, that a very beautifully illustrated ac-
count of the Palace has lately been published by Mr Collie, ar-
chitect, Glasgow.

Historical Notices.— From ite locality, and the residence of the
Scottish moparchs in the palace .of Liulithgow, the parish has
been the scene of several memorable incidents. The most re-
markable of these are mentioned in the last Statistical Account ;
and the present notices embrace the same incidents, with some addi-
tional details. It was on the lands now belonging to the town, and
lying to the east of it, that Edward L encamped ou the night pre-
vious to the battle of Falkirk, so disastrous to the Scottish patriots
under Wallace. The warlike monarch slept in the open field,
with his horse beside bim. During the night the animal struck
the King on the side. The accident caused great confusion in
the camp; and, to allay the tumult, Edward, regardless of pain,
mounted his charger, and, by riding through the army, convinced
the soldiers that he was in safety. The same monarch is said to
have built a castle or peel at Linlithgow in the year 1300, where -
he spent the following Christmas. This castle was left by him
garrisoned with English troops. Its capture by the Scottish pa-
triots was one of the many daring exploits which distinguished the
war of independence under Bruce. The following account of the
surprisal is given in Tytler’s History of Scotland: ¢ Binny, who
was known to the garrison, and had been employed in leading hay
into the fort, communicated his design to a party of Scottish sol-
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diers, whom be stationed in ambush near the gate, In his large
wain he contrived to conceal eight armed men, covered with a
load of hay. A servant drove the oxen, and Binny himself walked
carelessly at his side. When the portcullis was raised, and the
wain stood in the middle of the gateway, interposing a complete
barrier to its descent, the driver cut the ropes which harnessed
the oxen ; upon which signal, the armed men suddenly leapt from
the cart, the soldiers in ambush rushed in, and so complete was
the surprise, that, with little resistance, the garrison were put to
the sword, and the place taken.” Bruce, who, it is said, was privy
to the design, rewarded the brave peasant with a grant of lands;
and his descendants long survived, bearing in their coat-of-arms a
hay-wain, with the motto,  virtute doloque.”

Linlithgow is memorable as the place where the remarkable
apparition warned James 1V. against his expedition into England,
which terminated in the fatal field of Flodden. An aisle in the
church, where the King was, as Pitscottie says, ¢ verrie sad and
dollorous, makand his prayers to God to send him guid success in
his voyage,” is shown as the place where the scene occurred.
The probability is, that it was a device of the Queen, then in
the ueighbouring palace, abetted by some of the nobles, in or-
der to dissuade James from an undertaking to which she and
many of the nobility were averse. The unfortunate issue of the
war corresponding with the warning given, would, in that super-
stitious age, lead men to regard the agent in this device as a mes-
senger from heaven.

In the year 1526, the battle of Linlithgow Bridge was fought
between the faction of the Earl of Angus, who had the possession
of the person of James V., then a minor, and the party which
sought to deliver the Prince from the influence of the Douglases.
The conflict began on the haugh of Manuel, but the main con-
flict was close by the village of Linlitbgow Bridge, which has given
its name to the engagement. The Earl of Lennox, the chief of
the party opposed to Angus, was, after being promised quarter,
slain by Sir James Hamilton. The place of his interment was
long known as Lennox’s Cairn.

The Regent Murray was shot in the street of Linlithgow by
Hamilton of Bothwellhaugh. The house from which the assassin
took aim is still shown, though, from the removal of the old front,
which projected considerably further out on the street than the
present, it must now present a very different appearance. Situ-
ated in the most narrow part of the town, where the street is not
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many feet wide, it presented a most favourable position for the
execution of the murder, as the Regent, on horseback, was com-
pelled to advance slowly, owing to the multitude by which he was
surrounded. Hamilton, it is said, had the walls of the room hung
with black cloth, to prevent his shadow being seen; and the tra-
dition of the town is, that the neighbouring lane leading to the
back of the town, where his horse was stationed, was choked with
bushes and other substances, to retard pursuit.

At the rejoicings, in 1662, in celebration of the restoration of
Charles 1L, Linlithgow obtained an unenviable notoriety in Scot-
tish history, by the burning of the Solemn I.eague and Covenant.
This act was not, however, authorized by the inhabitants, but ap-
pears to have been the deed of the chief actors in it, Mr Ramsay
the minister, and Mr R. Mylne, then dean of guild ; both of whom
had signed the document which, with every circumstance of igno-
my, they then consigned to the flames. In the records of the
council there is no minute bearing upon the incident. There is a
minute of a previous date enjoining the celebration of the restora-
tion in 1660, which, though not bearing upon this incident, may
be quoted as a specimen of the manner in which our fathers were
wont to keep their holidays.

¢ 18th July 1660.—In respect that the morrow is appointed
ane soleme day of thanksgivin to the Lord ffor the King’s Majes-
tie his saife returne, without debait or bluid, to sitt upon his fa-
ther's throne in England, in a peaceable and laudable way, upon
the unanimous call of his guid subjects thair, By the imediate
band of God, contrair to all men’s expectatioun, to the terrour and
astonishment of his enemies, and for the solemnizatioun thairof,
thair is a sermon to be in the morning, and after sermon the
marches, in a ordourlie and congratulatory way arr to be ryddin,
and having closed the marches ryde, the council and others arr to
meitt together at denner; and they appoint and ordein bonfeires
to be got, one by the haill inhabitants, at ffour clock efternuin,
at the ringing of the belles and intimation of the drume, and efier .
denner the haill counsell and honest men are to go throu the
toune to see the bonfeires, and who refuseth to get one, and to
sing a song of praise to the Lord at the cross.”

Various meetings of the Scottish Parliament were held in Lin-
lithgow. The last of them was in 1646, when Edinburgh was infect-
ed with the plague. A curious minute of the town-council, relating
to the sitting of this Parliament, may be given as illustrative of the
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‘state of society at the time. ¢ The counsall, upon the coming
of the Comitie of Estattes to sitt within this borough, fering that
sundrie of the inhabitants takend advantage of the thrang that
will be by thaime, will extort the leadges resorting heirto for thair
chambers and bedes; thairfor they have sett doune thir pryses
following, ordeining the samen to be observit by the haill inhabi-
tants, and no contraveint, viz. the pryse of the noblemen’s chamber,
cole, and candle, with twa bedes for 24 pound 20 shillings ; and
of the gentlemen and commissioners of burrowes, the pryse 13s.
4; and the pryse of the rest of the leadges resorting to the said
burrow for cole, candle, and the bede, 24 pounds 6 shillings 8;
and the groomes and footmen are to pay for their bede 3 shillings.”
In the last Statistical Account, mention is made of a singular in-
stance of revenge which occurred in the early part of last century.

Eminent Characters.—Linlithgow is famed as the birth-place of
the beautiful, but unfortunate Mary Queen of Scots.

Several of the rectors of the burgh school have been men of emi-
nence. Among these maybe mentioned Ninian Winzet, the rector at
the time of the Reformation, and who is distinguished as the defen-
der of the falling Church of Rome, in several encounters with John
Knox. Kirkwood is a better known individual, as the author of
the Latin Grammar, which was used in Scotland till superseded
by that of Ruddiman. He also made himself famous in his day
by his long controversy with the council, and his satire upon that
body entitled ¢ The Twenty-seven Gods of Linlithgow.” The ce-
lebrated John Earl of Stair is said to have been educated by Kirk-
wood, and to have boarded in his house. In later times, the resi-
dence of the Lord President Blair was in the parish, who built the
House of Avonton, near to Linlithgow.

Land-owrers.— The principal proprietors of land are Mr Stew-
art of Physgill ; the Earls of Rosebery, Hopetoun, and Selkirk ;
Mr Seton of Preston ; and the Duke of Hamilton.

Parochial Registers,—The earliest date of parochial registers
is February 1613, and the volumes are regularly kept.

Antiguities.—Of the Roman period, few remains exist in the
parish. A Roman road runs along the summit of the height on
the north side of the lake, terminating, at its western extremity,
in the parish of Bo’ness, at an old military station on the line of
the great wall. The road appears to have formed part of the com-
munications connected with that remarkable rampart. Near to
the road, an urn containing ashes, was dug up a few years back.
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Inthelast Statistical Account, it is said, that, at the bottom of the
Hill of Cocklerue, vestiges of a military station may be traced ;
and ¢ that, on an eminence in the south-east of the parish, above
Ochiltree Mill, traces still more distinct of a camp are to be
seen.”” Some years before that Account was written, above 800
Roman coins were found in the Boroughmuir.*

“ The Carmelites, or White Friars, had a convent at Linlithgaw,
which stood on the south side-of the town. The eminence bears
still the name of the Friars Brae, and the adjoining well bears a
similar designation. The application of their revenues cannot
aow be traced. This establishment, in point of antiquity, was the
third of the kiad in Scotland. It was founded in 1290 by the in-
habitants of Linlithgow, and consecrated to the Virgin Mary.

¢ There is said also to have been a monastery of Dominicans or
Black Friars, here. -Some remains of a religious house, probably
this, may still be discerned in the east part of the town. There
was also a chapel, sacred to St Ninian, at the West Port, though
80 traces of it now remain. There was another erection of a si~
milar kind at East Binny, in the extremity of the parish; but no
satisfactory account of it can now be bad.

¢ St Magdalene’s, on the east of the town, was an hospitium, or
place of entertainment for strangers. It bad eriginally belonged
to a set of Lazarites; but, on their extinction or secularization,.
it was applied to this purpose, according to the beneficial institution
of James I. The eminence, at the bottom of which this hospital
stood was designed Pilgrim-hill.” The Union Canal now passes
over it )

There are two eminences on the west of the town, on one of
which, Courts of justice are said to have been held in ancient times.
The plain below had, probably from this circumstance, the name
of Doomsdale given, which it still retains. ‘

To the west of the town, near the bridge, is a field which was

* They had been deposited in an earthen urn, which the plough broke, and were
picked up in lumps, by some persons who followed it to gather stones. The town,
as superior, claimed the treasure. The pieces were not above the sise of a sixpence,
all silver, and having different dates andimpressions. They were probably the collee-
tion of some virtuoso, and, being involved in rust, would furnish a sweet morsel to
antiqusries. Some ocoins were also found lately in an old house of the town, when
the workmen were digging for sand, about 500 in number,— of which 20 were gold,
the rest silver, Manof them had impressions of the difforent James%, and some
of Henry IV. of England. Somwe of the gold coins were about the size of a guinea,
others the half. These had their lustre unimpaired, but the silver pieces were over-
grown with rust.
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anciently used for military exercises and amusements. It has still
the name of Joisting-haugh.

A stone tablet, of elegant sculpture, was, a good many years
ago, found in digging a grave within the church. One compart-
ment exhibits our Savour praying, while the three select disciples
are fast asleep. The other represents him saluted by Judas, and
seized by the guard. He is at the same time healing the eur of
Malchus, while Peter is putting his sword in the sheath. Though
the stone be broken, the figures are not gasentially injured.

The Palace is the most interesting relic of former days, in the
parish. It is supposed that the site now occupied by the magni-
ficent ruins of this abode of ancient royalty, was the site of a Ro-
man station. Some have imagined that Linlithgow is the Roman
Lindum. Be this as it may: it was very early selected by the
Scottish princes, as one of their residences. - It is supposed that
there was a royal mansion at Linlithgow, as early as the reign of
David I.,—who occasionally resorted here to enjoy the pleasure of
the chase, and to consume the local royal revenues ¢ payable in
oxen, sheep, grain, and other descriptions of produce.” The pre-
sent structure is of much more recent date. In 1424, the Palace
was consumed by fire, and the oldest poftion of the existing edi-
fice is referred, by competent authorities, to the time of the first
James. It received considerable additions during the reigns of
James 1V. and his successor ; and the most modern part of it was
built by James VL on his visit to Scotland in 1617. It was the
frequent residence of many of these princes, and was repeatedly,
with its lake and park, assigned as a jointure